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LEVESON INQUIRY: CULTURE, PRACTICE & ETHICS OF
THE PRESS

MODULE 2 - THE PRESS AND THE POLICE

SUBMISSIONS ON BEHALF OF THE 
CORE PARTICIPANT VICTIMS

These submissions are made on behaif of the Core 

Participant Victims (“CPVs”) in Moduie 2 of the inquiry.

In t r o d u c t io n

1. In a dem ocratic society the public are entitled to the fullest possible information about the 

activities of the various ag e n cie s of the criminal justice system  including the police. The 

Police S ervice relies on the m edia to help engage public trust, and so encourage 

confidence and cooperation. T he m edia needs a c c e s s  to information so a s  to be able to 

shine a light on s u c c e s s e s  and failures in policing in general and to exp ose wrongdoing 

by individuals. T he relationship between them should be based on mutual trust and 

should be as open and transparent as possible. If this relationship is tainted by actual or 

apparent impropriety then the entire crim inal justice system  is dam aged.

2. In this relationship, perception is as important a s  reality. A perception of a corrupt or 

inappropriate relationship between police and p re ss can have far reaching 

co n se q u e n ce s: a loss of public confidence in the police and a belief that the p ress have 

impunity leads to w orsening behaviour. A perception that the senior officers are too clo se 

to individuals in the p re ss m akes it more difficult for their subordinates rigorously to 

pursue investigations into m edia wrongdoing. All this has obvious adverse 

co n seq u en ce s.

3. Police failures in the context of crim es committed by journalists are also important when a 

new regulatory regim e is being considered. Behind any regulatory regim e must lie the 

ultimate sanction of criminal prosecution for wrongdoing. If the police are seen to turn a
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blind eye or to dow nplay the sca le  of wrongdoing by the media, it is inevitable that the 

p re ss will develop a s e n s e  of impunity. That will m ake the job of a regulator very much 

more difficult.

4. T he evidence to the Inquiry has dem onstrated serio u s problem s in the culture, practices 

and ethics of both parties to the relationship. Som e parts of the Police Service, the 

Metropolitan Police S ervice  (‘M P S ’) in particular, becam e e xce ssive ly  sensitive to 

reputational dam age and so pandered to the dem ands of new spapers. A num ber of 

senior M PS  officers becam e too clo se  to reporters, did not fully investigate or disclo se 

evidence of p re ss wrongdoing, and so failed those who they should have protected -  the 

victims.

5. T he most telling exam ple is the w ay in which very clo se  relationships between senior 

officers in the M PS and News of the W orld journalists and editors appeared to 

com prom ise the investigation into phone hacking in 2006 when the M PS did not pursue 

evidence of the com plicity of num erous journalists in the unlawful interception of 

voicem ails. T here is convincing evidence that in 2009 and 2010 those relationships 

actually affected the police respo n se to co n cerns raised by the G uardian and the victims. 

T his allowed News International to rely on police a ssu ra n c e s in support of their decision 

not to investigate phone hacking any further. Even in 2012, Ja m e s Murdoch still sought 

to justify the com pany’s failure to act by repeated references to the fact that the police 

had investigated, closed their c a s e  and asserted there w as no new evidenced

6. T he H ouse of C om m ons Culture M edia and Sport Com m ittee (“D C M S ”) opened its third 

report of M ay 2012 by recording how “the unwillingness of police and prosecutors to 
investigate further’̂  had m ade it im possible for the Com m ittee to conclude in its S econd 

Report^ that the “rogue reporter” line it had been fed in 2009 w as m isleading.

7. T he M PS failure to warn victim s between 2006 and 2011 assisted News International in 

its admitted cover-up of serio u s crim inal offences and has reinforced the im pression that 

relationships with News International w ere more important to the M PS than its duties to

For example see transcript of J. Murdoch’s evidence on 24/04/12 (DAY63/am/50/5-13):
A.I asked the question: "Is this true? What's going on?" And the answer came back. Q. And 
the answer was? A. That it wasn't true, that there was no other evidence, that there -  you 
know, this is a -  you know, this has been investigated to death and this is, you know, a smear. 
And I think you saw the statement made by both the company at the time, as well as by the 
police at that time.
Culture, Media and Sport Committee - Eleventh Report “News International and Phone­
hacking” 2
CMS Select Committee of Session 2009-2010 ‘Press Standards, Privacy and Libel’
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victim s and to the public.

8. T he Inquiry has also heard evidence from the police and the p ress of num erous 

exam ples of good practices and the w ay in which the relationship between them can, and 

regularly does, work in the public interest, particularly outside London. T he majority of 

journalists and police officers cooperate in a transparent w ay and act with integrity. 

However, the im proper and som etim es unlawful behaviour of a  sector of the national 

p re ss and som e senior M RS officers has had a disproportionate impact, both on victims 

and on the wider public perception of a  generally corrupt and unhealthy relationship 

between the p re ss and the police. T h e se  subm issio n s will focus on the problem atic and 

unethical aspects of the relationship, the negative co n se q u e n ce s for both policing and the 

m edia and the ad ve rse impact on victims. T he internal system s operated by the police 

w ere clearly insufficiently robust either to prevent the problem s arising, or to deal with 

them when they did arise. Such system s need urgent revision and amendment.

9. T he su bm issio n s are informed by a picture which em erged from the evidence in M odule 

1, which is of a sector of the p ress which w as undisciplined and willing to u se illegal and 

unethical m eans in pursuit of its com m ercial aim s without regard to the dam age caused. 

M odule 2 revealed naivety and unethical behaviour am ong senior M RS officers. Despite 

the good practices followed by m any within the p re ss and Rolice Service, the im pression 

left by the evidence is that som e officers allowed them selves to becom e indebted to 

powerful m edia organisations, and that the internal police system s w ere incapable of 

dealing properly with the risks this created.

10. T h e se  subm issio n s will start by setting out the C R V s ’ su bm issio n s on the appropriate 

approach to the evidence before moving on to deal with section 1 and outlining the effect 

of the p ress on the police service as a w hole and on individual officers. In that context, 

they will trace the overly clo se relationships between senior police officers and the tabloid 

press. They will deal with the co n se q u e n ce s by w ay of exam ples from the evidence. 

T h e se  included a perception or reality of a  lack of independence in pursing investigations 

into phone hacking and other data intrusions, leaks, inappropriate practices such as 

taking the m edia on operations without proper/any guidelines and revealing details of 

those under arrest. In light of this an alysis of the evidence, the subm issio n s will conclude 

in Section 2 with the C R V s ’ recom m endations for ch an g es to policy, practice and 

regulation.

A p p r o a c h  t o  E v id e n c e
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11. Part 1 of the Inquiry fo cu se s on the adeq uacy of the regulatory regim e against the 

background of any system ic behaviour flowing from the ethos or policies of particular 

m edia organisations which are either encouraged or tolerated by senior m anagem ent or, 

at least, are the co n seq u en ce of failure of oversight or supervision at that level" .̂

12. M odule 2 fo cu se s on the relationship between the p re ss and the police and the behaviour 

of each. A s the Chairm an noted in his Ruling on 7  Novem ber, it is n e ce ssary  for the 

Inquiry to obtain a “n a rra t iv e  o f  e v e n t s  s u f f ic ie n t  to g r o u n d  a  c o n s id e r a t io n  o f  th e  c u r r e n t  

p o i i c y  a n d  r e g u ia t o r y  f r a m e w o r k  a n d  th e  e x t e n t  (if  a t a ii) to w h ic h  it h a s  fa iied , r e m a in s  

e s s e n t ia i  a n d  th e  q u e s t io n  o f  th e  p r o p e r  c o n s t r u c t io n  o f  t h e s e  t e r m s  o f  r e f e r e n c e  it s e if  

fa iis  to b e  a d d r e s s e d ’̂ . In order to construct this narrative, the Inquiry has heard from a 

num ber of senior police officers from the M PS and regional forces, from crim e reporters 

and from supervisory bodies such a s  the IP C C .

13. Having now heard evidence, including that of overly c lo se  relationships and e xce ssive  

hospitality between the p ress and the police, and details of the police investigation into 

phone hacking in 2006 and its resp o n se to the renew ed allegations in 2009, it is 

im perative that the Inquiry sets out a full and detailed narrative of such evidence and 

conducts a proper an alysis of it. W hile the Inquiry needs to avoid prejudicing any ongoing 

crim inal investigations, the an alysis should be sufficiently detailed to avoid two potential 

pitfalls:

(i) Firstly, the Inquiry could be open to the criticism that co n clusio n s about the 

adeq uacy of present methods of regulation and proposals for new 

m echanism s w ere insufficiently evidence-based. That is so particularly if it 

could be suggested that any new regulatory system , how soever devised or 

organised, could impact adversely on freedom  of expression or have a chilling 

effect on the responsible journalism  which is so  critical in our dem ocratic 

society^; and

(ii) Secondly, the inevitable questions that are in the public’s mind about the 

culture, practices and ethics of the p ress in relation to phone hacking and 

about the evidence that the Inquiry has heard need to be answ ered. Public

Ruling on Approach to Evidence, 7 November 2011, 1|11 
Ruling on Approach to Evidence, 7 November 2011, H 4 
Ruling on Approach to Evidence, 7 November 2011, paragraph 34
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anxiety about the behaviour of the p ress led to the setting up of this Inquiry 

and it is essential that such anxiety is properly dealt with by providing the 

public with the full pictured T he C P V s  sh are this anxiety and are the best 

placed C o re Participants in M odule 2 to reflect the public’s position.

14. W hile the C P V s  would not want any steps to be taken which would prejudice a fair trial of 

any of the susp ects, the Report can set out a  detailed narrative of events by using the 

safeguard s identified in the Ruling dated 7  N ovem ber 2011:

(i) T he u se of ciphers in relation to those who have been arrested in relation to 

phone hacking investigation^

(ii) T he personal data of those who are listed in the M ulcaire journal as targets or 

potential targets is not to be included in the Report although nam es already in 

the public dom ain or w here consent has been forthcoming may be. T he nam e 

of any journalist linked with any entry (so called ‘corner n am es’) are also to be 

anonym ised or given a cipher although, again, each coded nam e will be 

placed in a band that identifies their com parative seniority but in such terms 

that do not permit of further identification®.

15. Finally, any criticism s of police officers, the M PS or local forces, new spapers, their 

owners, and individuals, which are justified should be fully and clearly set out in the 

Report. Following the Ruling dated 1 May 2012, bodies corporate or unincorporate who 

operate any p re ss titles, and any individuals, should be sent a notice under R ule 13 of the 

Inquiry R u les warning them and setting out the evidential b a sis  for the criticism which is 

being contem plated'".

The CPVs note that this appears to be the approach that is intended as in the Ruling on 7 
November 2011 it is stated that “The notebook belonging to Mr Mulcaire, which has formed an 
important part of the police investigation, will be summarised so that its true significance and extent 
may be understood.” (H35(iii)).
® H35(ii)

H35(iii)
H6310
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16. Sum m ary of contents in Sections 1 and 2:

S e c t i o n  1 .  P r o b l e m s  in  t h e  r e l a t i o n s h i p  b e t w e e n P a r a g r a p h / s

P o l i c e  a n d  P r e s s

A . E x c e s s iv e  p o lic e  c o n c e r n  w it h  re p u t a t io n  m a n a g e m e n t  

le a d in g  to  o v e r  r e l ia n c e  o n  a  s e c t o r  o f  th e  p r e s s  to  

p r o m o t e  a  p o s it iv e  m e s s a g e  a b o u t  th e  p o lic e :

1 7  - 18

(1) O rganisational reputation m anagem ent 1 9 - 2 3

(2) Individual reputational co ncerns 2 4 - 3 1

B . In a p p r o p r ia t e  r e la t io n s h ip s  b e t w e e n  s e n io r  M P S  o f f ic e r s  

a n d  t a b lo id  e d it o r s  a n d  c r im e  r e p o r t e r s :

3 2 - 3 6

(1) Hospitality 3 7 - 5 2

(2) Other evidence of over-close and inappropriate relationships 5 3 - 6 0

(3) Two-way traffic in personnel between M PS and m edia 

organisations

61 - 6 8

(4) Sum m ary 6 9 - 7 2

C . C o n s e q u e n c e s  o f  t h o s e  in a p p r o p r ia t e ly  c lo s e  

r e la t io n s h ip s :

7 3 - 7 4

(1) Police failures during the phone hacking investigation in 2006. 7 5 - 1 0 8

(2) Police/prosecutorial failures in the phone hacking investigation 

during 2009-2011.

1 0 9 - 1 2 8

(3) Police/prosecutorial failures in M otorm an/Glade/Reproof. 1 2 9 - 1 4 9

D. U n la w f u l/ ln a p p r o p r ia t e  p r o v is io n  o f  in f o r m a t io n 1 5 0 - 1 5 1

(1) Leaks 152 - 170

(2) ‘M edia ride-alongs’- the practice of taking journalists on police 

operations.

171 -  178

(3) Identification of su sp ects and m edia intrusion during criminal 

investigations

1 7 9 - 1 8 8

(4) E vidence of harmful effects on victims 1 8 9 - 1 9 5

S e c t i o n  2 :  R e c o m m e n d a t i o n s P a r a g r a p h / s

T he C P V s  m ake a num ber of specific recom m endations in relation to 

the police and the p ress which have the aim of supporting an open, 

transparent and restrained relationship working in the public interest, 

including:

1 9 7 - 1 9 8
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A. Recommendations re the police

(1) Policies 1 9 9 - 2 1 2

(2) Recom m endations for procedural ch an g es to support 

im plem entations of new policies

2 1 3 - 2 2 4

(3) National register of crim es committed by m edia 225 -  228

(4) Split in the function of the M PS Department of Public Affairs 229 - 230

(5) Cooling off period before em ploym ent a s  journalist/private 

investigator

231 - 2 3 4

(6) New methods of engaging with the public 2 3 5  -  2 3 7

B. Recommendations re the press

(1) Custodial sen tences for breach es s .5 5  Data Protection Act 1998 2 3 8 - 2 4 1

(2) Com plaints under a new regulatory system 242 -  243

(3) Advice to the P re ss on how to report crim e in the new P re ss 

C ode

244

(4) Regulation and licensing of private investigators 245 - 248

A p p e n d ic e s
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S e c tio n  1: P r o b le m s  in th e  R e la t io n s h ip  B e tw e e n  

T he  Po lic e  a n d  T he  P ress

A. Excessive police concern with reputation management

Introduction

17. O ver the past 20 years, the Police S ervice has faced significant criticism in the press; 

som e of it justified such a s  that following publication of the 1999 M acpherson Report 

exposing institutional racism  in the Force; som e less so, such a s intrusive, prurient or 

highly unfair reporting about individual officers without any public interest defences. 

Sir John S tevens (M P S  C om m issioner 2000-2005) introduced a policy of greater 

o p e n n e ss in the Police Service, but it has arguably been exploited by powerful and 

undisciplined sectors of the p re ss who have put the service and officers under 

pressure. A s Elizabeth Filkin, the form er Parliam entary Standards Com m issioner, 

noted in her report of 4 Jan  2012, “it is  fe it b y  m a n y  th a t th e  m e d ia  is  n o w  c a p a b ie  o f  

m a k in g  o r  b r e a k in g  th e  c a r e e r s  o f  s e n io r  p e o p i e  in  th e  M P S ”  ̂ .̂

18. Fearful of this power, senior officers, particularly in the M PS, becam e e xce ssive ly  

deferential to som e sectors of the p ress or e xce ssive ly  defensive about the w ay in 

which policing w as reported. T his anxiety form s the backdrop to the close 

relationships which have appeared to com prom ise police independence.

A (1) Organisational reputation

19. T he Inquiry has heard evidence from several w itn esses about the M PS concern with 

reputation m anagem ent. For exam ple, form er Deputy A ssistant Com m issioner 

(‘D A C ’) Brian Paddick explained that there w as real anxiety at senior level in the 

M PS about its reputation and how

" in  o r d e r  to p r e s e r v e  o r  e n h a n c e  th e ir  r e p u t a t io n  in  th e  e y e s  o f  th e  
p u b iic ,  th e  p o i i c e  h a v e  in c r e a s in g iy  tr ie d  to k e e p  b a d  n e w s  a b o u t  th e  

p o i i c e  o u t  o f  th e  m e d ia  a n d  h a v e  p u t  m o r e  a n d  m o r e  e ffo rt in to  

g e t t in g  p o s it iv e  n e w s  s t o r ie s  a b o u t  th e  p o i i c e  in to  th e  m e d ia ”^̂ .

He described in evidence how s u c c e ssiv e  C om m issioners attempted to conduct

The Ethical Issues Arising From the Relationship Between Police and Media’ Advice to the 
Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis and his Management Board - Elizabeth Filkin report 
January 2012, page 30 f  3.4.1 

W/SH11
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“charm offensives’’̂  ̂ with the media, and explained the risk that this reputational 

anxiety would lead the M RS to cover up behaviour which might be criticised. He 

referred to a report he wrote about the w ay in which rape w as investigated in London, 

the con clusio n s of which w ere critical of the M RS and which w as altered before 

publication by the Department of Rublic Affairs (“D RA”) so a s  to water down the 

c r i t i c i s m s . H e  also explained how he w as briefed against by the M RS, which issued 

a false statem ent accusin g him of lying in his statement to the Independent Rolice 

Com plaints Committee (“IR C C ”) about the time when the C o m m issio ner’s office w as 

m ade aw are of details about the shooting of Je a n  C h arle s de Menezes.^^ The 

statem ent w as withdrawn on threat of libel proceedings, but it dem onstrated how the 

DRA w as prepared to use the p re ss to cover up the truth. Sir Raul Stephenson (M RS 

C om m issioner January 2009-Ju ly  2011) referred to the danger of the organisation 

becom ing o b se sse d  with new spaper headlines.^®

20. Brian R addick’s view  w as endorsed by the view s of the following journalists who gave 

evidence:

(1) Mike Sullivan (C rim e editor of T he Sun) stated that the M RS w ere on the 

back foot a s  a result of the M acpherson Report and there w as a ‘charm  

offensive’ in the years following, in which Lord Condon (M RS C om m issioner 

1993-2000) and Dick Fedorcio (Director of the DRA 19 9 7-20 12 ) visited as many 

new spaper offices as possible as there w as a real concern that Sir Raul (as he 

then w as) might be forced to resign a s  a result of public concern over the 

M acpherson Report’s conclusions^^. Mr Sullivan stated that, had Mr. Raddick’s 

report on rape and the quality of rape investigations been published earlier, it 

might have had an effect on reinforcing re so urces into rape investigations^®. He 

also said that there w as a “marking system ” within the DRA relating to the 

num ber of stories journalists have written that are critical of the M RS and those 

that praise the MRS^®.

(2) John Twomey (Crim e correspondent. Daily E xp re ss) agreed that the m edia 

w ere on a charm  offensive following the M acpherson Report^®.

(3) Sean O’Neill (Crim e editor of T he Tim es) agreed with Mr Raddick about the

13

14

15 

15

17

18

19

20

W/S % 12 
W/S H 19
27/02/12 (DAY41/am/104/10-24) 
5/03/12 (DAY45/am/11) 
15/03/2012 (DAY51/am/38 & 40) 
15/03/2012 (DAY51/am/67) 
15/03/2012 (DAY51/am/55-57) 
19/03/2012 (DAY52/am/19/11)
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M RS stating that he found it “defensive”̂ \ He said that the D PA  did not tell the 

w hole story and w as le ss than frank, particularly when it w as concerned to 

protect the reputation of the M RS. He gave the telling exam ple of the police 

officer who had been convicted of assau lt being released but not the information 

that the officer had head-butted a 14 year old boy^^.

21. Dick Fedorcio w as the only M PS  w itness who had been on the M anagem ent Board 

of the M PS since Sir John S tevens w as C om m issioner. He w as plainly a  highly 

influential senior figure in the organisation. His w itness statem ent stressed the 

im portance of reputation m anagem ent and revealed how accom m odating the DPA 

w as to the dem ands of the media, saying; the D PA  “s e e k s  to p r o v id e  th e  m e d ia  w ith  

th e  s e r v ic e  it w a n t s  in  th e  t im e s c a ie  r e q u ir e d ’̂ ]̂ that he tried to be available 7  days a 

w eek to the m edia and had coffee, drinks or lunch with journalists about once a w eek; 

that he networked extensively, including regular m eetings in bars^"  ̂ and the purpose 

of these m eetings w as to im prove understanding of the M PS, its m edia co verage and 

profile. He w as also involved in m any of the o ccasio n s when senior M PS  officers 

w ere entertained by the m edia to exp en sive dinners^^. Elizabeth Filkin described in 

evidence how the DPA acted like a newsroom^®

Management Board disputes

22. T he evidence dem onstrates that som e internal battles w ere being played out in the 

media, in particular, power struggles within the M anagem ent Board and significant 

race equality disputes:

(i) Neil Wallis (former Deputy Editor of the News of the W orld) suggested that 

the M anagem ent Board m em bers w ere briefing against Sir Ian Blair^^.

(ii) Brian Paddick d iscu sse d  the w ay in which senior M anagem ent Board level 

officers briefed against one another, exploiting their relationships with the 

journalists^®.

(iii) Stephen Wright (Crim e correspondent. T he Mail on Sunday) w as not willing 

to identify who on the M anagem ent Board w as leaking information to him but

21
22
23

24

25

26

27

28

W/S H3
21/03/2012 (DAY54/am/25) 
W/S H 20 
W/S II 49-53 
W/S H 68
05/03/2012 (DAY45/pm/120) 
02/04/2012 (DAY59/am/98/4-5) 
27/02/2012 (DAY41/am/95-96)

10
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clearly implied that this w as happening when he said that he w as “fu lly  a w a r e  

o f  th e  c a m p s  w ith in  th e  M a n a g e m e n t  B o a r d  a n d  [ h e ]  h a d  In fo rm a tio n ”^̂ .

23. W hile it is legitimate for the police to take steps to promote its s u c c e s s e s  in order to 

boost morale and en su re public confidence, they should not be actively involved in 

taking steps to su p p re ss public criticism. T he promotion of police s u c c e s s  should be 

carried out in a transparent and proper m anner. After the ch ang e in culture promoted 

by Sir John Stevens, the pendulum  swung too far in the direction of “helpfulness”. 

S enior M RS officers began to use the m edia to promote their own personal agendas 

and to advance their own positions in relation to internal disputes. T he m edia should 

plainly not be used for these purposes.

A (2) Individual reputational concerns

24. T he Inquiry can draw on the illuminating evidence of and about Lord Blair (M RS 

C om m issioner 2005-2008) as an exam ple of the pow er of the m edia to injure those 

who do not play the “m edia gam e” in the w ay in which the m edia require. Lord Blair 

described the impact of a failed relationship with the m edia and negative publicity on 

his career. T he annex to his statem ent d e scrib e s his treatment at the hands of the 

p re ss (also detailed in his autobiography, Rolicing Controversy)^”.

25. Dick Fedorcio also described the impact of m edia co verage on Lord Blair. His 

evidence to the Inquiry w as that:

“L o r d  B lair, I  think, h a d  a  m o r e  d ifficu lt p e r io d  In  th a t s e c t io n s  o f  th e  

m e d ia  c e r t a in ly  d id n 't  ta k e  to h im , a n d  h e  f a c e d  a  c h a lle n g e  d u r in g  h is  

p e r io d  o f  o ffice, w h ich , o n  a  n u m b e r  o f  o c c a s io n s ,  l e d  to n e g a t iv e  

s t o r ie s  a b o u t  h im , s o  I th in k  th at h e  w a s  p r o b a b l y  a  little m o r e  

r e s e r v e d  a r o u n d  d e a lin g  w ith th e  m e d la ^ \

26. Neil Wallis said that Lord Blair’s failure to establish good relationships with senior 

editorial figures in the p re ss w as partly responsible for the negative p re ss he 

received.”  ̂ Mr W allis said he tried to help Lord Blair with public relations advice, but 

Lord Blair had limited interest in following up. He said that Lord Blair did not sit 

down with Colin Myler or Andy C oulson (editors of the News of the W orld) or Raul

29

30

31

32

15/03/2012 (DAY51/pm/29/7) and see also the evidence of Sir Paul Stephenson on 
05/03/2012 (DAY45/am/11)
Also see 07/03/12 (DAY47/am/7-12) where he was critical of Lord Stevens’ overly media­
centric approach in an attempt to mend New Scotland Yard’s “battered reputation”. 
13/03/2012 (DAY49/am/49)
02/04/2012 (DAY59/am/94)
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□ a c re  (editor of the Daily Mail) to explain his view s and solicit theirs^^. The obvious 

inference is that those editors, not used to being sidelined by the M RS, took revenge 

and a s  a co n seq u en ce Lord Blair w as plagued by such negative m edia co verage that 

his care er w as com prom ised. T his must have had a significant impact and acted a s  a 

warning on other senior officers in the M RS who might also com e into regular contact 

with the m edia or face its criticism.

27. Lord Condon had sim ilar experiences. He described how Kelvin M acK enzie (editor 

of T he Sun 1981-1994) ran a cam paign in T he Sun which Lord Condon described as 

“g o  a fte r  P a u l  C o n d o n  w e e K ’̂ "̂ . It is noteworthy that this related to Lord Condon 

taking a firm line on unauthorised police leaks to the p re ss -  plainly an approach 

unpopular with T he Sun.

“I r e m e m b e r  in  e a r ly  1 9 9 8  K e lv in  M a c k e n z ie ,  th e  f o r m e r  e d it o r  o f  T h e  
S u n , w ritin g  a r t ic le s  a n d  b r o a d c a s t in g  th at I w a s  a tte m p tin g  to ’g a g  th e  

m e d ia ’ b y  p r e v e n t in g  le a k s  to th e  p r e s s  b y  M P S  p e r s o n n e l ”.^^

28. Lord Blair is to be contrasted with Lord Stevens who courted the m edia and w as 

seen by the p re ss as a like-minded character. He received favourable co verage and 

later w as to work for News International writing a colum n entitled “T he C hief”, largely 

written by Neil W allis, for which he received £ 7,0 0 0  per colum n. Brian Raddick said 

that the title of this colum n w as w idely view ed as a snub to Lord Blair.

29. John Yates, former M RS A ssistant C om m issioner, w as obviously sensitive to m edia 

coverage, having been, in his view, briefed against during the ca sh  for honours 

investigation which he led in 2006^®.

30. Dick Fedorcio w as so keen to maintain a “good” relationship with certain new spapers 

that he w as reluctant to intervene when they threatened the reputation of an officer. 

T he exp eriences of former D AC Bob Quick are a good exam ple of this reluctance. 

Mr Q uick referred to the occasion w here the Mail on S u nd ay published negative 

articles relating to his w ife’s bu sin ess. Details and photographs of his home add ress 

w ere revealed and he and his family felt that their personal security w as at risk. Mr 

Q uick asked Mr Fedorcio and Raul Stephenson to intervene on his behalf but felt they

02/04/2012 (DAY59/am/101)
W/S H 44 and Exhibit PC/1 
See also, 6/03/12 (DAY46/am/42)
“it put me in the pubiic eye in a way that was quite unhetpfut. There were attegations made 

against me about ait sorts of things, i was a Kenneth Starr, t was this, i was that, and t was very much 
in the pubiic eye, and in terms of a counter terrorism iead that's not necessarity a good thing”.
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were unwilling to do so37

31. When asked by the Inquiry about this perceived lack of assistance, Mr. Quick replied

“I h a v e  n o  r e a l  u n d e r s t a n d in g  o f  w h y  t h e y  d id n 't  f e e l  a b le  to a p p r o a c h  

th e  e d it o r  a n d  r e a lly  j u s t  c h a lle n g e  th e ir  m o t iv e s  a n d  th e ir  b e h a v io u r s  

a n d  w h e t h e r  th is  w a s  r e a lly  ju stifiable^^.

Dick Fedorcio’s explanation was that the story was about Mr Quick’s wife rather than 

Mr. Quick himself and that there was therefore no obligation assist him̂ ®. Given the 

circumstances and the fact that the story would not have been of any interest to the 

media but for Mr Quick’s position in the police, this explanation is scarcely credible. It 

is reasonable to assume that, had the intrusion related to some other officer, such as 

Lord Stevens, the response of the DPA would have been different. Moreover, there 

is a clear inference that this publication in the “Mail on Sunday”, together with other 

stories about senior MPS officers, came from a police source"̂ ”.

B Excessively Close Relationships

Introduction

32. The anxiety felt in the police about reputation, together with a shared political agenda, 

led some senior officers, particularly in the MPS, to foster relationships which were so 

close as to create a real potential for conflict of interest. The evidence suggested 

that part of the aim was to keep the media on side. Instead, independence, or at 

least the appearance of independence, was compromised.

33. The Inquiry has heard evidence of lavish hospitality paid for by the tabloid press and 

excessively close and secretive relationships between senior MPS officers and Nl 

reporters. News International and some other tabloid journalists were favoured with 

exclusives and access over other newspapers without the same pro-police agenda. 

This has had a serious negative impact on public confidence in the police.

34. As Robert Jay QC (counsel to the Inquiry) said in the opening to Module 2 

“ U ltim a tely, th e  v ic e  h e r e  is  la c k  o f  d e m o c r a t ic  a c c o u n t a b ilit y  a n d  th e  p e r c e p t io n ,  if

At this point I felt a failure by the MPS to protect me and my family from the activities of the 
Mail on Sunday and that this was unacceptable. Overnight I did not sleep through concern for my 
children and considered that I should move them to a place of safety until my security could be 
reassessed in the light of the article” [W/S 78]

07/03/12 (DAY47/pm/27/4-7)
"" 13/03/2012 (DAY49/am/96)
40 13/03/2012 (DAY49/am/100)
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n o t  th e  reality, o f  p e r s o n a l  g a in . T h e  n o u n  "g a in "  in  th is  c o n t e x t  n e e d s ,  o f  c o u r s e ,  to  

b e  b r o a d ly  in t e r p r e t e d  a n d  s h o u l d  c e r t a in ly  b e  a p t  to a c c o m m o d a t e  th e  e n h a n c e m e n t  

o f  a n  in d iv id u a l's  p r o f e s s io n a l  o r  p e r s o n a l  p ro file .

35. Lord Blair’s view was similar: ‘‘ W h e r e  th a t p r o b le m  m a y  h a v e  b e c o m e  s ig n if ic a n t  is  

th a t a  v e r y  s m a ll  n u m b e r  o f  re la t iv e ly  s e n io r  o f f ic e r s  in c r e a s in g ly  b e c a m e  to o  c l o s e  to 

jo u r n a lis t s ,  n o t  I b e l ie v e  f o r  f in a n c ia l g a in  b u t  fo r  th e  e n h a n c e m e n t  o f  th e ir  r e p u t a t io n  

a n d  fo r  th e  s h e e r  e n jo y m e n t  o f  b e in g  in  a  p o s it io n  to s h a r e  a n d  d iv u lg e  

co n fid e n ce s."'^ ^

36. The evidence of the nature of relationships and the hospitality provided by the press 

to the police, the MRS in particular, has been shocking and in clear breach of the 

spirit if not the letter of the Nolan principles. The Inquiry has also heard evidence of 

relationships whose effect on the proper administration of criminal investigations has 

been of great concern and has had very serious consequences.

B (1) Hospitality

37. The report prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary ‘‘ W ith o u t F e a r  o r  

F a v o u r  A  r e v ie w  o f  p o l ic e  r e la t io n s h ip s ” (“HMIC report”) found a wide inconsistency in 

policies and guidance on hospitality and failures to police or follow up the registers in 

most forces. It also found that in the absence of proper clear guidance, junior officers 

looked to more senior officers for guidance.

38. The Inquiry has heard how some senior officers accepted on a regular basis very 

expensive meals and alcohol from media representatives, (notably News International 

or individual reporters in the exclusive Crime Reporters Association), and became 

close personal friends with them. This gave the impression to the public and to the 

officers’ subordinates that they were no longer independent and were in the pockets 

of the media. As DAC Mark Simmons told Elizabeth Filkin, more junior officers felt 

that ‘‘ T h e  b o s s e s  a r e  fillin g  th e ir  b o o t s ”.'*'*

39. Mr Fedorcio confirmed that he considered it desirable that police officers engage

41
42
43
44

27/02/2012 (DAY41/am/14/7-12)
W/S H 49
HMIC report pp 12, 40 and 41 
05/03/2012 (DAY45/am/106/16-17)
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with journalist over a meal or alcoholic drink"̂ .̂ Although he accepted that alcohol 

could loosen tongues, he maintained that in 13 or 14 years of accompanying officers 

to frequent dinners and lunches where alcohol was drunk, he had no experience of 

such a thing. That is simply not credible.

40. He also claimed that there was no one media organisation that was given preferential 

treatment. However, that claim was not borne out by the evidence of the actual 

meetings'^®. Nor was there even-handedness generally as between tabloid and 

broadsheet news media. As he accepted, the tabloids were more interested in 

policing, as they were likely to obtain the sort of sensational stories they needed from 

the criminal justice system"̂ .̂ Elizabeth Filkin gave evidence that exclusive stories 

were traded with the media to stop reporting about officers’ private lives, and that she 

was told that the style of leadership in the DPA was not impartial and that the DPA 

gave particular access to certain newspapers."^®

41. The socialising between the MPS and the media continued even while the first 

investigation into phone hacking was taking place during 2006. Dick Fedorcio met 

Andy Coulson (then editor of The News of the World) and Neil Wallis (then deputy 

editor of The News of the World) with former AC Andy Hayman (who had overall 

command of the investigation) at a crucial time in the investigation in April 2006 (see 

below at paragraph 48) and he met Rebecca Moley, (News of the World Crime 

reporter) on 23 August 2006, two weeks after the arrests of Goodman and Mulcaire. 

Mr Fedorcio then met Andy Coulson, with the Commissioner, Lord Blair, on 19 

September 2006 which was around the time or just before the decision was made not 

to widen the scope of the investigation by looking at all the evidence and considering 

the involvement of other journalists. The potential for conflict is obvious and the public 

are right to be concerned by the possibility of inappropriate influence being exercised 

over police investigations and decision-making.

42. John Yates (MPS Assistant Commissioner 2006-2011) described how a close 

personal friendship developed between him and Neil Wallis and how he met Mr 

Wallis regularly for dinners at very expensive restaurants, almost always paid for by 

others"̂ ®. He vehemently denied that policing matters were ever discussed during

45
45

47

48

49

13/03/2012 (DAY49/am/60-61)
See, for example, his hospitality register at MOD200006282 
13/03/2012 (DAY49/am/53)
05/04/2012 (DAY45/pm/138)
01/03/2012 (DAY44/pm/17-18)
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those evenings (although he then accepted that policing was in fact discussed “in  th e  

m a r g in s ”^°). Mr Yates also described dinners, with alcohol, at very expensive 

restaurants with others from the News of the World over the same period, in particular 

Colin Myler (editor of the News of the world 2007-2011) and Lucy Panton. His 

defence of these meetings and his friendship with Mr Wallis demonstrated that he 

failed to understand the impact on the public and his subordinates of this close 

relationship, the value to The News of the World of fostering and maintaining 

friendships with senior police officers, and the insights he would inadvertently have 

given. The impression was given that, whether he knew it or not, he had been 

bought.

43. These meetings continued throughout the period July 2009-January 2011 when The 

Guardian, some other journalists (notably the New York Times and the Independent) 

the public and the victims first began to realise the possible scope of the scandal and 

were pressing for further investigations. Eventually Mr Yates was asked to stop hob­

nobbing with journalists by Tim Godwin (MPS Deputy Commissioner), but he plainly 

thought this advice was inappropriate -  in Mr Yates’ view there was no investigation 

and no evidence of wrongdoing until January 2011 and so he was free to continue to 

accept lavish hospitality^^

44. Although Mr Yates claimed that the relationship with Mr Wallis was a simple 

friendship, it was clear that it was not transparent. According to Dick Fedorcio, Mr 

Yates did not tell him that he met Mr Wallis frequently with other friends. Mr Fedorcio 

said that, had he done so, he would have solicited views about Mr Wallis from 

someone else and not Mr Yates when he was considering employing Mr Wallis to 

provide public relations advice to the MPS. He also said that he might not have 

appointed Mr Wallis at alP .̂ Sara Cheesley (senior information officer at the MPS) 

gave evidence that Mr Yates told her that Mr Wallis was not a close friend^  ̂ and, 

strangely, she was not aware that Mr Wallis had been employed by the DPA. She 

was not prepared to say clearly whether or not hospitality of the sort described by Mr 

Yates and Mr Hayman was a necessary part of the job.

45. Mr Yates also made it clear that casual meetings with journalists where both parties 

were buying drinks were not recorded on the hospitality register, so that the

50
51
52
53

01/03/2012 (DAY44/pm/19) 
01/03/2012 (DAY44/pm/13) 
13/03/2012 (DAY49/pm/34-36) 
13/03/2012 (DAY49/am/20)
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numerous meetings he did register were plainly not the whole story of his friendships 

and close working relationships with journalists "̂ .̂

46. Mr Yates’ denial that his relationships led to a perception of independence being 

compromised was not credible. He tried to pass off as a joke an email between two 

News of the World journalists, James Mellor and Lucy Panton which said: "T h in k  

J o h n  Y a t e s  c o u ld  b e  c r u c ia l  h e re .  H a v e  y o u  s p o k e n  to h im ?  R e a lly  n e e d  a n  

e x c lu s iv e  s p la s h  lin e  s o  t im e  to c a ll in  a ll t h o s e  b o t t le s  o f  c h a m p a g n e  That 

demonstrates at best acute insensitivity to the appearance of impropriety created by 

his relationship with the News of the World.

47. Andy Hayman started his evidence dismissing Lord Blair’s view that he had become 

carried away by the power and prestige of his job and spent too much time at dinner 

with the press and briefed carelessly^®. However, as his evidence proceeded, it was 

clear that he had indeed accepted expensive and frequent hospitality from the press, 

that he did not share his time equally among members of the press and that he 

exercised very poor judgment.

48. One example can be found in the evidence about a dinner at the News of the World’s 

expense on 25 April 2006 at Soho House attended by Mr Hayman, Mr Fedorcio, Mr 

Coulson and Mr Wallis.®  ̂ This was at a crucial time in the phone hacking 

investigation, just after DSupt Philip Williams (Senior Investigating Officer in the 2006 

phone hacking investigation) reported to Peter Clarke (former DAC in the anti-terror 

command) that the ‘‘p r a c t ic e  c o u ld  b e  q u it e  w id e s p r e a d  a m o n g s t  t h o s e  w h o  m ig h t  b e  

in t e r e s t e d ’̂ .̂ Mr Williams sought and had been given additional resources on 18 

April 2006. On 20 April 2006 he sought advice from the CPS about searches at the 

News of the World; that advice was provided on 25 April 2006 (the day of the dinner) 

and the decision made to proceed with the investigation was made the next day, 26 

April 2006.®® Mr Hayman had overall command of SOI 3 and gave evidence that he 

was briefed by Mr Clarke regularly and was aware of Operation Caryatid.®® Being 

entertained by senior representatives of an organisation which was becoming the

01/03/2012 (DAY44/pm/10)
®® 01/03/2012 (DAY44/pm/37)
®® 01/03/2012 (DAY44/pm/144)

01/03/2012 (DAY44/pm/118)
®® W/S II 20

Inquiry Document #MOD20002991 decision log 21
®° Although he said he would not be involved in the detail of Operation Caryatid, he said “It was 
very regular for m e to understand  the gen era l sco p e  o f it, to try and  crea te  that environm ent and  g ive  
re so u rce s  and  em pow er peo p ie , 01/03/2012 (DAY44/pm/133/11)
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focus of a criminal investigation was, at best, extremely unwise. The possibility of an 

inappropriate conversation cannot be excluded, particularly if the meal involved 

alcohol and the police officers considered that they were amongst “friends”.

49. Mr Hayman had a 2-hour early evening meeting with Neil Wallis on 26 October 2006, 

just after the decision had been made to prosecute Goodman and Mulcaire alone and 

not to further examine the material which was seized from Mr Mulcaire and which 

contained evidence of wrongdoing by other journalists.

50. Mr Hayman was taken through some of the entries in his hospitality register which 

recorded his being entertained very frequently, particularly by The News of the World, 

and at some expense. It also recorded his own purchase of a bottle of champagne 

for a News of the World journalist, probably Lucy Panton, at a cost of £47. The 

frequency and nature of these meetings was very surprising, but what was more 

surprising was Mr Hayman’s insistence that all these meetings were of value to the 

MPS and the only thing discussed at any of them was the newspaper’s support for 

the anti-terror campaign.®  ̂ This is simply not a credible position.

51. The evidence in relation to hospitality was confirmed by journalist witnesses. Lucy 

Panton admitted in evidence that she invited Mr Yates to her wedding, along with 

other police officers “of varying rank”. She maintained that these people were merely 

“work friends” with whom she did not ordinarily socialise outside of a work setting, 

although her answers on this point could reasonably be viewed as evasive and 

lacking plausibility® .̂ John Twomey, a journalist at the Daily Express and Chair of 

the CRA, said that journalists would choose restaurants directly proportionate to the 

rank of the officer. This was not necessary but it “w a s  th e  tra d itio n ” and what the 

senior police officers “w e r e  u s e d  to”^ .̂ Jeff Edwards (the former chief Crime 

correspondent for The Mirror) said that he “c a n ’t e x c iu d e ” the possibility that younger 

journalists may have sought favours by fostering overly cosy relationships with police 

officers®"̂ . He referred to having to warn younger journalists at the Mirror of the 

dangers of being compromised. He referred to reporters who entered into 

inappropriate relationships with police officers®®.

61
62
63
64
65

01/03/2012 (DAY44/pm/122) 
03/04/2012 (DAY60/am/4-6)
19/03/2012 (DAY52/am/34)
14/03/2012 (DAY50/pm/33/15) 
14/03/2012 (DAY50/pm/35)
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52. Jane Furniss (CEO of the IPCC) said that she did not think that journalists wine and 

dine senior civil servants because they like them but because they want something. 

In her view, perception is critical because public confidence in bodies like the IPCC 

and the police is based on the belief that they are doing their jobs in the public 

interest, with integrity and without any bias®®.

B(2) Other evidence of over-close and inappropriate relationships

53. It was not only a question of hospitality; the Inquiry also heard about favouritism in the

way the MPS entered into relationships with journalists. Following confidential

interviews, Ms Filkin expressed concern about the perception within the MPS that the

DPA was not impartial in its approach to the media, saying

“ T h is  p e r c e p t io n  a p p e a r s  to h a v e  g r o w n  a s  a  r e s u it  o f  a  p a r t ic u ia r  s t y ie  
o f  ie a d e r s h ip .  T h is  s t y ie  ie g it im is e d  in f o rm a i c o n t a c t  ia c k in g  in  

t r a n s p a r e n c y  a n d  a iio w e d  e x c iu s io n a r y  p r a c t ic e s  to d e v e i o p ’̂ .̂

54. An example of giving special favours to particular journalists was the evidence of Dick 

Fedorcio that he allowed Lucy Panton to use his MPS computer to file a story. This 

was plainly inappropriate: it is evidence of a relationship which was very close and 

exclusive; the story itself was a nasty piece of gossip about a former MPS officer and 

it left Mr Fedorcio indebted to Ms Panton as it would be embarrassing if the fact that 

she had used his computer to file copy was revealed. The Inquiry also heard how 

Dick Fedorcio would use Mike Sullivan as a “sounding board” and talk about his 

concerns and that when Lord Blair took over there were difficulties®®.

55. In 2008, when she was editor of The Sun, Rebekah Wade decided she wanted to 

adopt a retired police horse and approached Dick Fedorcio. They had lunch with the 

Commissioner on the same day as the arrangement was finalised. That is not the 

sort of access that a member of the public would have been given.

56. The Inquiry also heard evidence from Neil Wallis about his extremely close 

relationship with senior MPS officers. This was not only social -  he also helped John 

Stevens with his application to be Commissioner and provided frequent unpaid PR

®® 28/03/2012 (DAY57/am/31-32)
The Ethical Issues Arising From the Relationship Between Police and Media’ Advice to the 

Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis and his Management Board - Elizabeth Filkin report 
January 2012, page 46

15/03/2012 (DAY51/am/41-42)68

19

MOD200021356



F or D is tr ib u tio n  to  CPs

advice to the MRS and to senior officers. He gave examples®® of advising the police

to publish photographs in relation to the Canary Wharf bombing earlier than planned,

and to obtain footage from inside tube tunnels after the 7/7 bombings. He claimed

this would get the police a bigger splash. He also offered unpaid help with the

Commissioner’s speeches. As the Chairman noted:

“th e  u p s h o t  o f  y o u r  e v id e n c e ,  a s  y o u ’v e  g o n e  th r o u g h  th e  v a r io u s  
p i e c e s  o f  a s s is t a n c e  th at y o u  g a v e  to th e  p o iic e ,  w a s  th a t s e n io r  

o f f ic e r s  o f  th e  p o i i c e  a n d  th e  D P  A , th e  d ir e c t o r  o f  p u b i ic  a ffa irs, w e r e  

n o t  v e r y  g o o d  a t P R  a n d  d o u b t ie s s  fo r  o u r  o w n  p r o f e s s io n a i  r e a s o n s ,  
y o u  f iiie d  th e  g a p ”̂ °.

He also provided work experience to various MRS progeny (see below at paragraph 

67).

57. This diligent help and the expensive dinners were not without benefit for his 

newspaper. It put The News of the World at the heart of the MRS. The Inquiry heard 

how Neil Wallis was able to persuade police to give News International the exclusive 

footage of what effect the shoe bomb would have had if it had exploded in 2001 He 

also described how he would use his relationships with the Rolice to assist when his 

newspaper was running undercover operations. Mr Wallis described a sting 

operation in which the News of the World was setting up someone who they believed 

to be a paedophile and asked for Dick Fedorcio’s assistance - which he provided. 

His newspaper was able to benefit from exclusive serialisation of John Stevens’ 

autobiography^®.

58. Mr Wallis admitted the benefit of the hospitality and close relationships in this 

important exchange:

“if  y o u  w e r e  to s t a n d  b a c k  fro m  a ii  o f  th is  a n d  y o u  w e r e  to ta k e  in to  

a c c o u n t  th e  h o sp ita iity , a ii  th e  p h o n e  c a iis  w ith d iffe re n t  

C o m m is s io n e r s  a n d  A s s is t a n t  C o m m is s io n e r s ,  w ritin g  o f  t h e s e  

a rt ic ie s , w o u id  y o u  a g r e e  th a t it m ig h t  b e  s a id  to b e  p a r t  o f  a n  o v e r ­
a r c h in g  s t r a t e g y  to p ia c e  th e  N e w s  o f  th e  W o r id  in  a  s p e c ia i  p o s it io n  

w ith th e  M e tro p o iita n  P o i ic e  S e r v i c e ?

A . I  t h in k  it  i s  a n  e x a m p i e  o f  h o w  j o u r n a i i s m  w o r k e d  w e i i  to  o u r  
m u t u a i  b e n e f i t . ” '̂*

73

02/04/2012 (DAY59/pm/14)
02/04/2012 (DAY59/am/18/17-22)
02/04/2012 (DAY59/pm/7-9)
02/04/2012 (DAY59/pm/15-16)
"We at the N ew s o f the World b ecam e aware that S ir  Jo h n  S te ve n s  w as writing his 

autobiography." H ow  d id  you  becom e so  a w a re? A. Because I d iscussed it  with him. Q. Y e s , he  
told you , didn't he. A. I d iscussed it  with him. Q. D id he tell you  o r n o t?  A. We discussed it. Q. O nce  
he d is c u s se d  it -  L O R D  J U S T IC E  L E V E S O N : Well, we're dancing now. You would hardly find out 
u n less he told y o u ." 02/04/2012 (DAY59/am/32/11 -21)

02/04/2012 (DAY59/am/35/6-14)
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59. The guidance to the MRS Management Board on relations with the media states that 

members of the Board should “a v o id  b e in g  to o  a c c e s s ib ie  to jo u r n a iis t s  in  a  w a y  that  

c o u id  c o m p r o m is e  th e ir  p o s it io n  o r  ie a d  to a c c u s a t io n s  o f  f a v o u r in g  a n y  p a r t ic u ia r  

m e d ia  o u tie t  o r  p r o v id in g  u n a u t h o r is e d  in fo rm a tio n  to t h e m .”̂  ̂Where Mr Yates, Mr 

Hayman and Mr Fedorcio were concerned, this guidance was totally ignored, even 

though it appeared to have been drafted by Mr Fedorcio in response to concerns 

about the Management Board’s relationships with the media^®.

60. Those who did not accept lavish hospitality were also those who were more even­

handed about the media outlets to whom they spoke (e.g. Peter Clarke who stressed 

that the purpose of speaking to the media was not to make the police look good^ )̂.

Bf3) Traffic in personnel

61. The evidence reveals a culture of ‘favours’ in terms of employment with News 

International for ex MRS officers and the provision of work experience for relatives of 

MRS officers or News International employees. This culture reinforces the perception 

(or reality) of a special relationship between the MRS and News International and 

therefore the belief that a conflict of interest existed when it came to investigations of 

News International.

62. When Sir John Stevens left the MRS he was employed to write a News of the World 

column, “The Chief”, for which he was paid £7,000 per column although it was mostly 

written by Neil Wallis, as set out at paragraph 28 above.

63. When Andy Hayman left the police in 2007 he was immediately employed by the

News of the World to write a column about policing -  in which, following the Guardian

article of 14 July 2009 which claimed hacking was widespread, he notoriously, and

misleadingly, defended the original hacking investigation. In writing that article he

used his privileged position in the MRS and his relationship with News International to

seek to reassure the public that the Guardian article was wrong. His evidence to the

Inquiry about this article was confused and lacking in credibility:

“Q. H a d  th e r e  b e e n  e v id e n c e ,  y o u  s a y  in  th e  T im e s ,  o f  t a m p e r in g  in  

th e  o t h e r  c a s e s ,  th a t w o u id  h a v e  b e e n  in v e s t ig a t e d , a s  w o u id  th e

75
76
77

MOD200009621 
13/03/2012 (DAY49/am/72) 
01/03/2012 (DAY44/am/11)
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s lig h t e s t  h in t  th at o t h e r s  w e r e  in v o lv e d  d o  y o u  s t a n d  b y  th a t?

A . I  d id n 't  -  s a y  t h a t  a g a in ,  p i e a s e ?

Q . J u s t  r e a d  it fo r  y o u r s e lf .  It 's  y o u r  o w n  w o rd s .
A .  Y e s ,  i  s e e  t h e  p o i n t  n o w .
Q . B u t  w h a t's  th e  a n s w e r  th en , M r  H a y m a n  ?

A .  W e ii,  t h e y  w e r e n 't  i n v e s t i g a t e d  a n d  i  d o n 't  u n d e r s t a n d  -  y o u  
k n o w ,  i 'v e  w r it t e n  t h a t  a s  p a r t  o f  a n  a r t ic ie ,  a n d  to  g o  b a c k  to  in  

t h a t  o f f ic e  a n d  t h a t  in t e r a c t io n  to  r e m e m b e r  w h y  t h i n g s  w e r e  o r  

w e r e n 't  d o n e ,  i  j u s t  c a n 't  d o .

Q . M a y b e  th is  is  to h e lp  y o u  o u t  a  bit, if  I  m a y  s a y  s o , jo u r n a lis t ic  
l ic e n c e .  A r e  y o u  r e a c t in g  p e r h a p s  p e r e m p t o r ily  to s o m e t h in g  w h ic h  

y o u  s a w  in  th e  G u a rd ia n , y o u  th o u g h t  w a s  n o n s e n s e  -  w ro n g ly , a s  it 

h a p p e n s  - a n d  y o u  fire  o ff  fro m  th e  h ip  w ith th is  w h e n  in  fa ct y o u  d o n 't  
m e a n  this, d o  y o u ?

A . i  c a n  s e e  h o w  y o u  c a n  -  o t h e r s  a n d  y o u  c o u i d  h a v e  th a t
v ie w . 78

64. Mr Hayman claimed that he did not know at the time he wrote his article that the 

investigation had obtained information about PIN numbers used to get access to 

victims’ voicemails, or that the names of numerous News of the World journalists 

appeared in the notes taken by Mr Mulcaire (the so called “corner names’’)̂ ®. If that is 

right, it is difficult to see how he felt able so confidently to assert that the investigation 

had left no stone unturned without even checking the position with officers involved. 

That led to the perception that defence of News International was more important to 

him than a proper investigation of the Guardian allegations.

65. Neil Wallis said that he assisted Lord Stevens by providing him with PR advice on 

his Commissioner candidacy. Once Lord Stevens was Commissioner then he would 

sometimes ask Mr Wallis for his views on policy and strategy®”. He also provided 

assistance to Paul Stephenson with speech writing. Conversely Mr Wallis could 

contact the MPS, explain any concerns he had about criminal justice issues and 

suggested that MPS should get involved®^

6 6 . Neil Wallis’ company Shami Media was offered a contract to provide PR services to 

the MPS by Dick Fedorcio. Mr Fedorcio would have awarded the contract to Mr 

Wallis without tender but procurement processes required him to do so and so he 

chose two large (and expensive) companies, Hannover and Bell Pottinger, to also put 

in bids. They were given little time to do so®̂  and their bids were bound to be more 

expensive than that of Shami Media. Mr Fedorcio accepted that he could have

78
79
80 
81 
82

01/03/2012 (DAY44/pm/148) 
01/03/2012 (DAY44/pm/150/15-16)
02/04/2012 (DAY59/am/85) 
02/04/2012 (DAY59/am/87)
Dick Fedorcio W/S 89
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approached smaller PR companies, but he did not do so. He claimed that, had he 

known the extent of the close relationship between Mr Wallis and Mr Yates, he would 

have thought twice about hiring him at all or at least about having Mr Yates’ input in 

the hiring process® .̂ Mr Yates’ evidence was that he met Mr Wallis at New Scotland 

Yard with Dick Fedorcio, to oil the wheels. Mr Fedorcio had met with Mr Yates and 

Mr Wallis on numerous occasions and his assertion that he wouldn’t have known of 

their relationship is not to be believed. Mr Fedorcio had also known Mr Wallis for a 

long time -  the first meeting recorded in the hospitality register was December 1997. 

Mr Yates said that he asked Mr Wallis informally if there was anything to embarrass 

him -  and said that the proper due diligence would be done through the MPS 

procurement procedures®" .̂ We know from Mr Fedorcio’s evidence that there was no 

full procurement process and no proper due diligence.

67. News International journalists and senior MPS officers also provided frequent work 

experience for each others’ relatives.. Mr Yates was asked about work experience 

given to Mr Wallis’ daughter and showed no understanding whatever of the likely 

perception that he was using his position as an Assistant Commissioner to help the 

daughter of his close friend®®. Evidence was also heard that Mr Fedorcio’s son did 

work experience at the News of the World in 2003 and 2004 and again in about 

September 2007. Mr Fedorcio also arranged for Lord Blair’s son and Lord Condon’s 

son to do work experience at The Sun.®®

6 8 . This traffic between News International and the MPS reinforced close relationships 

and led to a risk of both parties feeling indebted to each other. As a result there is a 

real possibility that News International (certainly the News of the World and The Sun) 

would not be critical of certain MPS police officers when they ought to be and, 

conversely, the MPS would not investigate any “media” crimes as robustly as they 

ought to. It certainly led to an overall perception of a culture of favours, in which close 

personal relationships and the possibility of paid employment were key.

83
84
85

86

13/03/2012 (DAY49/pm/35)
01/03/2012 (DAY44/pm/39-40)
01/03/2012 (DAY44/pm/41/14-19):
Q. That's the reason  why expecta tions n eed  to b e  m anaged. There is at lea st the perception  
o f influence b y  you , which might b e  sa id  b y  som e to have been  o r at lea st g ive  the appearance  
o f being causative  in A m y Wallis getting the job . Do you  s e e  that p o in t?  A. No. I disagree 
with you.
07/03/2012 (DAY47/am/30)
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B(4) Summary

69. The evidence suggests that the journalists in question fostered close relationships 

and plied senior officers with expensive food and drink in order to obtain commercial 

advantage -  be it useful background information or unauthorised leaks and gossip. 

This is dealt with more fully below at paragraphs 152 -  157. All the officers who gave 

evidence (unsurprisingly) denied this, but the obvious inference is that the reason that 

the journalists were prepared to invest so much expense, time and effort in wining 

and dining senior police officers is because it paid off.

70. Hospitality, close friendships and professional traffic blurred the line between 

personal and professional relationships and led to conflicted or potentially conflicted 

situations when senior officers were called to investigate the media. Hospitality and 

friendship were not a necessary part of the relationship -  the Inquiry has also heard 

evidence from many officers who refused lavish or expensive hospitality without 

damaging the relationship (e.g. current MRS Commissioner, Bernard Hogan-Howe 

and Assistant Commissioner, Cressida Dick).

71. Furthermore, the evidence has borne out a real distinction between MRS officers and 

national media and the regional forces and local media. There has been a frequent 

suggestion that this is due to a difference in culture amongst the regional 

forces/media, where the community serves as an effective check on the behaviour of 

the police and the media. Interestingly, Anne Pickles, Acting Editor of The Cumbria 

Newspapers said that the local police and the local press have a relationship built on 

an understanding that they serve a common purpose and a common community® .̂ 

She pointed out that the regional and local press have to live with the people about 

whom they are reporting but the national media are not accountable or accessible in 

the same way.

72. The fact that the Inquiry has seen how the relationship between the press and the 

police can function professionally and properly in the regions demonstrates that this is 

achievable. The operational differences between regional forces and the MRS and 

between regional and national newspapers do not preclude the same proper 

professional relationship existing between the MRS and the national press. Nor do 

they preclude a clear understanding of where the boundaries of information sharing 

lie. It appears that the procedures need to be tighter for national newspapers than for

87 26/03/2012 (DAY55/pm/4)
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regional ones given the difference in accountability.

C CONSEQUENCES OF CLOSE RELATIONSHIPS

Introduction

73. The culture of close relationships between (in particular) senior officers in the MRS, 

and the press clearly led to potential conflicts of interest. That in turn gave rise to a 

perceived or actual reluctance to pursue robust investigations of media wrongdoing 

and a consequential loss of public confidence. The evidence of AC Sue Akers about 

allegations of a corrupt network of public officials and journalists suggests that it also 

led to a culture of media impunity. Close relationships also gave rise to the 

inappropriate provision of information to the media which is dealt with more fully at 

paragraphs 1 5 0 -1 9 5  below.

74. Between 2006 and 2011, the press as a whole was remarkably quiet about both the 

Information Commissioner’s reports into the unlawful trade in confidential information 

driven by the media {W h a t  P r ic e  P r iv a c y  and W h a t P r ic e  P r iv a c y  N o w ) and the 

phone-hacking allegations. Nevertheless, there is without doubt considerable public 

anxiety about the culture, practices and ethics of the media and the failures of the 

police to investigate and prosecute more journalists in 2006, to reinvestigate the 

hacking allegations promptly in 2009-2010 or to inform the victims.

C fl) Phone hacking investigation, 2006

75. The failures of the MRS to examine and pursue the “A ia d d in ’s  c a v e ” of evidence of 

serious wrongdoing by numerous journalists at the News of the World is widely seen 

by the public to be the product of corruption. The Inquiry has heard that these failures 

were due to the pressure on MRS resources caused by the threat of terrorist offences 

in the summer of 2006. Be that as it may, it does not explain the reluctance of the 

senior investigating officer, DSupt Williams, to reveal the full extent and nature of the 

evidence to the CRS, or to pursue the agreed strategy of informing victims. Nor does 

it explain his extraordinary (untrue) claim to the CRS in 2006 that there was no 

evidence that any other journalists were involved.

76. The impact of the close relationships examined above can be pernicious and subtle, 

particularly in a hierarchical organisation like the MRS. Mr Williams’ highly cautious
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approach was evident throughout his evidence, and he would no doubt have been 

aware that his superiors in the MRS hierarchy enjoyed extremely close social 

relationships with those he was investigating. Mr Williams was the gatekeeper of 

information about hacking and it was his decision not to inform the CPS, or officers 

investigating interceptions in 2009-2010 about the wealth of evidence seized from Mr 

Mulcaire. Although there is no evidence that he made any conscious decision to 

suppress evidence, it is inevitable that the relationships between very senior MPS 

officers and the media exerted some influence on his decision-making. It should also 

be remembered that Surrey Police had become aware that the News of the World 

had intercepted the voicemail of Milly Dowler in 2002®®, but no steps were taken to 

investigate at that stage. The officer in charge, Craig Denholm, like many Surrey 

officers, also served in the MPS. In 2008 he was appointed to a position as 

Commander (Counter Terrorism) Special Operations, working directly with John 

Yates until he returned to Surrey Police in June 2009. Surrey Police and the MPS 

should have been aware of this background.

W e a k n e s s e s  in t h e  i n v e s t i g a t i o n

T h e  a n a l y s i s  o f  t h e  e v i d e n c e

77. Prior to the arrest of Mr Goodman and Mr Mulcaire in August 2006, Mr Williams was 

certainly alive to the possibility of hacking being a wider issue affecting the whole of 

the media and he realised that numerous potential victims were vulnerable to 

voicemail interception®®. After the arrests this was confirmed when the notebooks 

were originally examined and the “blue book” was compiled with a list of over 400 

potential victims and their Personal Identification numbers (PINs), Direct Dial 

voicemail numbers (DDNs) and Unique Voicemail numbers (UVNs). Mr Williams also 

accepted under questioning®® that there was call data (for example the records of Mr 

Mulcaire and/or Mr Goodman calling victims’ DDN/UVNs) and that the numbers of 

times that victims’ DDN/UVNs were being called, including victims who were of no 

interest to Mr Goodman, suggested wider criminality at the News of the World. He 

was also aware that the notebooks included some corner names of journalists who 

had commissioned work and that some of the victims were nothing to do with Royal

88
89

90

See for example DCI Macdonald W/S 31
As early as January 2006 he acknowledged that interception was likely to be widespread 
(Inquiry Document MOD200002930 decision log 8 15 January 2006)
29/02/2012 (DAY43/am/99-102)
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matters®^ He knew about the “For Neville” email, the contract for £7,000 for one 

story, and he knew that payments had been made for stories about John PrescotP. 

All that would be needed to include additional journalists in relation to counts 16-20 

on the indictment was to identify who they were - which involved looking at the corner 

names and asking News International for a list of journalists. It is remarkable that this 

simple step was not taken or at least a formal note recorded to ensure that if the 

investigation was considered again it was identified as an obvious lead to follow up.

78. This was in reality virtually the same evidence as that used to convict Messrs 

Goodman and Mulcaire® .̂ There would have been very little additional work required 

to bring a representative sample of journalists into the prosecution -  for example, 

those who appear in the corner names of the documents relating to Simon Hughes 

MP.

79. However, Mr Williams’ evidence was “/ c e r t a in ly  d o n 't  th in k  I s a w  a n y t h in g  th a t w o u ld  

h a v e  e n a b l e d  m e  to p r e s e n t  a  c a s e  in  a n y  -  o n  th e  b a s is  o f  a n y  in f e r e n c e  o r  

c ir c u m s t a n t ia l e v id e n c e . ’̂ '* He suggested that the existence of the journalists’ “corner 

names” was not sufficient to even interview them as it was not evidence that they 

understood that Mr Mulcaire’s modus operandi was unlawful. His evidence was that 

he knew that Mr Mulcaire was hacking into voicemails: this should have been 

properly followed up, as there was little or no evidence of Mulcaire undertaking any 

lawful activity.

“Q . B u t  in  re la t io n  to th is  n o t e b o o k  a n d  th e  1 1 , 0 0 0  p a g e s ,  it's  a ll p a r t  

o f  a  c o m p le t e ly  c o h e r e n t  p ic t u r e  th at th is  is  a  m a n  w h o  is  h a c k in g  in to  
v o ic e m a ils .  T h is  is  h is  s o l e  w a y  o f  b e in g ,  h is  in d u s t r ia l activity. T h a t's  

w h a t h e  l iv e s  for, to h a c k  in to  v o ic e m a ils ,  is n 't  it ?

A .  I  k n o w  w e  k n o w  th a t  n o w .  A t  t h e  t im e  m y  g e n u i n e  b e i i e f  w a s  
y e s  h e ' s  d o i n g  th a t, d e f in it e iy ,  b u t  h e  m a y  w e i i  b e  d o i n g  a  r a f t  o f  

o t h e r  t h i n g s ’^^.

80. Mr Williams also positively misled David Perry QC (lead prosecuting counsel in the 

2006 case) by asserting to him on 21 August 2006 that there was no evidence to 

suggest the involvement of other journalists. He downplayed the number of victims 

(claiming at the conference that there were 200 victims despite being in possession of 

a list of over 400) and did not show Mr Perry any of the evidence relating to them, nor
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29/02/2012 (DAY43/am/46)
29/02/2012 (DAY43/am/42)
While the police went further than this in the preparation of their evidence due to a 
misconception of the law, it was unnecessary.
04/04/2012 (DAY61/am/17/10-13)
29/02/2012 (DAY43/pm/7/19-25)
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was Mr Perry aware of the wealth of additional evidence, saying he did not see the 

“For Neville” email or any of the other evidence®®. His Junior Counsel, Louis Mably, 

reviewed the unused material in 2006, but this was for the purposes of disclosure and 

not in order to check whether everything of evidential value had been included® .̂ Mr 

Perry’s understanding was that it was not possible to obtain any evidence from the 

victims who had been identified, although that is not supported by documentary 

evidence or the evidence of any of the other officers. Mr Perry gave evidence that in 

fact Mr Williams told him that there was no evidence to connect Mr Mulcaire to other 

News of the World journalists®®. That was not true.

81. Although Mr Williams said that the close relationships at News International were not

a factor in his approach, he did say this:

“O. W a s  t h e r e  a n y  s e n s e  h e r e  th a t y o u  w e r e  ta k in g  o n  a  la r g e  a n d  
p o w e r f u l  o rg a n is a t io n , N e w s  In te rn a tio n a l, a n d  th a t th e r e  w e r e  d a n g e r s  

in  d o in g  s o ?
A . I  t h in k  w it h  a n y  i a r g e  o r g a n is a t io n ,  y e s ,  w e  w e r e  a w a r e  o f  it  in  

t e r m s  o f  a  b i g  o r g a n is a t io n ,  w h i c h  i s  w h y  w e  c a r r i e d  o u t  s u c h  a  
t h o r o u g h  in v e s t ig a t io n ,  w h y  w e  s o u g h t  s o  m u c h  a d v i c e  f r o m  t h e  

C P S ,  i n  p a r t i c u i a r  i n  t e r m s  o f  w h e n  it  c a m e  to  o u r  a r r e s t  p h a s e ,  
b e c a u s e  w e  w a n t e d  to  b e  a b i e  t o  s e i z e  a s  m u c h  e v i d e n c e  a s  

p o s s i b i e  a n d  d o  it  i n  a  p r o p e r  a n d  p r o f e s s i o n a i  m a n n e r  s o  t h a t  w e  

c o u i d  n o t  b e  c r i t i c i s e d  f o r  t h e  w a y  w e  c a r r i e d  o u t  o u r
in v e s t ig a t io n . «  99

82. In light of the false picture given by Mr Williams to Mr Yates, David Perry and to Keir 

Starmer (DPP) in 2009, the confused nature of his evidence to the Inquiry, his clear 

belief that there was not sufficient evidence of journalistic involvement to interview 

any journalists or seize phone records, or to pursue the Production Order (see 

below), the failure of the victim informing strategy, and the fact that he was the 

gatekeeper of information from 2006 until late 2 0 1 0 , his evidence was not wholly 

credible and there remains a strong inference that he was fearful of the influence of 

the powerful media friends of his superiors.

83. Mr Williams’ evidence can be contrasted with that of DC Surtees, who was also 

working on the MPS investigation. Mr Surtees confirmed that a crucial piece of 

evidence was the phone records of Mr Goodman and that it was a relatively 

straightforward exercise to obtain Mr Goodman’s outgoing call data. As he explained: 

“ T h e  w a y  to d o  it is  w h e n  y o u  h a v e  a  s u s p e c t  in  m in d  a n d  y o u 'r e

96
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04/04/2012 (DAY61/am/27-28) 
04/04/2012 (DAY61/am/34) 
04/04/2012 (DAY61/am/36-37) 
29/02/2012 (DAY43/am/105-106)
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lo o k in g  a t th a t s u s p e c t ,  to s e e  w h e t h e r  th at s u s p e c t  p a r t ic u la rly  is  

a c c e s s in g  th e  v o ic e m a ils  o r  D D N s  o f  p a r t ic u la r  v ictim s. ”

84. It would not have been very resource intensive to have obtained the phone records of 

the limited number of other journalists whose names were in the Mulcaire notebooks 

-  for example the “corner names” in Simon Hughes’ case. That was plainly in Mr 

Surtees’ contemplation even though he was a Senior Investigating Officer (‘SIO’) in a 

large number of the serious terrorist investigations identified as a reason for not 

pursuing other journalists^°\ Mr Surtees was clearly disappointed in the decision not 

to investigate any further.^°^

T h e  S e a r c h  a n d  P r o d u c t i o n  O r d e r

85. Mr Surtees told the Inquiry “/ w a n t e d  v e r y  m u c h  to g e t  in to  N e w s  In te rn a tio n a l,  

b e c a u s e  I w a n t e d  to s e a r c h  th e  d e s k ,  I w a n t e d  to s e a r c h  th e  f in a n c ia l a re a s ,  I w a n t e d  

to f in d  e v id e n c e  a r o u n d  w h o  w a s  in v o lv e d  in  th is  ille g a l a c t iv ity ”.

8 6 . Following CPS advice, a Production Order had been drafted in order to obtain 

additional evidence, in particular financial evidence. However, before any such order 

could be obtained and executed, it would be necessary to show that the company 

was not co-operating and a search order was necessary.

87. Mr Surtees told the Inquiry that the search was not as full as he would have wanted, 

describing that there was real difficulty in conducting the search: only four officers 

obtained access before News International barred the rest; photographers were 

summoned to take photographs of the officers and lawyers appeared who challenged 

the legality of the search^° .̂ The search did not extend beyond Mr Goodman’s desk, 

and a locked safe and computer had to be left behind and were not searched at the

time 106 It was described to Mr Surtees as a “t e n s e  s t a n d  o f f ’ and must have been

very intimidating. He accepted the suggestion that his evidence indicated that he

100
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29/02/2012 (DAY43/pm/25/19-22), See too Surtees WS p. 23.
29/02/2012 (DAY43/pm/30)

"To effect this, there would need to be a full scale criminal investigation sanctioned by senior 
officers of S 0 13." You're rather suggesting there or you might be suggesting there that was 
something you would rather have liked to have done. Is that correct? A. Absolutely. 
29/02/2012 (DAY43/pm/58/15-21)

29/02/2012 (DAY43/pm/45/2-6)
Inquiry Document #MOD20003628

29/02/2012 (DAY43/pm/46)
Inquiry Document #MOD20003649
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suspected News International would have destroyed evidence and that in itself 

suggested wider criminality in the or gan isa t ion .Mr  Surtees confirmed that he told 

Mr Williams that News International were being obstructive^

8 8 . The investigatory team then wrote to News International’s lawyers requesting 

information about the desk locations and the amount of money paid to Mr Mulcaire for 

his criminal activities. Simon Hughes exhibited the financial payment schedule which 

demonstrated that up to £800,000 was paid to Mr Mulcaire. In contrast to Mr Williams, 

Mr Surtees took the view that broadly the whole of Mr Mulcaire’s time was spent on 

phone hacking^”®. However, the response to the police from News International, 

drafted by its lawyers, was that he earned £12,300 in cash payments. Mr Surtees 

was asked about this:

“Q. Y o u  m u s t  h a v e  b e e n  d is a p p o in t e d ,  th en , th a t in  th e  c r im in a i  
p r o c e e d in g s  th e  a m o u n t  o f  m o n e y  th a t w a s  fo rfe it e d  w a s  £ 1 2 , 3 0 0  a n d  

th a t w a s  it ?

A . W e  h a d  s o m e  d i s c u s s i o n s  i n  c o u r t  a r o u n d  t h a t  a n d  t h e  
a n s w e r  to  th a t  q u e s t i o n  i s  y e s ,  i  w a s  d is a p p o in t e d .  ”

89. In the event, the Production Order was not pursued and no further searches or 

investigations were conducted at News International, nor were Mr Goodman’s safe 

and computer seized. That decision was not properly explained to the Inquiry. Mr 

Williams took the view that News International had been co-operative and so the 

grounds for justifying any Order would not be made out. That was not supported by 

the evidence of the other officers, or the evidence of the searches, or the 

documentary evidence of sums paid to Mr Mulcaire.

90. The Select Committee report of 1 May 2012 refers to obstruction by the company and 

calls for News International to waive privilege in its correspondence with Burton 

Copeland so that the company’s strategy can be properly understood^ The CPVs 

endorse and repeat that request, subject of course to appropriate redactions 

requested by Operation Weeting.

W it n e s s  P r o t e c t io n  P r o g r a m m e
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29/02/2012 (DAY43/pm/56)
29/02/2012 (DAY43/pm/56/16-20)
House of Commons Culture, Media and Sport Committee ‘News International and Phone­
Hacking’ Eleventh Report of Session 2010-12, Volume 1, paragraph 277
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91. The inquiry has also heard evidence of hacking into the voicemails of people 

protected by the Witness Protection Programme (‘WPP’) which suggested serious 

police corruption and a relationship between Mulcaire or the News of the World and 

an officer privy to the exceptionally sensitive information held by the WPP. In 

August 2006, Mulcaire’s computer was sent for analysis and a report was compiled 

showing a print out of “projects” -  individual victims targeted by Mr Mulcaire.^^^

92. DS Mark Maberly’s witness statement in the judicial review proceedings indicated that 

he recognised some names from the list of projects as being individuals who were 

under protection in the WPP.^^  ̂That obviously meant that their lives could be at risk if 

their identities were revealed. Mr Surtees was very aware of the importance of this 

and it may have informed his view that the investigation should have gone further  ̂

He notified the WPP of the issue, but it is not clear what if any action was taken. It is 

highly unlikely that any individuals who were under the protection of the WPP would 

have been of interest to the News of the World’s Royal correspondent, so this was 

potentially additional evidence of hacking by others. However, Mr Mulcaire was not 

asked any questions in interview about this and Mr Clarke was not aware of it. This 

was evidence of very serious potential police corruption, yet it did not result in any 

arrests or prosecutions of police officers, or in any journalists being asked about it. It 

has been reported that the killers of Jamie Bulger, who have been given new 

identities for their own protection, had their voicemails intercepted.^

93. The introduction to the project list states that attempts had been made to corrupt 

serving police officers and there had been improper use of the Police National 

Computer. That has never been properly explored. It is not clear whether it is a 

reference to the fact that the names of individuals in the WPP appear in the 

computer, or to other evidence. Either way, there is no suggestion that disciplinary

112
113

114

Inquiry Document #MOD20003823 
Inquiry Document #MOD20004205 51
“Q. But in that context, if the conspiracy was limited to Goodman and Mulcaire, there would be 
concern but there wouldn't be enormous concern, but if the conspiracy went wider, as you 
suspected it did, to others at News International, that concern would be multiplied, wouldn't it, 
in relation to possible prejudice to those on the witness protection programme?
A. Witness protection programme, access to government ministers, access to miiitary, 
right across. There were iots and iots of concerns, yes, inciuding the witness 
protection issues, yes. 29/02/2012 (DAY43/pm/73/15-25)
See, for example this story from 28 August 2011 in the Sunday Times 
httD://www.thesundavtimes.co.uk/sto/news/uk news/National/hacking/article763279.ece and 
this story from 19 Feb 2012 in the Daily Telegraph
httD://www.telearaDh.co.uk/news/uknews/law-and-order/9091851/Bulaer-killer-could-be-in-line- 
for-comDensation-from-News-of-the-World.html
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proceedings were pursued, or that the matter was properly investigated internally. It 

adds to the impression that there were areas of the investigation which were highly 

sensitive and may have made the MRS unwilling to probe any further.

T h e  d e c i s i o n  n o t  to  p u r s u e  t h e  in v e s t i g a t i o n

94. AC Peter Clarke, made the final decision not to pursue the investigation beyond

Messrs Goodman and Mulcaire at some point towards the end of September 2006,

although there is no written record of that decision. He made it clear that the decision

was made in the context of extreme pressure on anti-terror resources given the

nature of the threat from terrorists in the Summer and Autumn of 2006. He said that it

would have taken extraordinarily compelling evidence, such as technical evidence of

other journalists accessing voicemails, for him to widen the investigation.

“A . If  o f f ic e r s  h a d  c o m e  to m e  a n d  sa id , "L o o k, w e  h a v e  v e r y  c le a r  

t e c h n ic a l  e v id e n c e  h e r e  th a t t h e s e  jo u r n a lis t s  a r e  in v o lv e d  in  p h o n e  
h a c k in g " ,  th at w o u ld  h a v e  g iv e n  m e  s o m e t h in g  m o r e  th e n  to try  to  

m o v e  th e  o p e r a t io n  s o m e w h e r e  e ls e ,  s o m e t h in g  to e x p la in  to 
c o l l e a g u e s  w h y  t h e y  s h o u l d  d e v o t e  th e ir  o w n  p r e c io u s  r e s o u r c e s  to 

w h a t w o u ld  in e v it a b ly  b e  a n  e n o r m o u s  o p e ra tio n , b u t  th a t s im p ly  

w a s n 't  th e re .

95. There is no suggestion that Mr Clarke allowed extraneous matters to influence his 

thinking. However, it does appear that he was not given all relevant information. The 

information came to him through Mr Williams whose view was that there was no 

evidence of the involvement of other journalists, who downplayed the number of 

victims at the Case Conference with counsel on 21 August 2006, and who was in 

charge of overseeing the failed strategy to inform victims. Mr Clarke said there were 

two or three layers of management between him and Mr Williams and he would not 

have seen any decision logŝ ^̂ . Keith Surtees also confirmed that he did not himself 

brief Mr Clarke and did not see any written b r ie fin g ^ M r Clarke said simply he was 

aware they were looking at something endemic and with numbers of v ic tim s ^ In  his 

witness statement he confirmed that he did not see any of the documents seized from 

Mr Mulcaire^^°. When the decision was made not to examine all the documents and 

consider further charges, it was after Mr Clarke had been away for 8 days, he was 

briefed orally and briefly by his two senior colleagues -  Tim White and John 

McDowall -  who were themselves dependent on information provided by Mr Williams
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to another officer^^V This was all in the context of extreme pressure on resources. 

Mr Clarke was not told that there was evidence that Mr Mulcaire had been accessing 

highly sensitive information in the WPP and that this suggested police corruption.

96. In fact, at that time, there was potentially compelling technical evidence about the 

involvement of other journalists. DDN or UVN numbers obtained by Mulcaire were, 

as the victims now know, being rung by journalists directly or through the News of the 

World hub phone. The police were in possession of that call data. Mr Maberly was 

asked if the police tried to find out which journalists made which calls, and if the data 

could be traced back to specific desk phones.

"A . . . T h e r e  w a s  a n  e x p e c t a t i o n  th a t...  N e w s  I n t e r n a t io n a l  w o u l d  

b e  k e e p i n g  t h a t  d a ta , th a t  In f o r m a t io n  f o r  I t s  o w n  r e c o r d s . "

Q. S o  y o u  w e r e  b e in g  a d v is e d  t h e s e  r e c o r d s  w o u id  e x is t .  ? ”

A. " T h a t 's  c o r r e c t .  A n d  i n  l a t e r  a p p l i c a t i o n s  o n e  o f  m y  r e q u e s t s  

w a s  to  a s k  f o r  a  l i s t  o f  t h e  d e s k  p h o n e s  a n d  d i a g r a m s  a s  to  
w h e r e  p e o p l e  w e r e  s it t in g .  ”

97. There was also strong circumstantial evidence in the form of “corner names” of 

journalists, evidence of the pattern of call data from the mobile phones or land lines of 

journalists to mobile phone numbers (or to DDNs/UVNs) where PIN numbers had 

been obtained by Mulcaire, transcripts and recordings of actual voice mail recordings 

and articles written by the journalists whose names appeared in the relevant corner. 

There is no evidence that this was explained to Mr Clarke in any detail -  it was 

filtered through Mr Williams whose view was that this did not constitute evidence of 

involvement by journalists.

V ic t im  I n f o r m i n g  S t r a t e g y

98. On 21 August 2006 the MPS agreed a strategy to notify all victims and potential 

victims of intercept ion.The decision was to notify first those in certain categories 

where there could be national security concerns (Royals, Police, Military, Politicians 

etc). The remainder would be informed thereafter in coordination with their mobile 

phone providers.
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Clarke W/S % 84 
29/02/2012 (DAY43/pm/84-85)
Inquiry Document #MOD20003616
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99. In fact, only a tiny fraction of even those victims in the relevant categories were told. 

There was no decision not to tell victims and Mr Surtees’ evidence was that in his 

view everybody in the Metropolitan Police accepted that the victims should have 

been told, and that he wrongly thought the mobile phone companies were taking the 

initiative. No one appears to have checked the position either way. No decision was 

logged not to inform victims, it was simply abandoned for no apparent reason̂ "̂̂ . Mr 

Clarke did not know, and still doesn’t know, why that didn’t work as intended. That 

failure has fed the perception that the MPS did not want the scale of the interceptions 

to be known publicly. Those who were the subject of voicemail interception were not 

told about the invasions into their privacy until much later and suffered as a result.

100. It is noteworthy that an email was sent to John Wellington of the Mail on Sunday to 

inform him that a number of Associated Newspapers’ journalists had been targeted 

by Glen Mulcaire.^^  ̂ As the Inquiry is aware from an email sent by Tom Crone to 

Andy Coulson on 15 September 2006, Rebekah Wade was also told about the fact 

that her telephone voicemail had been targeted and given an insight into the 

investigation at the News of the W o r l d . I t  is clear from this evidence that media 

contacts were being given privileged treatment by the MPS.

101. This is to be contrasted with the approach to the CPVs Brian Paddick, Lord Prescott 

and Simon Hughes. Mr Paddick was at the time a Commander in the MPS. His 

name appeared in the project list created from information within Mr Mulcaire’s 

computer, and those who compiled the list specifically highlighted his name in the 

introduction to the document as someone about whom attempts had been made to 

obtain in format i on .There  were further pieces of paper in the notebooks which 

included his name and address, mobile phone number and other numbers. 

Nevertheless, he was not told about the existence of these documents at any time 

during the investigation in 2006-7, or thereafter until 2 0 1 0 , contrary to the agreed 

strategy.

102. Lord Prescott was at the time the Deputy Prime Minister. There can be no doubt that 

the MPS had recognised that an attempt was made to intercept voicemails left by him 

or for him with his assistant, Joan Hammell. There are numerous pages in the 

Mulcaire documents which relate to him or to Ms Hammell. Mr Mulcaire was
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01/03/2012 (DAY44/am/56)
Inquiry Document #MOD20003768 
Inquiry Document #MOD20003655 
Inquiry Document #MOD20003823 at 3824
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questioned about Mr Prescott at interview^^® and his name is used in support of the 

application for a production order.̂ ^® Mr Williams accepted that he had seen financial 

documents demonstrating payments had been made for information about Lord 

Prescott. However, Lord Prescott was not told that his messages had been 

intercepted, despite the obvious security risk. He noted how he would have had 

frequent contact with senior officers including Andy Hayman at that time^ °̂.

103. Simon Hughes was a victim for the purposes of the criminal trial, was named on the 

indictment and gave a witness statement to the Police. Nevertheless, he was not told 

that the Police were in possession of pages from Mr Mulcaire’s notebook which 

contained details about him, his friends and family and the names of 3 separate News 

of the World journalists other than Mr Goodman^^V He gave evidence that he asked 

if others were involved and was told not.

104. These CPVs are but examples of the numerous victims who were kept in the dark by 

the failure of the victim informing strategy and the inexplicable Police decision not to 

inform victims later but to mislead them and the wider public. The Metropolitan Police 

have now admitted liability in the judicial review (in which the decision not to inform 

these victims was challenged as an unlawful violation of the positive obligation under 

Article 8 of the Convention) and apologised to each of the Claimants.^^  ̂ Officers from 

the investigation are now taking steps to inform all the victims and potential victims -  

obviously a much more difficult task 6 years on.

S u m m a r y

105. Mr Williams (and Mr Maberley) said that they did not consider there to be sufficient 

evidence to arrest journalists and that the journalists would not comment in 

interview^^ .̂ This demonstrates a peculiarly cautious attitude and one which, in the 

opinion of the CPVs, reflects a wider institutional fear of News International and an 

awareness of the close relationships fostered by the company with very senior 

officers.
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Inquiry Document #MOD20003540 at 3558 
Inquiry Document #MOD20003628 at 3632 
W/SH8 
W/S % 16-22
Rt Hon Tessa Jowell was notified, but she was not told about the extent of the interceptions.
Mr Surtees claimed she was asked to provide a statement and refused, but Ms Jowell has 
given convincing and detailed evidence to contradict Mr Surtees’ evidence on that matter, and 
he was plainly mistaken as his version is incorrect.
For example, 29/02/2012 (DAY43/pm/2)
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106. The MRS opened Module 2 saying that it was not surprising that Mr Mulcaire had a 

list of individuals and “w h a t w a s  n o t  k n o w n  a t th e  t im e  w a s  th e  n a t u re  o f  th e  in t e r e s t  

h e  h a d  o n  t h e m ”^̂ '*. That has been shown to be incorrect. In fact there was a wealth 

of circumstantial evidence connecting journalists to Mulcaire because their first 

names appeared in his notebooks along with the information needed to intercept 

voicemails. There was also a contract with Mr Mulcaire, the “for Neville” email, 

numerous recordings of voicemails, a recording of someone being told how to access 

voicemails and several transcripts of voicemails. This evidence was all in the hands 

of the police and some had already been analysed for the purposes of Counts 16-20 

on the indictment.

107. There was also the possibility of an examination of call data from the News of the 

World hub phone to see if calls were made to unique voicemail numbers or direct dial 

numbers and the possibility of identifying which journalist made which call. That 

information is not now readily available. Mr Williams gave evidence that the mobile 

phone companies were asked to search for suspect numbers calling victims’ UVNs 

and DDNs. That could clearly have been done without huge drain on police 

resources in relation to other journalists and a selection of other victims. If the 

production Order had been pursued, the police would have been able to obtain 

relevant financial information to show how much Mr Mulcaire had been paid, and 

emails (many of which have now been deleted) could have been obtained. There was 

also the possibility of checking articles published in the newspaper to marry them up 

with information obtained from voicemails. The investigation should have done these 

things in respect of a wider representative sample of victims and considered the 

commission of offences by all the journalists identified in the Mulcaire notes. That is 

not the same as an exhaustive examination of all the material and a vast injection of 

highly stretched resources. The police should certainly have warned News 

International that there was evidence of other journalists’ involvement and that the 

practices had to stop.

108. The CPVs submit that the failures in the investigation are so significant that an 

inference can be drawn that police officers deliberately sought to downplay the 

evidence out of fear of News International. This can be illustrated by a hypothetical 

example. If the police had seized from a burglar 11,000 pages of notes containing 

home addresses and safe codes, with the names of antique dealers on the corner of

27/02/2012(DAY41 /am /66)
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numerous pages, and had obtained evidence of one such dealer selling antiques 

stolen from one home using the safe code, then it is inconceivable that the police 

would have considered that there was not enough evidence to arrest and interview 

the other antique dealers named in the notes, warn them off, or indeed to warn the 

home owners that their homes were vulnerable.

C(2) Phone hacking investigation 2009-11

109. The message relayed by the MRS in 2009-2010 was deeply misleading. Intentionally 

or not, the MRS supported and participated in a cover-up of the facts which has led to 

suspicions of corruption, particularly in the light of the close relationships between 

News International and senior MRS officers.

T h e  J u l y  2 0 0 9  G u a r d ia n  a r t ic l e

110. Following publication of the article, Mr Yates was asked to “establish the facts” 

around the phone hacking investigation. He took that to mean a cursory glance at the 

history of the investigation, without any analysis of the evidence. He relied solely on 

information provided by Mr Williams (the “informing victim” strategy, the indictment 

and a briefing document) and did not look at any other documents himself.

111. The police remained in possession of all the incriminating evidence after the 

convictions in January 2007. There were 11,000 pages of notebooks including RIN 

numbers, DDN/UVN numbers, victims’ names and corner names of journalists. 

There were also transcripts of actual voicemails and recordings, contracts between 

Mr Mulcaire and NGN, some financial documents and some call data. According to 

evidence to the Select committee, the so-called “For Neville email” was disclosed by 

the police to both News International and Gordon Taylor’s solicitor as early as 

November 2007^^ .̂

112. Mr Williams accepted that it was misleading for Mr Yates to have said that only a very 

few actually had messages intercepted and that all those who were targeted had 

been contacted^^®. However, he had a crucial role in perpetuating that misleading 

message. He spoke to Mr Yates on the day he “established the facts” as the Inquiry

H 108 & 253 DCMS report 
29/02/2012 (DAY43/pm/15)
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were told̂ ^̂  and was the sole gatekeeper of all information about the initial 

investigation.

113. Mr Yates stated publicly -  and was not corrected - that all those who had been 

potentially intercepted were told. That suggests Mr Williams did not tell him that the 

informing potential victims strategy had not worked. Mr Williams still claimed in 

evidence to the inquiry, incredibly, that the Mulcaire notebooks did not lead to a 

conclusion that other journalists were involved^^®. He also acknowledged the pressure 

on the MRS reputation at the time -  the defensive approach referred to by Mr 

Paddick.

L O R D  J U S T I C E  L E V E S O N :  -  w a s  j u s t  t o o  q u i c k ?  T h a t  r a t h e r  m o r e  

o u g h t  t o  h a v e  b e e n  d o n e ,  s o  th a t  a  f a r  b r o a d e r  a n a l y s i s  o f  t h e  
n u a n c e d  p o s i t i o n  — w h i c h  y o u  h a d  f r o m  y o u r  d e c i s i o n  l o g s ,  I t 's  a l l  

t h e r e  -  b e f o r e  M r  Y a t e s  w e n t  o u t  s n a p ?  A .  I  a g r e e  i n  h i n d s i g h t  -
L O R D  J U S T I C E  L E V E S O N :  I'm  n o t  s o  s u r e  th a t n e c e s s a r i l y  s h o u l d  b e  In  

h in d s ig h t, b u t  a n y w a y  - A .  W ell, no, fro m  a  p o s it io n  n o w  I c a n  s e e ,  a n d  I 

th in k  M r  Y a t e s  h a s  s a id  It, a t  th e  t im e  w h a t It felt l ik e  w a s  th a t e v e r y b o d y  
w a s  s a y in g  th at th is  w a s  a  c o n s p ir a c y  a n d  w e 'd  h id d e n  It, a n d  a c t u a lly  I 

b e l ie v e  w h a t w e  w e r e  try in g  to s a y :  th a t's  a b s o lu t e ly  n o t  th e  c a s e  h e re .

B u t  In  d o in g  that, I a g r e e  w ith y o u , p e r h a p s  w e  c o u ld  h a v e  j u s t  p a u s e d  fo r  
a  m o m e n t  a n d  th o u g h t: Is  It j u s t  th a t?  B e c a u s e  w e  -  In  a  s e n s e  to m e  It 

felt w e  w e r e  r e a c t in g  to th e  fa ct th a t s o m e o n e  w a s  s a y in g  w e 'd  h id d e n  
s o m e t h in g  a n d  I k n e w  w e  h a d  a b s o lu t e ly  n o t  h id d e n  a n y th in g , a n d  In  

h in d s ig h t, y e s .  If w e  h a d  p a u s e d ,  m a y b e  t h e r e  w o u ld  h a v e  b e e n  a  
d iffe re n t  a p p r o a c h .  W e  a ll le a r n  ” ^

114. The assurance provided by Mr Williams to Mr Perry QC in 2006 that there was no 

evidence of the involvement of other journalists filtered through to Mr Perry’s advice 

in 2009 and then to the DPP who followed his lead and declared there was no 

additional evidence in his statement on 9 July 2009.

115. Mr Perry did not remember seeing the Mulcaire notes relating to Counts 16 to 20, 

which included reference to other journalists as corner names. Mr Starmer said there 

were about 40 pages of the Mulcaire notes which had been passed to the CPS by the

“Q, Did you show Mr Yates any documents? A. The documents that were produced I 
showed him my informing potentiai victim strategy, i showed him a copy of the indictment, and 
that was it, because we didn't have any other documents on that date. Sorry, there was 
another short briefing document. Q. On the basis of that, Mr Yates said that there was no new 
evidence which would justify reopening the investigation; is that correct? A. That's correct. Q. Were 
you seeking to persuade him that that was the position? A. i just gave an expianation of exactiy 
what we'd done and the position we had reached, i was just expiaining to him exactiy what we 
had done. Q. But in a very succinct and editorialised way, you were giving him a snapshot picture of 
what your investigation had established, and he then put that in the public domain at about 5.00 in the 
afternoon; is that right? A. Yes”. 29/02/2012 (DAY43/pm/3-4)

29/02/2012 (DAY43/pm/8)
29/02/2012 (DAY43/pm/21)
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police and he relied in Mr Perry’s assurances that there was no evidence to implicate 

others at the News of the World in 2006̂ "̂ °. It is also notable that Mr Williamŝ "̂  ̂ told 

the CPS that the victims selected were limited by the willingness of victims to come 

forward and in a later email̂ "̂  ̂ he suggested (wrongly) that the victim informing 

strategy had been implemented and that it was extremely challenging proving that 

someone was a victim of interception.

116. The DPP then made an additional statement on 15 July, also heavily reliant on what 

the CPS had been told be Mr Williams in 2006 and July 2009.̂ "̂  ̂ That statement said 

that there was no evidence of the involvement of others at the News of the World.

117. Mr Yates’ evidence in July 2009 to the Select Committee did not refer to the terrorist 

threat and pressure on resources as a reason for not pursuing journalists. Instead, 

he told the Select Committee that it was due to News International’s failure to co 

operate. He also made a claim that CPS advice prevented the Police from 

investigating because of the narrow view of RIPA (that an offence was not committed 

unless voicemails were intercepted before being listened to by their intended 

r e c i p i e n t ) T h i s  was not an accurate summary of the reasons why the police did 

not pursue the journalists in 2006.̂ "̂  ̂ Nor was it correct that the narrow view actually 

hindered any prosecution which could have been for the inchoate offences of 

conspiracy or attempt to intercept voicemails. Mr Yates took no proper steps to 

consider the matter for himself, the review having taken all of 6 hours. It also differed 

considerably from the account given to the Inquiry by Mr Clarke. As Mr Williams was 

the source of Mr Yates’ views, he may have been saying what he believed Mr Yates 

wanted to hear.

118. Mr Yates spoke to the DPP on 14 July 2009 about the ‘For Neville’ email. Mr Starmer 

gave evidence that there was a “degree of pushback” to his suggestion that the email 

should be investigated, but Mr Yates did agree to meet Mr Starmer on Monday 17 

July 2009̂ "̂ ®. Mr Yates made it clear that if Mr Starmer had invited him to reopen the 

investigation, he would not have accepted that invitation̂ "̂ ^
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119. The information given to Mr Yates and his own haste to give the investigation a clean

bill of health had serious consequences.

(1) It was in the context of Mr Yates’ very close relationships to News 

International. He was not, and was not seen to be, independently minded.

(2) It permitted News International to perpetuate the “one rogue reporter” lie. 

There are numerous examples, some in this Inquiry, in which News 

International has been able to rely on the police decision to close the case in 

support of its own failures. Tom Crone told the DCMS committee, falsely, that 

there had been several internal investigations, a massively intense police 

investigation and “a t n o  s t a g e  d id  a n y  e v id e n c e  a r is e  th a t th e  p r o b ie m  o f  

a c c e s s in g  b y  o u r  re p o rt e rs ,  o r  c o m p iic it y  o f  a c c e s s in g  b y  o u r  r e p o r t e r s  w e n t  

b e y o n d  th e  G o o d m a n / M u ic a ir e  s it u a t io n ’’. None of the police officers who 

knew this was false stepped forward to contradict the widely reported and 

repeated company position. Mr Clarke said that if any of the more junior 

officers in the 2006 investigation had disagreed with his decision they would 

have made their views known. In fact none of them made their views known 

about the one rogue reporter defence until they gave evidence in the Judicial 

Review and this Inquiry, nearly 6 years later.

(3) The police failure to reopen the files must have given News International 

comfort in relation to the other illegal practices at its newspapers. The email 

evidence of corrupt practices which has now been passed to Operation 

Elveden was first considered by the company and its lawyers, Harbottle and 

Lewis, in the context of Mr Goodman’s employment claim. However, nothing 

was done and many reporters and executives at News International must 

have breathed more easily in July 2009 and been very grateful to their friends 

in the police. No doubt some did consider, rightly or wrongly, that all those 

bottles of champagne had paid off.

120. Incredibly, Mr Yates maintained even to this Inquiry that in 2009 there was not

sufficient evidence to contradict the rogue reporter defence.

“O. M r  M y ie r 's  p o s it io n  -  w e  h e a r d  h is  e v id e n c e  to th is  in q u ir y  -  w a s  

th a t t h e r e  w a s  o n e  r o g u e  re p o rte r. W a s  th at y o u r  u n d e r s t a n d in g  o f  th e  
p o s it io n ?  W a s  th a t a ffirm a tiv e iy  e s t a b i is h e d  to y o u r  s a t is f a c t io n  th at  

t h e r e  w a s  o n iy  o n e  r o g u e  r e p o r t e r  a t th e  N e w s  o f  th e  W o r id ?

A . I n  t e r m s  o f  w h a t  w e  k n e w  a n d  w h a t  t h e  e v i d e n c e  w a s ,  y e s ,  th a t  
w a s  t h e  p o s i t i o n  i n  J u l y  2 0 0 9  a n d  r e m a i n e d  t h a t  p o s i t i o n  u p  u n t i l  
J a n u a r y  2 0 1 1 .  W e  h a d  n o  o t h e r  w a y  o f  a f f i r m in g  it  e i t h e r  w a y .

Q . in  y o u r  o p in io n , t h e r e  w a s  n o  e v id e n c e  a t a ii to s u g g e s t  th a t o t h e r s  

m ig h t  b e  in v o iv e d ;  is  th a t c o rre c t, M r  Y a t e s ?
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A . W e ll, t h e r e  w a s  t h e  — y o u  k n o w ,  t h e  l o n g  s p o k e n  a b o u t  " f o r  

N e v i l l e "  e m a il,  w h i c h  a g a in  w a s  c o v e r e d  I n  t e r m s  o f  w h a t  I t s  

v a l u e  t o  a n  I n v e s t i g a t i o n  w a s  o n  s e v e r a l  o c c a s i o n s ,  n o t  l e a s t  b y  
t h e  D P P  a n d  c o u n s e l  I n  t e r m s  o f  w h a t  It  w o u l d  v a l u e  -  It s  

e v i d e n t i a l  v a lu e .  T h e r e  w a s  n o t h i n g  e l s e  t h a t  w e  k n e w  d if f e r e n t l y  
then^^ .̂

T h e  r e s p o n s e  to  t h e  N e w  Y o r k  T i m e s  a r t ic l e

121. On 1 September 2010 the New York Times published an article about phone-hacking 

with specific and carefully researched allegations of widespread wrongdoing, 

corporate cover-up and police complicity. Again, the company issued public denials 

of any culture of wrongdoing, and again the police stayed silent, saying that no further 

investigation was required.

122. In his statement to this Inquiry, Mr Yates continued to claim that the decision not to 

reopen the investigation was a bad one o n ly  in the light of what we now knoŵ "̂ ®. In 

fact, the police knew or should have known enough to reopen the investigation in 

2009 and the emails released to the police in January 2011 were not the sea-change 

he claimed them to be. He maintained that when News International provided the 

MRS with further material which appeared to show other journalists were involved in 

phone-hacking, that was the first new evidence that he was shown and resulted in his 

decision to hand over the case.^^°

123. The DPP Keir Starmer described how he heard that Mr Yates had already decided 

there would be no new investigation^^V He was also asked about the decision to 

interview Sean Hoare under caution which would inevitably lead to a no comment 

response. He indicated that he would not have been surprised to have been asked 

for advice about the mode of interview, that it could be a good thing, but that he was 

not asked in this instance and officers went ahead and interviewed under caution 

without reference to the CPS^^ .̂ This contributed to the overwhelming sense that the 

officers were keen to shut this down. Mr Starmer also referred to his own sense that 

no one wanted to investigate phone-hacking in 2009-2010 and his growing

01/03/2012 (DAY44/pm/25-26)148

W/S H122 “Subsequent developments have shown that there were weaknesses in the police 
response both in the original investigation in 2006/2007 and thereafter”. And H 123 “I would 
emphases that the decision not to reopen the investigation was based on what we knew at the time 
and not what emerged in January 2011 

W/S H 124
04/04/2012 (DAY61/pm/28/1-11)
04/04/2012 (DAY61/pm/32-33)
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f r u s t r a t i o n . H e  eventually determined to reinvestigate the material held by the 

police at the start of 2011, despite John Yates’ continuing concerns.^̂ "  ̂ Notes of a 

meeting with the DPP indicate that he said that a new investigation would “p u t  b o th  

o r g a n is a t io n s  in  a  d ifficu it  p o s it io n . W h a t d id  w e  d o  in  2 0 0 9 ’.

124. Mr Yates continued with his close friendships and meetings with journalists 

throughout the whole of this period. It was not until Operation Weeting was finally set 

up in January 2011 that the meetings stopped.

I n f o r m i n g  t h e  v i c t i m s  a f t e r  2 0 0 9

125. In July 2009 Mr Yates told the DCMS Select Committee that he had carefully 

considered whether or not anyone who should have been informed had fallen through 

the net. In fact, just 8 additional people were told. Mr Yates told the original 

committee that where information existed to suggest that some form of interception 

had taken place, the MPS has been diligent and taken all proper steps to inform the 

victims were informed^^®. That was not the case.

126. Lord Prescott was named in the Guardian article and he wrote on 9 July to the MPS 

to ask if the Met had information about those whose telephones had been targeted. 

Mr Yates telephoned Mr Prescott (as he then was) within a few hours, he thought 

about 2 or 3pm, and said that there was no evidence at all that he had been targeted. 

That was followed by a press conference at which Mr Yates again dismissed the 

allegation that Lord Prescott was a victim̂ ®̂ . Mr Prescott entered into 

correspondence with the MPS over the next months continuing to seek further 

information and was again told there was none. Over the next 2 years, it emerged 

that there was a wealth of evidence that voicemails left by and for him on his 

assistant’s phone had been compromised and that all the evidence (except one 

email) had been in the possession of the Police since 2006. He joined the judicial 

review which was defended on the basis that there was no evidence that any of the 

claimants had been subjected to unlawful voicemail interception. That was not true.

127. Mr Paddick wrote by his solicitors with a wide request for information about whether

153
154

155
156
157

04/04/2012 (DAY61/pm/41)
This is to be contrasted with John Yates letter to Tom Watson in which he claimed 
responsibility for persuading the CPS to reopen the investigation.
Fedorcio W/S 1|131.

28 DCMS report 
27/02/2012 (DAY41/am/51-53)
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or not he was mentioned in the Mulcaire fileŝ ®̂. That was, eventually, answered by a 

letter from the MRS legal department which ducked the question and answered 

another. He wrote again and was again given misleading information^^®. He issued 

judicial review proceedings in September 2010 which were defended on the false 

basis that he had been given complete and full information about the information held 

about him.

128. There are numerous other victims who received very similar misleading (or no) 

responses to their queries about whether or not their details were in the Mulcaire 

notebooks. The strategy for informing victims as determined in 2006 was not a 

handwritten document in a black bin bag; it was a formal police document in the 

possession of the MRS. There is no excuse for not having executed the strategy in 

2006 and certainly not for misleading victims in 2009-early 2011. It is also noteworthy 

that the MRS failed properly to respond to Freedom of Information act requests about 

the number of victims submitted by Nick Davies of The Guardian.^®® Whether to 

protect its own reputation, or to protect relationships with the media, the MRS failed 

the victims and created justifiable public anxiety about the independence of the 

police.

C III Motorman/Reproof/Glade

I n t r o d u c t i o n

129. The material obtained by the Information Commissioner’s Office in its investigation 

into unlawful information gathering (“Operation Motorman”) is vital to take into 

consideration when considering the ‘culture, practices and ethics’ of the press 

generally and the activities of certain police officers. This material, together with the 

additional material obtained in the Reproof and Glade Operations demonstrate that 

the unlawful obtaining of personal information from sources which include the police 

for use in stories for commercial gain was endemic and widespread during the 

relevant period (i.e. up to 2005-2006); and that the failure to adequately investigate 

or punish the police officers and journalists involved -  in particular policy failures and 

insufficient powers under section 55 of the Data Rrotection Act 1998 -  has led to a 

sense of impunity which encourages continuing corruption in the press and, it is to be 

inferred, in the police.

158
159 

150

W/S 31 and Page 1 of Exhibit BP1 
W/S % 32
28/2/2012(DAY43/pm/147-9,184-5)
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130. These operations and the information subsequently published in 2006 in the 

Information Commissioners two reports, W h a t  P r ic e  P r iv a c y  and W h a t  P r ic e  P r iv a c y  

N o w , demonstrate that the unlawful obtaining of information (including from sources 

such as the Police National Computer) was not just carried out by News 

International, but was undertaken by a huge range of press titles, in particular the 

“tabloid press”̂ ®\

131. Those most at fault are highly unlikely to volunteer any of this information and it is 
only as a result of civil claims against News Group Newspapers, the work of certain 

investigative reporters and recent police investigations into the actions of journalists 

at The News of the World and The Sun that the scale of the activities have been 

revealed̂ ®̂ . It is therefore critical that bodies who are responsible for investigating 
such breaches of the law have sufficient resources and powers and that the 

sanctions in legislation for such “media crimes” are strong enough to act as a 

deterrent.

E v i d e n c e  o f  w r o n g - d o i n g  o b t a i n e d  i n  M o t o r m a n / R e p r o o f  a n d  G ia d e

132. The evidence collated by the Information Commissioner in the Motorman 

investigation and by the police in the Glade and Reproof investigations demonstrates 

widespread wrongdoing across the whole of the print media. It is, and should be 
seen to be, part of the same story as voicemail interception investigation: both 

concerned the illegal trade in information.
(i) The number of individuals targeted by Steven Whittamore was on a similar 

scale to those targeted by Mr Mulcaire (amounting to about 4,000 victims) 
and many of the individuals targeted were the same.

161

162

This point was noted by the Chairman in his Ruling dated 1 May 2012 at §50:
“ ...Analysis of What Price Privacy and What Price Privacy Now by the Information 
Commissioner (subject to correction identified in evidence) along with the concessions as to 
what legitimate inferences could be drawn from the material as to prime facie breach of the 
law by more than one newspaper title, whatever might be said of the services that Mr 
Whittamore might lawfully have provided, provides evidence of the culture and practices of the 
press without the need either to identify the details of those about whom information was 
sought or the journalists who sought it; it was sufficient to identify the titles concerned, which 
in any event are in the public domain, and the fact that it was widespread”.
James Murdoch stated in his evidence before the Select Committee that the civil actions 
brought by victims of phone hacking was what revealed the scale of the unlawful activities 
[uncorrected Transcript of the Oral Hearing of the House of Commons Culture, Media and 
Sport Committee, 10 November 2011, p. 11]. Mr. Murdoch repeated this in his evidence 
before the Leveson Inquiry where he stated that once the evidence started emerging during 
the course of the Sienna Miller litigation, he was concerned that his company act quickly and 
“get to the bottom of what was going on”. James Murdoch, 24/04/2012, (DAY63/am/53/9).
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(ii) Mr M ulcaire’s activities w ere not confined to intercepting voicem ail m essag e s 

-  that w as sim ple and could be done by anyone -  his skill w as in unlawfully 

obtaining the PIN num bers, mobile telephone num bers and other private 

information by deception. It w as often the information obtained by “blagging” 

which m ade voicem ail interception possible and provided information for 

publication in articles or lines of enquiry for journalists.

(iii) Mr W hittam ore also obtained information by blagging. It is not yet clear to 

what use this information w as put, but it is reasonable to infer that som e w as 

used for publication in articles, or for lines of enquiry, or a s  a  platform for 

further unlawful activities such as voicem ail or email interceptions

(iv) Mr W hittam ore w as used by som e new spapers for a period after his 

conviction and w as paid sim ilar am ounts for what appear to be sim ilar 

enquiries.

133. T he claim  that the inquiries w ere either routine or protected by a public interest 

defence does not survive much scrutiny. T he Inquiry has m ade it clear that, as a 

result of the criminal investigations and the remit of the Inquiry in Part 2, it will not 

consid er in Part 1 the question of “who did what to w hom ”. Although this m eans that 

there will be no forensic exam ination of who may have committed crim inal offences, 

it is important that the question of any continuing use of the Whittamore material is 

add re sse d  by the Inquiry, as well a s  the issu e  of what has happened to those 

journalists that w ere acquiring the material. T his is dealt with further at paragraph 

149 below.

134. In any event it is inconceivable that phone hacking w as confined to one new spaper. 

There is huge amount of evidence before the Inquiry that the m eans of intercepting 

voicem ails w as well known in the press^®^. In addition, the traffic of journalists 

between new spaper titles would have meant that this type of information gathering 

w as known in the industry and all indications are that it w as seen a s  acceptable 

journalistic practice. A s w as noted by D S W illiam s in Operation Caryatid the

See for example, Piers Morgan 20/12/2011 (DAY20/pm/65-67) (NOTW journalists 
“scapegoats” for a widespread practice); Dominic Mohan 09/01/2012 (DAY22/pm/63-64) (Admits 
making remark at conference thanking Vodafone for their security techniques and it being a “joke” 
reference to hacking as it was commonly known as a widespread practice); Evidence of Mark Lewis, 
23/11/2011 (DAY6/pm/40-41); Paul McMullan, 29/11/2012 (DAY9/pm/52); James Hipwell, 21/12/2012 
(DAY21/am/13-14), who remarked that the actions of the Daily Mirror showbusiness journalists gave 
him the impression that “hacking was considered a bog-standard journalistic tool for gathering 
information”; Jeremy Paxman, 23/5/2012 (D76/PM/138-139) (regarding Piers Morgan’s knowledge of 
mobile telephone voicemail interception and if people didn’t put a code on their telephone they were “a 
fool”).
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potential for voicem ail interception had been dem onstrated and the ability “is highly 
unlikely to be limited to Goodman alone and is probably quite widespread...a much 
wider security issue within the UK and potentially worldwide”

O p e ra tio n  R e p ro o f

135. Operation Reproof w as a substantial and detailed investigation into an illegal trade in 

data which led directly to the Motorman and G lade investigations. T he background 

and details of the Operation are a s  following:

(i) It aro se as a result of allegations that a local busin essm an  w as being 

blackm ailed using details about previous crim inal conviction that had been 

obtained about him from the Police National Com puter (“P N C ”). This 

Operation, called Operation E ssra, found evidence that a serving police 

officer in the Devon and Cornwall C onstabulary had a c c e sse d  the PN C  

record of the victim and had p a sse d  the details to private investigators to then 

sold it to the alleged blackm ailer. Operation Reproof w as set up to exam ine 

the material seized during Operation E sstra  and its term s of reference 

included “identifying docum ents or reference to docum ents or data which had 

originated from the Devon and Cornwall C onstabulary”, “to investigate lines of 

enquiry to establish the route taken from Devon and Cornwall C onstabulary 

to the recipient” with a view to “highlighting possible crim inal and m isconduct 

offences”.

(ii) A s a result of the investigations evidence w as obtained which show ed that 

serving Officers and retired Officers from other forces w ere involved in sim ilar 

illegal activities and had links with the su sp ects in Devon and Cornwall. The 

other forces that w ere contacted w ere: Dorset Police; Northumbria Police; 

Surrey Police; E s s e x  Police and the Metropolitan Police.

(iii) A search under warrant on a “data gathering” b u sin ess in S u ss e x  uncovered 

a significant amount of information which related to illicit data obtained from 

the DVLA. It w as this data which formed the basis of Operation Motorman 

which discovered the link between the information and the ultimate recipients 

which w ere often the press.

(iv) Six individuals w ere charged, including two serving and two retired police 

officers. O ne of the retired police officers, Alan Stidwell, had opened up an 

investigation b u sin e ss after retiring. T he prosecutions w ere not proceeded

file l tab35 pp54-66
165 See W/S of ACC Middleton, 26/03/2012, response 3.
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with following an indication by the presiding judge, HH Ju d g e  Darlow, that he 

did not regard the fact of a  Police Officer accessin g  the P N C  and providing 

information to an ex colleague a s  a serious matter that am ounted to 

M isconduct in Public Office.

136. Firstly, it is very surprising and concerning that the ab u se of power and disclo sure of 

highly confidential data by a public officer could be viewed as a matter that is “not 

se rio u s”. T his lead to a se n se  of impunity which can only have the effect of 

encouraging the sam e illegal behaviour to continue. It is important to apprehend and 

prosecute the offenders in such c a s e s  and to consider the victim s w hose personal 

information had been taken. In addition to their com m on law rights, individuals have 

rights under the Data Protection Act 1998 and a right under Article 8 E C H R  to ensure 

that their sensitive personal data is not m isused in this way. T he police, a s  a public 

authority, have a duty under the Human Rights Act 1998 to act com patibly with an 

individual’s Convention rights.

13 7. Secondly, there is the key question of identifying the organisations/individuals for 

whom this information w as being obtained. A C C  Middleton stated in his w itness 

statem ent that “Operation Reproof found no evidence that any media organisation 
was invoived in the obtaining of the c/afa” ®̂®. How ever at least two senior politicians 

w ere the subjects of se a rch e s and it is therefore alm ost inevitable, certainly highly 

likely, that the p re ss would be the ultimate recipient. A C C  M id dleto n  w as 

questioned about this on 9 M ay 2012 and told the inquiry that the police w ere not 

able to find out the ultimate custom er a s  those interviewing would sim ply answ er “no

com m enti!l67

138. T he failure of Operation Reproof su gg ests that no public official or journalist will be 

prosecuted for re lease of personal data to the m edia or others u nless there is proof 

of payment. T he receipt of paym ent is not an elem ent of either the com m on law or 

statutory offences. T his requirem ent p lace s a serio u s practical barrier in the w ay of 

prosecution as in most c a s e s  there will not be a paym ent “paper trail”. If this 

approach is adopted it m akes it unlikely that journalists who procure the wrongful 

d isclo sure of information will be prosecuted.

O p e ra tio n  G la d e

®̂®W/S page 10
09/05/2012 (DAY67/am/81/7)
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139. Operation G lade followed Operation Reproof and w as an investigation into the 

unlawful d isclo sure of confidential PN C  records, in the form of crim inal records office 

(C R O ) histories and registered keeper details of privately owned vehicles. T he fact 

that no journalists w ere charged m eans that the investigation w as inadequate. The 

leniency of the sen tences handed down show s that the penalties for these types of 

“m edia crim es” are wholly inadequate.

140. A sum m ary of the background is a s  follows:

(i) Paul M arshall, a  civilian em ployee with the M PS, had unlawfully used the 

PN C  to obtain restricted private data information at the request of Alan King, 

an ex police officer, who w as acting on behalf of private detectives Stephen 

W hittamore and John Boyall. T he ultimate custom ers w ere journalists.

(ii) DCI Gilm our w as the Investigating Officer. He decided to interview the 

journalists under caution but not under arrest^®®. S even journalists w ere 

interviewed (2 freelance, 2 from the News of the W orld, 1 from the Daily 

Mirror, 1 from the Sunday Mirror and 1 from the Mail on Sunday). All the 

journalists w ere interviewed with their legal representatives^®®. They all 

accepted that they had used Mr W hittam ore to obtain information but denied 

knowing that a corrupt police em ployee or unlawful methods w ere being used 

to a c c e s s  the information^^®.

(iii) T he C P S  w as asked to advise as to the likelihood of su cce ssfu l prosecutions 

and none w ere brought against the journalists.

(iv) M essrs M arshall, King, Boyall and Whittamore w ere charged with C o nsp iracy 

to Commit M isconduct in a Public Office. M arshall and King pleaded guilty -  

they w ere conditionally discharged for a period of 2 years. M essrs Boyall and 

W hittamore w ere later also charged with obtaining personal information 

contrary to s5 5  (1)(a) Data Protection Act 1998; they both pleaded guilty and 

the charge of co n spiracy w as left on file -  they w ere also conditionally 

discharged and Boyall w as ordered to pay costs of £ 1,250.

141. A s with Operation Reproof grave co n cern s arise as a result of Operation G lade. 

Ouite apart from the fact that the sen tences handed down w ere utterly inadequate

168
169
170

W/S, H28 
W/S H39-40 
W/S H 41
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and obviously too lenient^^\ serio u s co n cerns arise as a result of the failure properly 

to investigate the journalists, who w ere co nsum ers of the unlawful information.

142. Firstly, the fact that the decision w as m ade not to charge any journalists is a matter 

of grave concern. T he reason for this w as, according to D CI G ilm o u r, that there 

w ere unable to identify evidence which dem onstrated that the journalists knew the 

so urce of the information^^^. However:

(i) T he speed by which Mr W hittamore w as able to obtain the information

requested by journalists (som etim es in two or three hours according to DCI

Gilm our) meant that they must be taken to have known that it w as being

a c c e sse d  or obtained illegally. In addition som e of the information sought,

such as crim inal convictions, would not have been in the public domain and

thus as DCI Gilm our admitted must have been obtained illegally:^^^

“Q. In that interview was it put to the journalists: well, information as to previous criminal convictions is not in the public domain, almost by definition it must be obtained illegally?
A. Yes, it was. It was specifically put to them, and they pleaded ignorance around how the information would have been obtained illegally. They just said they wouldn't have used Whittamore if they had have known it was being obtained illegally. ”

(ii) Despite having this evidence which would have given rise to an inference that 

the journalists knew the so u rce of the information, there w ere no further 

investigations. T he journalists sim ply repeated the mantra that they would not 

have used Mr Whittamore of they had known the information w as being 

obtained illegally.

(iii) No search w arrants w ere executed against the journalists. T his step ought to

have been taken to en su re that any evidence that might have existed w as

obtained, and also to dem onstrate that the investigation against the

journalists w as being taken seriously. It is highly unsatisfactory for this failure

to be seem ingly excu sed  on the b asis  that:

“In 2003 the concept of the national newspapers routinely using police employees to source sensitive information was till relatively unknown and that...if a similar investigation were to be made now the investigation would be significantlydifferent. 174

171 This was acknowledged by DCI Gilmour who stated “The sentences in this case were a 
disappointment to the police and the CPS and were viewed as being unduly lenient” (W/S 47)
172

173
W/S n 52
09/05/2012 (DAY67/am/56/15-23)
W/S H 55
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143. Secondly, it is apparent from the evidence of DCI Gilm our that the sensitivity of 

investigating journalists w as a factor for the police and that they w ere w ary of the “fall 

out” of investigating the press:

Q. The other general question is: you mentioned a few moments ago that the information that was provided to the private detectives eventually found its way into newspapers, so it was plain that the ultimate consumer or customer was a journalist. When you were scoping this exercise, was the sensitivity of investigating journalists discussed?A. I can't recall specifically. I would imagine it was. We were certainly alive to the sensitivities of investigating journalists and the significance of that But I can't recall specific discussions.^^^
Q... Then on the next page, 16102, you say:"I reviewed this case, which is the subject of CPS advice. It's likely that the advice will be to charge all subjects on 14 January 2004. Careful consideration needs to be given to the interviewing of the journalists who it would appear have required the checks." I've been asked to put this to you: why was careful consideration required in relation to the journalists over and above any consideration you gave to the other suspects?A. Sir, I should point out that this isn't my entry. I do recognise the signature, I believe it's Detective Superintendent Tony Fuller. So I don't think I'm in a position to answer that. I can give a view, if you wish. I 
think it's because of the significance of what we were dealing with and recognising that significance and just giving it due consideration to be able to managethe consequences of what we were doing, or the fallout from what we were doing.

Conclusion

144. Despite multiple breach es of P N C  security the police w itn esses sa y  that any change 

in the status quo is not a matter for them.

145. There has been a failure to investigate these offences properly, particularly in 

relation to the role of the press. T his is of concern, as the power of the press, and the 

consequential ‘sensitivities’ involved when investigating the media, appear to have 

acted a s  a disincentive in Operation G lade. It is also insufficient to rely on the sim ple 

assertion that the p ress did not know that such activities w ere unlawful or that they 

w ere being carried out in the public interest; the facts of the c a s e  often give rise to an 

inference that such material must have been obtained illegally and claim s to the

175
176

09/05/2012 (DAY67/am/47/17-48/2) 
09/05/2012 (DAY67/am/60/4-61/2)
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contrary defy common se n se 177

146. T he overly lenient sen tences handed down in Operation G lade meant that the story 

“barely registered on the c o n sc io u sn e ss” of new spaper editors and the press did not 

se e  any need to carry out any investigations into the u se of W hittamore: se e  Paul 

□ a c re :

A.... Well, I mean -  no, but I mean all newspapers were using -  virtually all newspapers were using Whittamore.Q. Are you saying that that would be a reason for the Dally Mall not carrying out a proper Investigation Into the extent of the possible Illegality, Mr Dacre?A. Well, It's very difficult to say that. The story of Operation Motorman barely registered on the consciousness. I don't think It made much In the papers. One was aware of It, I suspect, that the man had been given a conditional discharge. All newspapers were still using this agency. I repeat: we thought It was -  we believed and the journalists believed that It was to get phone numbers quickly. I'm not sure an Investigation at that stage was warranted.̂ ^̂
147. C onsequently information new spapers have obtained by unlawful m eans may have 

been retained and may still be used by the num erous titles identified by the ICO  in 

his Reports. Only Mr D acre w as asked by the Inquiry about the issu e of whether 

data obtained a s  a result of Mr W hittam ore’s activities w as still retained by the Daily 

Mail. His an sw ers w ere e vasive but it w as c lear that he had not conducted an 

investigation into whether the Whittamore material had been retained and w as still 

being used:

O. ...Is Mr Whittamore's data, or rather data obtained as a result of his activities, still on the Dally Mall's systems?A. Can you explain that? I'm sorry.
O. Well, Mr Whittamore provided Associated with a vast array of data.We know from the report 958 transactions had been positively Identified. Have those data been erased -A. No, as I said, when we looked at the books eventually, we found a lot of double counting. But anyway, go on, sorry.Q. Have you conducted any Inquiry to ascertain whether those data are still on your system ?
A. I don't think the data Is on the systems, no. I didn't look Into It but I'm sure It's not. I think we have references to bills and that's all. In fact, I'm sure that's all. (emphasis added

Indeed, Mr W hittam ore has been em ployed by the m edia since his conviction. W hile 

this alone is insufficient to dem onstrate that the p ress have been acting improperly,

177

178

179

For example, Tom Crone admitted what is obvious -  that “turning around’ car number plates is 
illegal (see DCMS Report, para 138).
06/02/2012 (DAY37/pm/47/23-50/13)
06/02/2012 (DAY37/pm/58/19 -  59/10)
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there has been no independent ch eck on the m edia’s activities in this regard and an 

an alysis conducted on the evidence heard by the Inquiry (and released into the 

public dom ain) relating to the activities of E xp re ss N ew spapers Limited by Brian 

Cathcart^®° (P ro fesso r of Journalism  at Kingston University) give rise to serious 

concerns. He notes that E xp re ss N ew spapers com m issioned Mr Whittamore to 

carry out alm ost £ 1 ,000-worth of work in relation to a ‘P W ilby’, making paym ent on 

22 Septem ber 2007, which w as alm ost immediately after an article written by Peter 

W ilby (the former editor of the Independent on Sunday and the News Statesm an) 

w as published by T he G uardian on 1 7  Septem ber 2007. Mr W ilby referred to the 

E xp re ss a s  “a h opeless new spaper that couldn’t tell you the time of d ay” in the article 

and there is evidence that the E xp re ss had taken grave exception to W ilby’s jibe^®\ 

Mr C athcart questions what the E xp re ss w as com m issioning Mr W ittamore to do - no 

articles about a P W ilby appeared in the E xp re ss as a result -  and who it w as that 

did the com m issioning. T h e se  issu e s tie in to the questions which the C P V s  submit 

the M edia C o re Participants should answ er -  se e  paragraph 149 below.

148. Finally, despite having accepted that Mr Whittamore ‘m ay have b e en ’ acting 

illegally^®^ and not having carried out any investigation to ascertain the facts. 

A ssociated N ew spapers relied on the existence of the “public interest” defence as 

protecting it from the allegation that its journalists had acted unlawfully. It is 

inevitable that other new spapers would do the sam e if asked.

Motorman Questions that the CPVs submit the Press shouid answer

149. On 9 May 2012 C o un sel for the C P V s  m ade an oral application to the Inquiry that it 

obliged the M edia C o re Participants to answ er the two questions set out below^®^. 

T he M edia C o re Participants responded in oral subm ission on 11 M ay 2012^®" .̂ The 

C P V s  have replied to m ake it clear that their position is that there w as nothing stated

180

181

182
183
184

See “Free Speech? Not when a newspaper sets a private eye on a journalist”.
http://inforrm.wordpress.eom/2012/05/08/opinion-free-speech-not-when-a-newspaper-sets-a-
private-investigator-on-a-journalist-brian-cathcart/
‘The Guardian has been banned from the offices of the Daily Express after editor Peter Hill 
blew his top over a column by Peter Wilby in Monday's MediaGuardian section. . . Mr Hill has 
responded by banning the morning delivery of 18 copies of the Guardian to the Express 
offices on the banks of the Thames near Tower Bridge. Monkey's man on the inside 
explained: "He was deeply offended by a thoughtless remark by Peter Wilby, especially as the 
latter had met him only a couple of weeks previously and had been perfectly cordial. . .’ 
http://www.guardian.CO. uk/media/2007/sep/21/mediamonkev?INTCMP=SRCH 
Paul Dacre, 06/02/2012 (DAY37/pm/58/8-23)
D67/PM/74-75
(D69PM/71-86).
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by the M edia C o re Participants to alter the pressing need that these highly relevant 

questions are answ ered; they relate to the current practices of the m edia and go 

directly to the central issu e of the culture, practices and ethics of the press.

(1) W hat steps, if any, w ere taken in relation to those journalists who used the 

se rvice s of Mr W hittam ore? W ere they in fact fired? W ere they disciplined? 

W ere they adm onished in any w ay? Or are they in fact still working for the 

new spaper, as the C P V s  believe, and have even been promoted to senior 

positions?

(2) W hat steps, if any, w ere taken to identify whether any of the information 

obtained through the use of Mr Whittamore w as and is still being retained 

and/or used by the new spaper. If no such steps w ere taken, why not? If no 

such steps w ere taken, they need to be taken now.

D. T H E  U N L A W F U L /IN A P P R O P R IA T E  P R O V IS IO N  O F  IN FO R M A TIO N  TO  T H E  M ED IA

In tro d u c tio n

150. Another obvious co n se q u e n ce  of the clo se  relationship between the police and the 

m edia w as the improper d isclo sure of information. There is no doubt this is a 

significant problem. Ms Filkin explained that sh e  w as told about contact at all levels 

resulting in im proper d isclo sure of information, and that paym ent for information went 

beyond News International.^®^ T he Inquiry heard m any journalists explain the value 

of their contacts and how they live and die by their so u rces. A num ber of tabloid 

n ew spapers invested large am ounts of time and m oney in cultivating relationships 

with the police. Lord Condon described the relationships between police and 

journalists as “grooming’ for the inappropriate provision of information^®®. Som e 

senior officers and officials, such a s  Mr Y ates and Mr Fedorcio, claim ed the 

cultivation of relationships w as solely in the interests of the police. However, the 

evidence show s that it w as not in the interests of victim s or the public or the interests 

of independent and fair policing. T he party to benefit w as clearly the media.

151. T he inappropriate provision of information took several forms. Leaks of confidential 

or private information are the most obvious problem. But som e approved form s of

185

186
05/03/2012 (DAY45/pm/107)
W/S p 20 "In my view, hospitality can be the start of a grooming process which leads to inappropriate 
and unethical behaviour."
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com m unication of information are also highly risky and potentially dam aging to 

individuals such a s  the practice of taking the m edia on operations, or revealing 

information about an arrested person. Each of these matters is dealt with in turn 

below.

Di L e a k s

152. Most officers and journalists giving evidence to the Inquiry denied inappropriate leaks 

took place. However, those who spoke to Elizabeth Filkin in confidence w ere more 

forthcoming and her report sa y s  that leaks are a serio u s concern and that m any told 

her they would not provide information to the D PA for fear it would leak.

153. It w as common ground that investigations into leaks are very difficult. T he Filkin 

Inquiry also heard that police leaks to the m edia are low priority and there is very 

little internal information about sanctions to deter those who leak -  w hether for 

money, for excitem ent or sim ply b e ca u se  they can.

154. T he approach of the DPA w as lacklustre and ineffective -  Mr F e d o rc io  said that he 

w as aw are of a perception that there w ere frequent leaks from the M PS 

m anagem ent board but took little interest^®^ - and that no enquiry w as m ade to 

ascertain the so urce of leaks from the m anagem ent board^®®. He said that the new 

policy w as created in re spo n se to the leaks, but it w as plainly ignored given the 

volum e and nature of press contact that continued thereafter.

155. Mr Fedorcio also accepted that if the journalists w ere not getting what they wanted 

through the official channels, they would telephone him on his mobile telephone and 

did so at practically any time, including at weekends^®®.

156. J a m e s  M u rra y  said he has had “tip offs” on stories about “so -and -so ” and then, 

having checked it, he would a sk  them w hether they would like a drink, coffee or meal 

as a thank you^®°. It didn’t surprise Mr M urray that when the police go to arrest a 

celebrity the photographers are already there^®\ He referred to scanning into police

187

188

189

190

191

W/S page 15 
W/S page 82 
WS page 88
19/03/2012 (DAY52/am/70) 
19/03/2012 (DAY52/am/71)
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com m unications on the w ires in the past whilst he w as in television. 192

157. It did not seem  to be well appreciated by the police that such leaks are extrem ely 

valuable to the p re ss and may give them a huge com m ercial advantage by providing 

exclu sives, information to support the editorial line of the paper, or even sim ply 

background which will give them a head start on new stories.

158. Without clear policies and ethical leadership concerning the w ay in which police 

officers are permitted to interact with the media, there is a  clear and obvious risk of 

leaks. T h e se  can range from the leak of a celebrity arrest, to leaks about celebrities 

who have m ade com plaints about harassm ent, such a s  Bryan Adam s (se e  further 

below at paragraph 189), to leaks about individuals on the W itness Protection 

Program m e (as must have occurred for such individuals to app ear in Mr M ulcaire’s 

notebooks).

Interference with Criminal Investigations

159. T he Inquiry heard evidence about leaks to the p ress which resulted in articles being 

published that contained details about operational matters which had direct and 

dam aging co n se q u e n ce s on crim inal investigations. T h e se  included providing 

su sp e cts with confidential information about police operation and evidence; creating 

an atm osphere of distrust between the victim s and the police team; and having the 

effect of distorting the investigation priorities.

The Re-Investigatlon of the death of Stephen Lawrence

160. T he Inquiry heard from C liv e  D ris c o ll, the S enior Investigating Officer in the 2006 

Stephen Law rence re-investigation. T he re-investigation w as a very sensitive and 

high-profile one for obvious reasons. It w as essential that the police gain the trust of 

Mr Law rence’s family. Mr Driscoll explained that the investigating team kept the 

information “very c lo se ” and dissem inated information only on a “need to know”

192 19/03/2012 (DAY52/am/72). Aside from distorting the proper focus of a police investigation, 
the impact on the individual who is the subject of leaks casting doubt on his innocence is 
seen, for example in the case of Colin Stagg. His solicitor, Alexander Tribick described in his 
witness statement how the overly close relationship between the Met Police and the press in 
relation to the Rachel Nickell murder inquiry created the impression in some sections of the 
media that, even 20 years after his acquittal, “Colin Stagg was the man who got away with 
murder” (W/S of Alexander Tribick, March 2012, 6).
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basis^®^. Despite this, information w as leaked to the m edia on more than one 

occasion:

(i) On 18 October 2 0 0 7 an article published in T he News of the W orld identified 

the fact that there w as a forensic review and referred to a secret location.

(ii) On 8 N ovem ber 2 0 0 7 there w as an article published in the Daily Mail by 

Stephen W right about a confidential meeting at N S Y  on 7  N ovem ber 2 0 0 7 at 

which Mrs Law rence, her legal team, the police and the C P S  w ere present. 

Not only did the article reveal the fact that this confidential meeting had taken 

place, but it referred to the forensic evidence that w as d iscu sse d  at the

meeting 194

161. T h e se  stories, and others like them, which resulted from som eone leaking sensitive 

evidence in a live m urder enquiry, disrupted the investigation. At tim es the Law rence 

family felt that the police w ere deliberately leaking information and slowing down 

their investigation. Information, such as the forensic tests being undertaken, related 

to evidence which the police would want to put to su sp ects in a controlled way, not 

give them prior notice through publication to the world via the media.

162. Mr Driscoll explained that he did not know the so urce of the leak but that it could 

have only been som eone within the M PS, the forensics team or the C P S , a  few of 

whom had a c c e s s  to the sensitive material. He did not believe it w as a m em ber of his 

own team. In the lead up to the trial he w as told by a contact that it w as well known in 

Fleet Street that there w as a nam ed senior m em ber of the M PS who briefed outside 

official m eetings and about whom “a more serio u s allegation” w as also made. Mr 

Driscoll did not set this allegation out in his w itness statement, but stated that it 

concerned the clo se relationship between this senior m em ber of the M PS and 

sections of the m edia and that the relationship w as rum oured to be corrupt^®^. Mr 

D riscoll’s understanding w as that an investigation did take place into that senior 

m em ber of the M PS.

The Ipswich Murder Investigation

193
194

195

W/SH8
Mr Wright stated that the source of the information was not the police; however whatever the 
source, the publication itself had an extremely damaging impact on an investigation. Mr 
Driscoll accepted that Mr Wright would not have done anything to deliberately undermine the 
investigation, but that many of the leaked stories were published by the Daily Mail and each 
such story resulted in him having to repair relations with the Lawrence family (WS H15).
W/S % 2 2
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163. T he Inquiry heard from D avid  H a rriso n , an officer working with the S erio us 

O rganised C rim e A gency (“S O C A ”) on the Ipswich Murder Inquiry who gave 

evidence that he w as told in a briefing that T he News of the W orld had deployed a 

surveillance team to find out w here the S O C A  team w as based and that must have 

been the result of a police leak:

Q. What were you told, if anything, about one newspaper's interest in this operation?
A. At the end of the briefing, as part of the intelligence that had been received, we assumed by Suffolk Constabulary, that a News of the World surveillance team had been deployed to identify who we were and where we were based.Q. How would the News of the World have obtained that information about SOCA?A. My opinion is it would have come from someone close to the investigation team, either the Suffolk murder inquiry or SOCA.
O. Because there are no other possibilities, are there?A. No, not really.

164. Mr Harrison said that the actions of T he News of the W orld jeopardised the murder 

Inquiry in two respects^®^:

(1) Firstly, m urder su sp ects may return to the sce n e  of the crim e to try to disp o se 

of evidence, m ove bodies, or may try to commit further offences. If such 

su sp e cts thought they w ere being followed they may not do these things 

which would deprive the police of crucial evidence.

(2) If the su sp ect w as going to commit further m urders then S O C A ’s job w as to 

apprehend him. S O C A  w as distracted from the investigation as a result of 

having to deal with the fact it w as being subjected to surveillance.

165. There w as also evidence that an article published on 1 7  D ecem ber 2006 in the 

S unday Mirror interfered with the police investigation. T his article included an 

interview and the identification of Mr S tevens as a  suspect^®®. S tew art G u ll, the 

former A ssistant Chief C onstable of Suffolk Constabulary, explained that Mr S tevens 

w as formally declared a w itness on Friday 15 D ecem ber and that there w as a plan to 

arrest him on M onday 18 December^®®. It w as clear that publication of the article had 

a negative effect on the investigation. Mr Gull also stated that he found som e of the

196
197

198

199

19/03/2012 (DAY52/am/4/11-24 
19/03/2012 (DAY52/am/4-10)
Counsel for Mirror Group Newspapers, Mr Browne QC stated that the newspaper had 
interviewed Mr Stevens for 2 hours in a carpark, 20/03/2012 (DAY53/am/123/20-22). CC Ash 
of Suffolk Constabulary also stated that they had found evidence to support Mr Harrison’s 
statement that reports did collect Mr Stevens and took him somewhere to be interviewed 
26/03/2012 (DAY55/am/30-31).
See evidence of Mr Gull on 02/04/2012 (DAY59/am/66)
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reporting to be sensationalist and distracting, giving the exam ple of the headline: 

“Find the fat man in the BM W ”. In fact the police had no interest in a fat man in a blue 

BMW  a s the m edia suggested and operational time had to be devoted to correcting 

this fa lse story rather than working on the investigation.

The Joanna Yates murder inquiry

166. D ete ctive  C h ie f In s p e c to r P h ilip  J o n e s  of Avon and Som erset C onstabulary told 

the Inquiry that the Daily Mail called the C onstabulary C om m unications Department 

during the investigation and said that low copy DNA w as found on Jo a n n a  Y ates 

body. T his w as true and either cam e from the police or other agen cies which had 

tested the DNA. T he leak investigation w as still ongoing when he gave evidence. He 

stated that this leak dam aged morale of the police and dam aged trust^“ .

investigation into the death of Daniei Morgan

167. Jacq u i N am es gave evidence regarding surveillance which sh e  and her husband 

w ere subjected to during an investigation into corrupt police and private 

investigators. S h e indicated that a confidential police file w as obtained by the News 

of the W orld and that her family w as put under surveillance by the N ew s of the 

World. S h e suggested that there m ay have been a wish to “derail” the investigation 

into Daniel M organ’s death:

“The fact that within a few days we were being put under surveiiiance - - our maii was being tampered with. A phone caii was being put into a previous piace of work for David at Surrey Poiice, trying to get financiai 
information. There were various things that happened, and you can't -  i think any reasonabie person wouid find it very difficuit not to put them together and feei that there was in some way -  there was some coiiusion between peopie at the News of the Worid and the peopie who were suspected of committing the murder of Daniei Morgan, i can't put it any dearer than that”.

Other exam pies of media distortion of investigations

168. Unhelpful or inaccurate m edia co verage can also distort investigative priorities. A C C  

J e r r y  K irk b y  of Surrey police provided a num ber of exam ples when he gave 

evidence to the Inquiry:

200
201

27/03/2012 (DAY56/am/95) 
28/02/2012 (DAY42/am/101/4-14)
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(i) Mr G ibson, the S IO  in the Milly Dowler investigation, w as replaced after the 

investigation w as described as “ru d d erless” in an article in the S u nd ay Mirror. 

Mr Kirkby said that the decision w as primarily for operational re aso n s but that 

the article also had an effect.^°^

(ii) T he Sun offered a reward in the Milly Dowler investigation when the police 

w ere not su re it w as n e ce ssary  as there w as already significant press 

interest. T he Sun stated that it w as going to offer the reward anyw ay and so 

the police felt it n ece ssary  to be seen to be aligned to it.̂ °̂

(iii) Mr Kirkby also referred to the early and growing interest in the celebrity 

Matthew Kelly b e ca u se  they had discovered that the police w ere interested in 

him and that this necessitated them bringing forward the arrest to a time 

which w as earlier than they would have wished^°"^.

(iv) Mr Kirkby also gave the exam ple of an SIO , M aria W oodall, who felt 

p ressured at one stage to give out som e details of an arrest plan to the press 

which sh e w as not com fortable with providing but sh e felt sh e needed to 

provide the information to prevent the new spaper publishing dam aging 

material about another aspect of the case^°^.

169. It w as in connection with the arrest of Matthew Kelly referred to above that Piers

Morgan then sent his email which stated:

“ Thanks for the note. These stories are hideously difficult for both you guys and us. Fame and crime sends most of the usual rules out of the window...”
In fact, as the C hairm an noted at the time, the rules are even more important in 

these very big, very, very high profile c a se s, not less important.^”®

170. It is clear from the evidence that m edia co verage can seriously disrupt criminal 

investigations. T his often a rise s as a result of publication of leaked information about 

the police investigation; the police are one obvious so urce of this information. Proper 

policies and guidelines need to be introduced to deter such leaks, to investigate them 

when they do occur, and to force the m edia into acting more responsibly when 

dealing with operational material. T he possibility of derailing investigations (as with

202
203

204
205
206

27/03/2012 (DAY56/am/12-13)
See 27/03/2012 (DAY56/am/16). The Surrey Police were also persuaded by the News of the 
World to investigate the false lead into the factory job in the Milly Dowler case as a result of 
the voicemail interception.

W/S H 26 and 27/03/2012 (DAY56/am/28/8-23)
27/03/2012 (DAY56/am/17/11-24)
27/03/2012 (DAY56/am/111)
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the Ipswich Murder Inquiry), of cau sin g victims additional distress (as with the 

Law rence family) or of allowing the potential defendant to claim  that he or sh e is 

unable to have a fair trial, are all very real and steps need to be taken to avoid them 

m aterialising.

D ii: “ M edia R id e -A lo n g s ”

1 71 . “M edia ride-alongs” are the phenom enon w hereby the p re ss are given a specific 

invitation to accom pany the police at raids or other operations. T his g ives those 

invited special a c c e s s  to, and advance notice of, operations which are not publicly 

known about.

172. T he A C P O  G u idan ce in relation to this issu e is vagu e and d o es not give consistent 

advice to officers. In relation to m edia “ride-alongs” the guidance sim ply states 

“There is no law to prevent the police taking the media on operations” (Paragraph 

4.27). Although som e factors are listed for consideration, there is no clear guidance 

on how to balance the risks to the individuals under investigation with the potential 

benefits of inviting the m edia along. A num ber of questions w ere put to Andrew 

Trotter, the author of the A C P O  guidance, and the questions and his an sw ers are 

attached at Appendix 1. It is clear from the answ ers that revision is needed to a 

num ber of the policies. T he C P V s  subm it that this should be the responsibility of an 

independent body rather than A C P O .

173 . T he G u idan ce an n e xe s sam ple agreem ents which are mainly concerned to ensure 

that the m edia indem nifies the police for any financial loss, and that the m edia 

obtains its own perm ission to enter the prem ises. How ever obtaining the perm ission 

of the person being arrested is com plex and in any event, perm ission may be 

required of the family and/or the ow ners of the home as well, especially  a s  they may 

be identified. Mr Trotter’s written an sw ers indicate that the police have relied on the 

m edia to com ply with their own ethics and standards and have not checked whether 

or not perm ission has been obtained. He indicates that the approach will be 

reviewed after the C h airm an ’s report.

174. T his G u idan ce is ineffective a s  a m eans of regulating p ress behaviour. Mr Trotter 

accepted in his response to questions that a su sp ect m ay assu m e  that any m edia 

representative accom panying the police on operations has been authorised to enter 

the property by the police. It leaves the decision about what to publish entirely in the
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hands of the m edia and permits irresponsible p ress m em bers to se e k  cover the from

the police: se e  the evidence of Neil W allis on this issue:

“A...\Ne pretty much took the view if the poiice were inviting us aiong, that it was pretty much fair game.Q. Okay. We’ve heard evidence from those in the regionai press aiong the iines that on such occasions when they went aiong, they pixeiate the faces of the arrestees to protect their Articie 8 and fair triai rights.Are we to understand from your evidence that that wouid not have been your practice?A. Chiidren, possibie innocent bystanders -  weii, actuaiiy, no, i do remember now. it's three years since i ieft newspapers, but in the main, we wouid take our iead from the poiice. The poiice wouid teii us:"We want you to pixeiate the faces", or: "We don't want you to pixeiate the faces." We wouid aiways pixeiate undercover poiice officers and we wouid aiways make sure there was no embarrassment or difficuities there, but we wouid take the iead from whatever our instructions were from the -  we were there as their guest. We did what they said.Q. Wouid it be fair to say that you, of course, wouid iook after the interests of your hosts, nameiy the poiice officers, and take care to pixeiate their face, but you didn't reaiiy care too much about the faces of anybody eise?A. We wouid take the iead from what the poiice were teiiing us.Q. You didn't have an internaipoiicy -  A. No
175. S erio us breach es of an individual’s Article 8 rights can arise a s  a co n seq u en ce. 

M ark T h o m so n , a  partner at the m edia law firm Atkins Thom son, gave the exam ple 

of one of his clients, M o ham m ed A m ar, who w as a professional person and who 

w as arrested unannounced at his family home by the police^”®. T he police had 

invited and/or allowed a film crew  to the raid and part of the arrest w as filmed. In fact 

the police had m ade a serious m istake and Mr Am ar w as com pletely innocent of any 

crim e: he w as re leased the sam e day and no ch arg e s w ere brought. Unfortunately 

the B B C  broadcast the arrest footage and implied that Mr Am ar w as guilty. T his led 

to the B B C  making an apology, a statement in open court and paying £50,000 in 

dam ages. T his dem onstrates the dangers of allowing the m edia to accom pany the 

police on raids. W hile Mr Am ar w as able to take legal proceedings to clear his name, 

not all individuals are in a position to take these steps to vindicate their reputations.

176. ‘M edia ride a lo n g s’ and the va g u e n e ss of the guidelines also leads to other 

unw elcom e co n seq u en ce s:

(i) the p ress invited to the arrest will be indebted to those issuing the invitation 

which can lead to an im properly clo se relationship developing and/or the
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02/04/2012 (DAY59/pm/49-1/50-3)
See Mark Thomson witness statement, 6 March 2012
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p re ss reporting only what the police want to be reported;

(ii) in som e circum stances the p re ss will be keen for som ething sa lacio u s or 

exciting to report, such a s  a dawn raid, and this could lead to the police 

making in appropriate decisions in order to im press the media;

(iii) the prese nce of the police can lend allegations which turn out to be false with 

the spurious imprimatur of truth.

1 7 7 . W hile there may be a public interest in informing the public that the police are taking 

action in relation to particular types of crime, there is no public interest -  certainly at 

the time of arrest -  in informing the public of the identity of the subject of the 

investigation. T his w as acknow ledged by Bernard H ogan-How e in his evidence when 

he talked about m edia ride-alongs:

“A ... But usually great care Is taken to make sure that, first of all, the press who are at the event are chaperoned. They have no right of entry Into the properties so they should not go Into the properties. Number two Is that the Individuals who are the suspects and are the subject of arrest when you get there, or were being sought when you arrived, are not Identified, and there should be nothing, the written nor the visual accounts, that allow that to happen. It Is really to get the story that the police are taking action In an area about a particular 
type of crime, be It drugs or whatever, not that this Individual was a subject of the Investigation.

178. T he policy and position adopted by certain regional forces and regional p re ss on 

m edia ride-alongs is also worth noting, as it dem onstrates how the police and the 

p re ss can operate together in this area in a responsible m anner that is in the public 

interest:

(i) C h ie f C o n s ta b le  C h r is  S im s  of the W est Midland Police stated his force 

does have a policy on ride-alongs. T he privacy rights of individuals are 

considered and they m ake su re that photographs are pixellated and that 

im ages of people that have not been charged do not enter the public 

domain.

(ii) C h ie f C o n s ta b le  S im o n  A s h  of Suffolk C onstabulary stated that they are 

aw are of the Article 6 rights and Article 8 rights of individuals. T he police have 

to balance the interests in the m edia accom panying them against the private 

rights of individuals.

(iii) C o lin  A d w en t, the C rim e Reporter at the East Anglia Daily Tim es, stated that 

he had been on raids with the police and that it is his new spaper’s practice to

209
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20/03/2012 (DAY53/am/32/3-15) 
20/03/2012 (DAY53/pm/205-206)
26/03/2012 (DAY55/am/14)
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pixellate out the faces of the perso n s arrested.^^^

(iv) A d ria n  F a b e r, journalist stated that T he W olverham pton E xp re ss & Star 

referred to being invited by the police on raids and stated that his new spaper 

has an editorial policy of normally blanking out the fa ce s of the su sp ects or 

the arrestees.^^^

D ili: Id e n tifica tio n  of s u s p e c t s  a n d  m ed ia  in tru s io n  d u rin g  c rim in a l in v e s tig a tio n s

179. T he identification of su sp ects is frequently carried out by the media, particularly 

w here the su sp ect is well-known or connected to som eone well known. At that point 

the individual concerned is thrust into the public arena and can often be subject to 

“trial by m edia”. Not only does this c a u se  huge reputational dam age and invade the 

privacy of the individuals concerned at a point when they are presum ed innocent in 

the eye s of the law but, if they are charged, it can lead to applications that a fair trial 

is not possible in light of the prejudicial m edia coverage. Moreover, while the m edia 

is swift to publish a prominent story about a celebrity suspected of wrong doing a s  a 

result of police investigations or an arrest, follow up articles which inform the public 

about the re lease of a su sp ect or the dropping of ch arg e s are few and far between.

180. T he A C P O  G u idan ce is wholly deficient in this regard, sim ply stating that those under 

investigation are not routinely identified as a  matter of practice although there is no 

law against their nam es being publicly available (se e  G u idan ce at paragraphs 4.3 -  

4.5). T his is in stark contrast to the guidance relating to police officers which states 

that other in exceptional c a se s, the identities of officers or civilian staff suspected of 

wrongdoing should not be released when they have been su sp en d ed (se e  paragraph 

11.7). Mr Trotter, the author of the guidance, indicated in his resp o n se to questions 

(at Appendix 1) that the term s of the G u idan ce will be reviewed in light of 

recom m endations to be m ade by this Inquiry. T he C P V s  submit that the guidance 

should be issued by the Hom e Office or the IP C C  and that it should prohibit the 

identification of su sp e cts (se e  recom m endations section below at paragraphs 206­

12).

181. In his evidence to the Inquiry C om m issioner Bernard Hogan-How e explained that his 

view is that there w as no need or reason to identify su sp ects, the caveat being when 

there w as a su sp ect who w as a danger to the public:

213
26/03/2012 (DAY55/am/72-73) 
20/03/2012 (DAY53/am/156)
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“You know, there are times when you will announce an arrest and there are times you may not, but there should be no reason for you to say, "And this man, this woman, are people who we are interested in and we are now pursuing a case against them." I can see no benefit in that and no reason for it I suppose the only caveat to that would be if you have someone who you believe is dangerous and is on the run, as we may find in France from the events of yesterday, is that if you have someone who you believe is a strong suspect in a case and if you do not arrest them quickly, with the public's assistance, then they will go on and hurt someone else or commit some very serious crime, then on those occasions -  and I think we used that in the -  we did use it in the Anthony Walker case, is that we put into the public domain who we were looking for”.̂ '̂*
182. Mr Trotter, of the British Transport Police and the C h air of the A C P O  

Com m unications Advisory C o de said in evidence that the general position should be 

that people who have been arrested should not be nam ed. His view  is that the police 

“shouldn’t be identifying people who have been arrested’̂ ^̂ . T his must plainly 

include not just naming the individuals but providing sufficient information to render 

them identifiable, a s  with Mr Jefferies who w as obviously the 65-year old man living 

in the street identified by the police.

183. Mr Trotter also suggested that the m edia ought to re d ress the position when

som eone who it had reported a s  having been arrested is released^^®:

MR TROTTER: Whilst it's the responsibility of the police to ensure that factual information is released, getting things right and redressing perhaps something that's been put out before lays with the media to ensure that they do redress something they may have said about someone's previous arrest or something such as that. In the public mind, someone being arrested could well be tantamount to the fact that there is some guilt, and if that's not to be the case, there must be someobligation on the media to redress that position”. 217

184. W hile the C P V s  accept that the position is more com plex regarding the position of 

the duties and responsibilities of the police in such circum stances, particularly when 

an individual has been arrested and though ch arg e s are dropped, the investigation is 

still continuing, the police are under a duty under s.6  of the Human Rights Act 1998 

as a public authority not to act in a w ay that is incom patible with the Article 8 rights of 

individuals. In certain situations, particularly w here there has been m edia coverage, 

that must include taking steps to set the record straight when individuals who w ere
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20/03/2012 (DAY53/am/27/17-18/8)
28/03/2012 (DAY57/am/46/18-19)
The issue of whether the police were also under a duty to correct the position if they had 
issued a public statement that someone had been arrested was raised.
28/03/2012 (DAY57/am/48/16-25)
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su sp e cts are found not to have been involved 218

185. From the C P V s ’ perspective it is regrettable that C om m issioner H ogan-How e and Mr 

Trotter’s view s are not fully reflected in the A C P O  G u idan ce (of which Mr Trotter is 

the author). T he C P V s  submit that this matter is best dealt with by Hom e Office 

G u idan ce to all police forces rather than guidance from A C P O  which is a private, 

unaccountable, body representing the interests of senior police officers rather than 

those of the public.

186. T he Inquiry also heard evidence of m edia intrusion on friends and family of victims 

during police investigations. DCI Jo n e s of Avon and Som erset C onstabulary stated 

that R e b e cca  Scott, Jo an n a  Y ates best friend, received over 160 telephone calls and 

the m edia w ere cam ped outside her house. There w ere at least 4 satellite vans 

parked outside C anyn ge Road, w here Ms Y ates lived, 24 hours a  day. H am pshire 

police intervened a s  they w ere threatening to arrest som e of the m edia for 

harassm ent. T here w as also evidence that the p re ss had paid people for 

information. Mr Jo n e s said that they w ere not w itn esses in the trial, they w ere 

m em bers of the public who lived nearby^^®.

187. T he reason for this m edia coverage, in reality, is that the p ress is le ss  concerned 

with acting as a  “public w atchdog” and more concerned with its com m ercial interests 

in selling new spapers. The Sun new s editor admitted to Avon & Som erset Police that 

the Jo a n n a  Y ates story “was selling newspapers and there was a strong drive from 
on high to keep the exclusives and the stories on the front page’’̂ °̂. P re ss coverage 

of investigations and arrests is often sensationalised and inaccurate. W hilst there is, 

of course, nothing wrong with the p ress promoting their own com m ercial interests 

these should not be confused with the public interest and the police should be astute 

to m ake this distinction in their dealings with the press.

188. T his is an important general point as the p re ss often se e k  to portray them selves as 

substitutes for the public, w hereas in fact they have very different interests to the 

public. O ne exam ple w here the interests of one m edia outlet w ere prioritised w as 

when Mr Haym an provided T he News of the W orld with footage of the effect the 

shoe bomb would have had after Mr W allis said he told him that if it went to the
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See 28/03/2012 (DAY57AM/50-51) for a discussion.
27/03/2012 (DAY56/am/91-92)
See Amanda Hirst, Head of Corporate Communications, Avon & Somerset Police, 27/03/2012 
(DAY56/pm/123)

65

MOD200021402



For Distribution to CPs

pap er’s w ebsite it “would go viral worldwide’’. It w as plainly wholly inappropriate that 

this video which w as of national public interest w as only provided by the M RS to The 

News of the W orld, who thereby gained highly valuable material for its w ebsite with 

all the additional com m ercial benefits of having ‘broken’ the story^^V

Div: Evidence of harmful effects on individuals

189. Police information that is leaked to the m edia can have drastic co n se q u e n ce s for the 

individuals involved. It can underm ine their confidence in police investigations in 

relation to which they may be victim s or w itnesses. It may infringe their privacy and 

dam age their reputations when m edia co verage relates to what are subsequently 

found to be unfounded allegations. It m ay c a u se  u n n e cessary  d istress to individuals 

who are h arassed  by the m edia b e ca u se  they are friends or w itn esses of a victim. 

Som e exam ples, such as that of the Law rence Family, Bryant Adam s, Moham m ed 

Amar, C h ris Jefferies and Jacq u i N am es have been referred to above and further 

exam ples that w ere before the Inquiry are set out below. How ever this evidence 

provides only a very sm all snapshot of what is a very significant problem in an area 

where, understandably, m any victim s are very reluctant to com e forward to give 

evidence, which has the inevitable co n se q u e n ce  of inviting further m edia com m ent 

about a traumatic time in their lives^^^.

190. T he fact that the police leak information to the m edia underm ines public confidence 

in the integrity of investigations. For exam ple, Ja n e  W inter e xp resse d  a “general 

u n e a se ” that the investigation into her claim that her email w as hacked w as being led 

by the M RS when it w as her understanding that officers from the sam e force w ere 

being investigated for passing information to the press.^^^ T he risk of police leaks 

may m ake victim s reluctant to com e forward, particularly if they are individuals who 

are well known to the public.

221

223

The response of Neil Wallis when questioned about this in suggesting that “ i t  w a s  r a t h e r  a  

g o o d  i d e a ” because it subsequently appeared in other newspapers and on television misses 
the point completely, see 02/04/2012, (DAY59/pm/9-11)
Reports and photographs of ‘celebrity’ arrests is an obvious example where the Inquiry will be 
well aware of the frequency of such reports in the media despite the difficulty in obtaining this 
formal evidence.
Supplementary Witness Statement of Jane Winter, 21/02/2012 ^3. S e e  a l s o ,  Witness 
Statement of Bryan Adams dated 21/02/2012. He describes seeing a report in The Sun that 
he had been the victim of stalking only after he had reported it to the Metropolitan Police. It 
was his view that the information could not have come from anybody other than a source 
within the police. Mr. Adams made the point that on no occasion has he had any problems 
with leaks to the press when he dealt with his local police station.
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191. Leaks under the gu ise of “unnam ed police so u rc e s” in the P re ss can c a u se  serious 

dam age to individuals. In addition to the exam ples set out above, another is given by 

M a g n u s B o yd , the lawyer who represented Tamil hunger-striker, P a ra m e sw a ra n  

S u b ra m a n y a m  in his su cce ssfu l libel claim  against the Daily Mail.^ "̂  ̂ The article, 

written by Stephen W right w as entitled: “Hunger Striker’s £7m Big Mac” and accu sed  

Mr Subram anyam  of secretly eating burgers while on hunger strike. T he article 

quoted its so u rces as being a “Scotland Yard surveillance team ”, a “police insider” 

and other “senior so u rc e s” in support of its claim s against Mr Subram anyam . This 

obviously lent the story greater credibility and the public w ere more inclined to 

believe it.̂ ^̂

192. W hen Mr S ubram an yan ’s legal team contacted the M PS  Superintendent running the 

operation it w as told the ch arg e s attributed to “police s o u rc e s” in the article w ere 

entirely false.^^® Mr Subram anyan subsequently su ccee d e d  in his claim for dam ages 

against the Daily Mail. T his incident w as put to Stephen Wright, the author of the 

article during his evidence to the Inquiry. He confirm ed that the information had com e 

from unauthorised “police so u rc e s” and that he had not verified their truth. Although 

Mr. W right had contacted Scotland Yard before running the piece, they had sim ply 

declined to comment. He admitted that it had been the “wrong call” to run the article 

without confirmation that the information he received w as c o r r e c t . M r .  

Subram anyam  suffered significant dam age to his reputation as a  result of this “wrong 

call”: he w as perceived as a liar and a fraud in the Tamil com m unity and received 

death threats as a result of the article.^^®

193. S e a n  B e lle w , director of Atelier P R  Ltd and a public relations adviser to Vincent 

Tchenguiz, explained how when Mr Tchenguiz w as arrested on 9 March 2011 

following a 7am  dawn raid carried out by the City of London Police (“C L P ”) and the 

S erio us Fraud Office (“S F O ”) a s  part of the S F O  investigation into the co llap se of the 

Icelandic bank Kaupthing, a photographer from A ssociated N ew spapers had been 

“tipped off” and w as present outside the building from 5am^^®. Mr Bellew also stated 

that it w as clear from the timing of the stories on 9 March 2011 that both Bloomberg 

and the Financial T im es w ere also “tipped off”̂ °̂. Mr T chenguiz w as released on 9
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W/S of Magnus Boyd, 22/02/2012 
W/S of Magnus Boyd, 22/02/2012 % 2-3.
W/S of Magnus Boyd, 22/02/2012 % 4 .  

Stephen Wright, 15/03/2012 (DAY51/pm/31). 
W/S of Magnus Boyd, 22/02/2012 % 3.
W/S of Sean Bellew, 10 and 24 
W/S of Sean Bellow, 25
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March 2011 without charge.

194. Mr B ellew ’s evidence is that the only people who would (or should) have had this 

information w ere the S F O , the C L P  and the Icelandic investigators. He and Mr 

Tchenguiz believe that it must have been a so urce within the S F O  and/or the C LP . It 

app ears that the S F O  had conducted an enquiry into the leak and there w as no 

evidence that cam e to light to support it being an S F O  leak. However, it is clear that 

there w as som e leak and this fact ra ise s very serio u s co n cern s as the Daily Mail 

covered the story of the raid in huge detail with 5 stories on 10 May 2011 and a 

further front page “sp la sh ” on the 11 May 2011 when the story w as “old new s”. Mr 

Tchenguiz co n sid ers that A ssociated N ew spapers are determ ined to destroy his 

reputation through the publication of num erous articles, most of which are the subject 

of a legal com plaint by his solicitors^^V

195. T he N GO  “Inquest” has raised co n cerns about instances w here there have been 

leaks by the IP C C  to the m edia in relation to c a s e s  that it has been investigating. In 

addition. Inquest docum ents a failure on the part of the IP C C  to challenge 

information provided by the police and reported in the m edia when the IP C C  knew 

that the information given w as inaccurate.^^^

(i) O ne exam ple cited by Inquest relates to the Je a n  C h arle s de M enezes ca se . 

Here the IP C C  did not correct inaccurate information put into the public 

dom ain by the police after Mr de M enezes w as shot -  for exam ple, the false 

information that he w as wearing a bulky jacket and had jum ped the ticket 

barrier. Ironically, it w as only as a result of a leak from the IP C C  that the 

inaccuracy of this information cam e out at all.^^  ̂ W hen asked about this 

during her evidence, Ja n e  F u rn iss of the IP C C  said that sh e believed the 

misinformation stem m ed from journalists asking m em bers of the public who 

had w itnessed the shooting to give a description of Mr de M enezes. The 

inaccurate information provided w as subsequently reported a s  fact by senior 

police officers. In her view this w as not surprising as “the thirst for information 
is greatest when we aii know ieast, and peopie are inciined to answer 
questions they might be better not answering that point.’’̂ '̂̂  A s to the leaked 

information, Ms Fu rn iss said that this cau se d  “considerabie damage’’ to the 

organisation and that, although leaked in the interests of the family, if the staff

231
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W/S of Sean Bellew, 27
Inquest Statement to Leveson Inquiry, Module 2 [28 March 212] “Inquest Statement”, 57. 
Inquest Statement, 35.
Jane Furniss, 28/03/2012 (DAY57/am/21).
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m em ber in question had not resigned sh e would have been subject to gro ss 

m isconduct proceedings.^^^

(ii) Sim ilarly inaccurate information w as given in an M RS p ress re lease relating 

to Ian Tom linson which presented an unbalanced and inaccurate picture of 

the circum stances surrounding his death by failing to mention that there had 

been police contact with Mr Tom linson prior to his death and exaggerating 

the account of the throwing of bottles by protestors at police while they w ere 

adm inistering first aid.^^® It is believed that this p ress re lease w as agreed with 

the IP C C  prior to its publication, although Ms F u rn iss w as unable to verify this 

when asked about it during her evidence.

(iii) T he final exam ple highlighted by Inquest relates to the shooting of Mark 

Duggan. Here, the IP C C  stated that there had been an exch ang e of fire when 

this turned out not to have been the case.^®® Ms F u rn iss placed som e of the 

blam e at the door of the p re ss and their desire for an alm ost immediate 

turnaround of information after the fact. In her view, there are real difficulties 

faced by p re ss officers when confronted with such a persistent and new s 

hungry p ress but one which is extrem ely quick to criticize when information is 

incorrect.^®® S h e accepted that her p re ss officer should not have given this 

information and that an apology and a correction w ere issued a s  soon a s  the 

error w as k n o w n . C C  Andrew  Trotter accepted in his respo n se to 

questions that there should be consultation with the family before any 

statem ent about a death in custody is released by the police.

S u m m a ry  C o n c lu s io n

196. T he Inquiry has heard evidence of a  sector of the p ress exercising pernicious and 

w ide-ranging influence on the M RS and its senior officers. T his led to an 

inappropriate relationship in which officers becam e clo se to tabloid editors to obtain 

better co verage and entry into an exciting world of lavish dinners. Editors and 

reporters used these contacts and influences to obtain information and advantage for 

their n ew sp ap e rs’ com m ercial gain. In the a b se n ce of clear or appropriate policies or 

guidance, som e officers have followed the lead of senior M RS officers and failed to 

challenge inappropriate m edia behaviour or fully to investigate m edia crim es. The
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Jane Furniss, 28/03/2012 (DAY57/am/22-23). 
Inquest Statement, 45.
Jane Furniss, 28/03/2012 (DAY57/am/24) 
Inquest Statement, 50 
Jane Furniss, 28/03/2012 (DAY57/am/25-26) 
Jane Furniss, 28/03/2012 (DAY57/am/25)
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public and the victim s have been given the im pression that the m edia are too 

powerful to be confronted and that the police may not act independently. That is a 

very dangerous situation and without decisive m easu re s it will continue to dam age 

the crim inal justice system  and press. It does a d isservice to the majority of 

journalists who wrote independently about the police in the public interest, and police 

officers who w ere not sed u ced into a potentially corrupt relationship with senior 

editors, or influenced by it.
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S e c t io n  2 -  R e c o m m e n d a t io n s

197. T his section is divided into A - recom m endations for ch an g es in practices in the police 

force and B - recom m endations for ch an g e s to practices in the p ress. The 

recom m endations are intended to help elim inate the unethical culture and practices 

and their co n se q u e n ce s set out in the preceding narrative sections. Som e initial 

suggestions a s  to practical and procedural ch an g e s are made, but it is recognised 

that m any will require consultation or legislative change. T he C P V s  urge the Inquiry 

to adopt these recom m endations in its final report.

198. T he C P V s  strongly support the introduction of an independent p re ss regulator, with 

statutory underpinning, which has sufficient pow ers to inhibit intrusive, unethical and 

unlawful practices, and to provide sanctions for breach es of its C o de and proper 

rem edies for individuals or groups affected by such breaches. T he recom m endations 

below are m ade in the expectation of a new, effective p ress regulator.

A. R E C O M M E N D A T IO N S  F O R  P O L IC E  S E R V IC E

A ( 1 )  P o lic ie s

Introduction

199. T he HM IC report found there w ere “stark and concern/ng'” inconsistencies in Police 

policies acro ss the 44 forces. It w as noted that m any policies w ere inadequate or 

inadequately enforced^'^V T he report stated “The absence of clarity in the boundaries 
of relationships with the media represents a significant gap across the service” 
Without adequate guidance or enforcem ent, policies are ignored and the culture and 

value s of the organisation are confused and led by the behaviour of senior officers, 

particularly those in the M PS. A s set out above, that behaviour w as som etim es 

unethical and reprehensible. T he C P V s  recom m end a com plete overhaul of policies 

governing police relationships with the media.

HMIC Report ‘Without fear or favour -  a review of police relationships’ December 2011 pages 
40-42 and page 60

HMIC Report, page 15
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Mandatory system  of recording contact with the media

200. T he record should be transparent, publicly d isclo sable and regularly audited. It should 

include the sum m ary details of the meeting (date, location, length, parties) and note 

the sum m ary content of the conversation (in a form which could be redacted for 

public d isclo sure when strictly n e ce ssary  to protect confidentiality or for good 

operational reasons). T he records should be in a consistent form so as to m ake 

auditing easier. In the M RS police officers should d isclo se and keep the DPA 

informed of out of office contact they have with the media, sa ve  w here such contacts 

would be considered to be ‘de m inim is’.

201. There w as little opposition to this recom m endation from the police w itnesses. It w as 

clear that it can work in practice and is supported by new C om m issioner Bernard 

Hogan Howe (p.31). He disagreed that it would lead to a chilling effect and said that 

the principle is to establish an open and accountable relationship with the press. The 

operation of it in the first few months d o es not appear to have produced great 

bureaucracy. T he random sam pling further down the organisation has shown that the 

sam e num ber of contacts are taking place. T he proposal w as also supported by the 

H M IC in its report.

202. A proper record would m ake notoriously difficult leak investigations easier. It has also 

been used to protect officers, for exam ple, by Chief C onstable Vaughan who used the 

record to challenge the a ccu racy  of a story in the press. Chief C onstable Vaughan 

said he did not se e  it a s  overly onerous and that police officers are in the b u sin e ss of 

recording evidence. It is plainly important that open and healthy relationships are 

supported and that a system  for recording contact should be seen in that context, not 

as a barrier.

203. T he C P V s  also recom m end an end to private briefings for select groups of journalists 

such as those in the C R A . Briefings should be open to all who have a legitimate and 

proper interest and all sectors of the m edia should be invited to attend. Personal 

relationships with crim e reporters or editors should be treated a s  notifiable 

associations.

Gifts and hospitaiity poiicy

204. T he failures in the current policy are dealt with above at paragraphs 3 7  - 52. A clear.
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consistently applied, national policy in relation to the accep tance of gifts or hospitality 

is urgently required. Paul M cKeever, Chairm an of the Police Federation, agreed that 

Officers need guidance on hospitality at a national level "̂^ .̂ Chief C onstable Sim s 

said the policy needs to concentrate on w here the gift has com e from and what 

implicit expectations com e with it and what the public might think̂ "̂ "̂ .

205. T he policy should include the following elem ents:

(1) T he presum ption should be firmly against accepting exp en sive m eals, 

presents or drinks. There should only be rare exceptions clearly identified in 

the policy.

(2) T he gifts and hospitality register should be regularly audited and checked 

against officers’ diaries. T here should be appropriate penalties for breach of 

the policy.

(3) T he gifts and hospitality register should alw ays be cro ss-ch eck ed  in any 

procurem ent process.

Policies governing provision of information to media

206. T he policies governing provision of information to the m edia should be issued by the 

Hom e Office nationally and consistently applied. A C P O  is a non-accountable private 

body which should not be given the responsibility for issuing such guidance to the 

police. T he C P V s  note Ms Filkin’s key m e ssag e 5 that “it has not been sufficiently 
clear to police officers and staff what principles should underpin contact with the 
media”. T he H M IC report noted that only 3 out of 44 forces have a policy or 

guidance about the integrity of relationships with the m edia generally and found that 

“few forces had these issues on their radar’̂ '̂ .̂

207. T he C P V s  recom m end that the practice of taking m ed ia on o p e ra tio n s  is generally 

prohibited and only permitted in exceptional circum stances w ere there are clear 

public interest re aso n s to do so. In such c a s e s  there should be a written record m ade 

in advance of the re aso ns why the public interest in allowing the m edia to accom pany 

the police outweighed the Article 8 and Article 6 rights of the subject of the 

operations. T h e se  would not include the m ere fact that the subject is well-known. Any 

such operations must be subject to a strict and enforceable policy which en su re s that 

victim s w o u ld  not be identified in any subsequent m edia publications. T he current

243
244
245

02/04/2012 (DAY59/am/14) 
20/03/2012 (DAY53/pm/193)
HMIC report page 4
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guidance and the risks it creates are dealt with above at paragraphs 1 7 1 - 1 7 8 .  Mr 

Trotter, the author of the A C P O  m edia guidance, said that this issu e  is not going to be 

add re sse d  by the new guidance due to com e out in April 2012 but will be add ressed 

later a s  a result of the Inquiry’s Report T his is therefore an issu e about which the 

Inquiry needs to m ake recom m endations.

208. T ip p in g  off -  alerting the m edia to the arrest of a fam ous or notorious person - 

should be prohibited. Tip offs, even w here no m oney ch an g e s hands, represent a 

potential conflict of interest a s  the advance notice g ives a huge com m ercial 

advantage to a m edia outlet desperate for e xclu sive s in an increasingly competitive 

environment. T he risks to the reputational rights of the person accu se d  are clear, and 

the m edia is not usually as interested in reporting any subsequent decision not to 

charge an arrested person.

209. T he C P V s  recom m end that the practice of ‘back door’ id e n tific a tio n  of s u s p e c t s  is 

prohibited (se e  paragraphs 179  - 188 above). T he current A C P O  guidance sim ply 

recites the inappropriate practice of not volunteering but confirming the nam es of 

those arrested. It permits the release of information which could lead to identification 

of innocent people. T his is contrary to the view s held by the C urrent Com m issioner, 

Hogan-How e and Mr Trotter, w hose view s are that su sp ects should not be identified 

(se e  paragraphs 181 -  182 above). A clear Hom e Office policy should state that 

(save in exceptional and clearly identified circum stances) the nam es or identifying 

details of those who are suspected or arrested should not be released to the p re ss or 

the public.

Leaks

210. Leaks to the m edia are serious and can have very grave co n se q u e n ce s; this does not 

appear to be appreciated by the police generally. Roger Baker from the H M IC gave 

evidence that leak investigations are m ade more difficult by “the fact that there is a 
sloppiness of rules about what is permissible and what isn’t’̂ '*̂  and stressed that 

national guidance is needed^"^®. T he M PS has not provided appropriate leadership 

and the widely held view  that the D PA  briefed selectively and som etim es improperly, 

as noted by Ms Filkin, has influenced the w hole of the M PS. T he Police Standards of 

Professional B ehaviour deals with confidentiality, but the Standards are not being

246 28/03/2012 (DAY57/am/57) 
05/03/2012 (DAY45/pm/163/174)
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consistently applied and guidance is not well understood. Leaks policy needs to be 

brought up to date with guidance by the Hom e Office and sanctions for breach need 

to be m ade clear.

211. T he questions put by the C P V s  to Roger Baker in respect of P N C  leaks (at Appendix 

2) show  that there is an ongoing issu e of inappropriate a c c e s s  to the PN C. The 

recom m ended level of audits is not taking place acro ss the country. T he num ber of 

people with a c c e s s  to PN C  data is too large and the C P V s  recom m end that the rules 

around a c c e s s  are tightened. For exam ple, a c c e s s  co d es should be regularly 

changed in each force to en su re that only those entitled to a c c e s s  the com puter do 

so.

212. Inquest gave evidence about police leaks designed to sm ear victim s in the context of 

deaths in custody or allegations of police brutality. Any statem ents m ade by the 

police should only be m ade in consultation with the family. At present com plaints 

about such leaks are dealt with internally by the relevant force. T he C P V s  

recom m end that they should be incorporated into any Article 2 com pliant investigation 

being carried out by the IP C C  in order to ensure independence and to prevent 

inefficiencies ca u se d  by twin track investigations.

A  (2) R e c o m m e n d a tio n s  fo r p ro c e d u ra l c h a n g e s  to s u p p o rt  im p le m e n ta tio n s of new  
p o lic ie s

Guidance and complaints

213.  T he C P V s  recom m end the IP C C  is s u e  sta tu to ry  g u id a n c e  using pow ers under s.22 

of the Police Reform Act 2002. T he IP C C  has the power to issu e recom m endations 

and give advice in relation to matters within its remit, including anything which g o es to 

the deterrence of m isconduct or com plaints about m isconduct or disciplinary matters. 

T he recom m endations and advice must be followed by those to whom it refers and so 

can give a firm statutory b a sis  for matters which are not explicitly referred to in 

Standards of Professional Behaviour. See Appendix 3 for relevant extracts of the Act.

214. Police officers are entitled to c o m p la in  to th e IP C C  about other officers who breach 

policies or who may be guilty of m isconduct. They should be encouraged to use this 

system , and be entitled to anonymity in certain circum stances. They should be 

formally protected from any subsequent victimisation. Internal police com plaints
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about the behaviour of police officers in relation to the m edia should be s u p e rv is e d  

b y  the IP C C .

Professional standards

215. T he C P V s  recom m end am endm ent of the S ta n d a rd s  of P ro fe s s io n a l B e h a v io u r to 

stress the im portance of ap p earan ce s when considering the issu e of conflicts and 

independence. T he G uide to the C o de of Conduct for M em bers of Parliam ent m akes 

it clear that the purpose of registering financial interests is to avoid any paym ent 

which might reasonably be thought to affect the conduct of a Member. The 

im portance of a p p earan ce s is not fully reflected in the police S tandards and the HM IC 

report stre sse s the im portance of this a s  a guiding principle for the Police.^"^® The 

clo se relationships between police and m edia which have cau se d  such public disquiet 

w ere mostly forged outside police working hours and it should be m ade clear that the 

Standards and policies apply on or off duty (the current Standards say  that there 

should not be any discreditable conduct off duty, but it is unlikely that would 

en co m p ass clo se social relationships with the m edia). Home Office or IP C C  

guidance to T he Standards should clarify the w ay in which the Standards apply to 

relationships with the media. B reach es of policies should be treated as a disciplinary 

matter

Whistleblowing

216. Public interest journalism  and tough m edia investigations into wrongdoing are a vital 

part of dem ocratic accountability. A s the Chairm an pointed out, a m echanism  is 

needed which allow s for safe d iscu ssio n  between police and m edia which w orks for 

the public interest, respects freedom of expression but respects the integrity of the 

investigation, so a s  to avoid problem s like that which occurred in the Law rence 

i n v e s t i g a t i o n . T h e  C P V s  recom m end a new whistleblowing system  so a s  to protect 

those police officers who report wrongdoing to the media. T he current M PS system  

(Rightline) is considered by Elizabeth Filkin following her interviews with officers to be 

neither trusted nor properly used. That view is also taken by the HM IC in its re p o rP V

217. T he C P V s  consid er that whistleblowing is such an important counterbalance to the 

stricter policies on contact with the m edia recom m ended above that it should be dealt 

with by an independent external body and propose that the IP C C  to use its statutory

251 HMIC Report p.54
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oversight remit to provide this service.

218. A police whistleblowing system operated by the IPCC would need to be supported by 

an “ethics line” which could be used as part of the system, so that an officer would be 

able to call the line anonymously for confidential ethical guidance, or advice on the 

existence of and proper application of the policies (see recommendation below at 

paragraph 2 2 1 ).

219. Lord Macdonald pointed out the inherent difficulties in insisting that an internal 

procedure is exhausted firsP^, and it may be that the policy should allow for direct 

access to the media on occasion. This could be supported by advice from the ethics 

line which could then be referred to as a mitigating feature or in support of a defence 

(not an entire defence) to misconduct proceedings if the officer was subsequently 

accused of improper leaking.

220. A clear and consistent definition of the public interest should be applied, and this 

should be reflected in any new guidance to the press so that the role of the media to 

seek out and report problems or wrongdoing within the Police Service is supported

E t h ic s  g u id a n c e

221. The conduct codes in the police are geared around disciplinary proceedings or 

complaints to the IPCC which can lead to a recommendation of a sanction for 

misconduct. “Soft” mechanisms for cultural change, providing guidance and 

education and reinforcing positive messages are very much less well understood and 

little used in the police service. The CPVs support Ms Filkin’s recommendation for a 

senior officer to be appointed ethics champion, and call for the work to be properly 

resourced, and supported by an ethics iine to provide confidential advice to police 

officers on the interpretation of policies and on ethical dilemmas. This could be used 

in conjunction with the whistleblowing policy (see para 216 above).

222. The CPVs also support the HMiC integrity check iist appended to its report'.253

T ra in in g

04/04/2012 (DAY61/am/ 88)
HMIC report page18 and appendix B
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223. The CPVS recommend a national training scheme for officers, including junior 

officers, to reinforce the messages of the new policies and ethics guidance in relation 

to media contact.

224. The CPVs also agree with the HMIC that senior leaders need specific training in 

integrity issues and support the proposal for these issues to form part of the training 

on the Strategic Command Course and the High Potential Development Scheme

A (3) National register of crimes committed by media

225. Although questions were asked of most police officers, none recognised “media 

crime” as a specific category. The DPP gave evidence that no media organisations 

or journalists had been prosecuted during his tenure. The HMIC report made it clear 

that anti-corruption activity is focused on the possibility of corrupt relationships with 

organised crime rather than the media.

226. It is not the case that the media are peculiarly law-abiding. The Inquiry has heard 

evidence of potentially unlawful data access on a massive scale by nearly all press 

organisations (Motorman, Glade, Reproof), unlawful interception of voicemails by 

News International on almost the same scale (Operation Weeting), of e-mail 

accessing (Operation Tuleta) and of a continuing and serious conspiracy of payments 

by journalists to police and other public officials for information (Operation Elveden). 

In Module 1 the Inquiry heard evidence of intrusion and bullying, some of which 

amounted to unlawful harassment. Editors and newspaper lawyers did not appear to 

take some of these allegations very seriously, and it appears that unlawful behaviour 

continues (for example, Alastair Brett’s evidence of e-mail hacking at The Times, 

evidence of unlawful access to the Westminster Registry for details of a birth, 

evidence of Paul Dacre in relation to Operation Glade). The evidence in relation to 

the continuing use of improperly obtained confidential information was confusing and 

incomplete.

227. The lack of success in prosecutions, the scarcity of prosecutions of media crimes and 

the failure of police and newspapers to appreciate the seriousness of such crimes 

suggest that there should be a national strategy -  in which crimes committed by the 

media are specifically identified and logged and audited nationally. This would help 

to iron out the differences in approach the Inquiry has heard about, ensure that the 

police were seen to be even-handed in their approach to the media, and give the
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police some protection when it came to investigating powerful media organisations 

with a megaphone to the public.

228. Importantly, this would also give protection to the press as a co-ordinated national 

approach could ensure that Article 10 rights were taken into consideration and that 

public interest defences were applied in a proper and consistent way. The DPP 

should give guidance as to the proper application of these defences and the 

appropriate criteria for prosecution. A national register and strategy would allow 

media organisations access to information so as to monitor how such crimes were 

being approached and recognise any potential backlash.

A (4) Split in the function of the MPS Department of Pubiic Affairs

229. The Inquiry heard evidence about extreme sensitivity in the MPS to potential 

reputational damage and how this distorted the approach to the whole of the media, 

particularly tabloid newspapers. Much of this was driven by the DPA. This is 

described above at paragraphs 1 9 - 2 1  and its consequences are explained at 

paragraphs 32 -  36.

230. The CPVs recommend that the MPS Department of Public Affairs is divided into two 

sections: one to cover matters such as corporate reputation management, branding, 

and so on, and the other to deal with contact with journalists, the provision of 

information about operations to the media, requests for co-operation in national 

appeals and so on. This is intended to avoid the blurring of boundaries which has led 

to inappropriate relationships in the past.

A (5) Cooling off period before empioyment as journaiist/private investigator

231. The closeness of relationships between the MPS and the media was reinforced by 

the traffic of personnel between police and press (see above paragraphs 61 - 68). 

As is well known, private investigators sometimes use improper or illegal methods to 

obtain confidential information to pass on to the media. The private investigator 

industry is a significant employer of ex police officers and the Inquiry is aware of the 

role played by police officer private investigators in the Jonathan Rees matter.

232. The CPVs recommend the introduction of restraint of trade clauses on retirement or 

leaving the Police Service. Bernard Hogan-Howe suggested that the period before
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any police officer leaving the MRS joins a media employment should be 12 months to

2 years . The CPVs agree that 2 years is an appropriate cooling off period before 

employment with the media or as a private investigator working with the media.

233. The HMIC report refers to the fact that some forces permit officers to take second 

jobs with the media or as private investigators whilst being employed as police 

officers^^ .̂ In light of the evidence to this Inquiry, that should not be permitted for any 

serving police officer. The risks of inappropriate use of the PNC or leakage of 

confidential information are far too high.

234. The CPVs also recommend that any new IPCC or Home Office guidance in support 

of the Standards of Professional Behaviour should stress that any confidential or 

operational information obtained as a result of service should not be used for any 

other purpose.

A(6) New methods of engaging with the pubiic

235. The evidence indicated that the Police Service as a whole was very anxious about its 

reputation and about the power of the tabloid media to attack and injure its senior 

members (see, for example, paragraphs 24 - 31). That has created excessive 

deference to and reliance upon certain sectors of the national press.

236. The CPVs recommend that the police service nationally encourages alternative direct 

ways of engaging with the public -  online, via local radio and press - to reduce its 

reliance on the national press. It was apparent from the evidence that some officers, 

particularly the DPA at the MRS, treated a few commercial companies as 

synonymous with the public, and education and training in alternative means of 

communication are necessary to overcome that presumption.

237. The HMIC report identified a lack of training and guidance in relation to the use of 

social media siteŝ ®̂. The CPVs recommend clear unambiguous guidance on the 

boundaries between professional duties and private life in the context of social media 

and interactions with the media.

B RECOMMENDATIONS APPLICABLE TO THE PRESS

254

255

256

20/03/2012 (DAY53/am/58). 
HMIC report page 14 
HMIC report page 15
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B (1) Custodial sentences for breaches s.55 Data Protection Act 1998

238. It was clear that press lobbying against custodial sentences was intense, and that 

the lack of a custodial sentence in appropriate cases has had serious consequences 

(see ICO evidence, Glade, Reproof). The introduction of a custodial sentence (which 

can now be done simply by way of Statutory Instrument) was supported by Richard 

Thomas and Jack Straw among others. There can be little argument against this. 

Journalists are protected from prosecution or conviction where they obtain or procure 

private information for legitimate reasons by the existence of the public interest 

defence.

239. The DPP should issue clear guidance in conjunction with the introduction of custodial 

sentences, which is incorporated into the new Press Code, so that journalists are 

clear about when their activities are legitimate and when they might be considered 

unlawful and liable to be prosecuted.

240. The CPVs also recommend a regulatory sanction for breaches of the Data
Protection Act 1998 to reinforce s.55 where it is not in the public interest to 

prosecute, or it is unlikely that a breach could be proven to the criminal standard.

241. The CPVs recommend better co-operation between the ICO and the police in the 

investigation of Data Protection Act crimes, and the allocation of appropriate 

resources to investigate breaches of data protection legislation.

B (2) Complaints under new regulatory system

242. A new regulatory system should include the right for the police to complain about 

inappropriate publications or intrusive behaviour by the press which interfere in Police 

operations or in the rights of individuals where there is no proper public interest. This 

proposal is supported by CC Andrew Trotter in his response to questions at Appendix

1.

243. There should also be the means for affected or representative groups to complain to 

the regulator about their representation in the media and for the regulator to be able 

to refer the police to the IPCC for the provision of false or confidential information. 

For example. Inquest should be able to complain about smears of people who died in
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custody, campaign groups representing minority groups who are regularly vilified in 

the press with the assistance of the police such as travellers or asylum seekers 

should be able to complain to the press regulator who could then refer the police to 

the IPCC.

B (3) Advice to the Press on how to report crime in the new Press Code

244. The CPVs recommend clear rules in any new Press Code on identifying suspects, 

treatment of victims and witnesses, and advice about avoiding contempt and 

protecting the integrity of the judicial system and the rights of individuals. These 

should be co-ordinated with the new police policies suggested above on identifying 

suspects, accompanying police on operations and leaks. Persistent or deliberate 

breaches without clear public interest defences should be subject to sanction.

B (4) Regulation and licensing of private investigators

245. The evidence has revealed a systematic pattern of the media using private 

investigators to conduct illegal searches and obtain information unlawfully or 

improperly. This appears to have been an attempt to provide a layer of deniability for 

the media who were the customers of this practice and who “drove the trade” in 

confidential information. Confidential information is extremely valuable and it is 

inevitable that media organisations will use the services provided by private 

investigators. The issue of regulating and licensing private investigators is therefore 

crucial.

246. This issue was of concern to HMIC in its report and is currently under consideration 

by a Home Affairs Select Committee. HMIC noted that there may be as many as

10,000 people working as private investigators in the country^^ .̂ It also noted, that 

the Crime Reporters Association said that reporters consider that they have a 

responsibility and accountability to their employers to ensure that everything the 

private detective does on their behalf is legitimate and within the laŵ ®̂.

247. However, that does not appear to happen. The Association of British Investigators 

(ABI) is quoted by HMIC as saying that the activities of informants or blaggers cannot 

be considered legitimate as they handle illegal information and have a narrow skill set

257

258
HMIC Report page 32 
HMIC Report page 32
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and sell on the information, particularly to newspapers as they tend to pay well. The 

ABI said “t h e y  a r e  n o  m o r e  p r iv a t e  in v e s t ig a t o r s  th a n  b u r g ia r s ”.^^  ̂ In evidence to the 

Inquiry, editors and journalists said they did not know and had no reason to know that 

private detectives were behaving unlawfully, even after Mr Whittamore had been 

convicted. No details were given of any steps taken to verify the position. Their 

statements are not credible.

248. The CPVs recommend that any private investigators used by the media must be 

members of the ABI, or of any new licensed system which is to be recommended by 

the Select Committee. This should be a requirement of the new Press Code which 

should also regulate the use of Private Investigators for all information gathering. 

They should only be used rarely and for legitimate specialist work. The media should 

take proper steps to carry out due diligence and satisfy themselves that the work 

done is proper, and should be liable to sanction or civil claim if they do not do so.

Summary Conclusion to Recommendations

249. It is clear from the evidence to the that firm and decisive action is needed to reassure 

the public that the concerning aspects of the culture, practices and ethics of the press 

in their relationship with the police will change and that this relationship in future will 

be a transparent, balanced and appropriate one. The CPVs submit that these 

recommendations would deal with the concerns and failures in the relationship 

between the Press and the Police that have been identified in Section 1 of these 

Submissions.

Sara Mansoori 
Matrix Chambers

Tamsin Allen 

Bindmans LLP 

28 May 2012

259 HMIC report page 33
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A P P E N D IX  1

CHIEF CONSTABLE ANDREW TROTTER’S ANSWERS TO WRITTEN 

QUESTIONS PROVIDED BY THE CPVs

Guidance on media handling and communication activity at major incidents

Question 1

T h e  G u id a n c e  e n c o u r a g e s  v e r y  c l o s e  c o - o p e r a t io n  w ith th e  m e d ia ,  s a y in g  th a t th e  m e d ia  

s h o u l d  b e  a c c o m m o d a t e d  a n d  h e lp e d ,  th a t s p a c e  a n d  t im e  s h o u l d  b e  m a d e  f o r  th e m  a t  a n  

e a r ly  s t a g e  (p. 1 9 0 2 ),  a n d  th a t r e q u e s t s  fo r  a c c e s s  to in c id e n t  s c e n e s  s h o u l d  b e  p a s s e d  to th e  

S I O  w h o  “s h o u l d  a llo w  a c c e s s  in  a p p r o p r ia t e  c a s e s  a s  s o o n  a s  p r a c t ic a b le ”, (p. 1 9 0 3 ).

A r e  th e  r ig h t s  o f  v ictim s, w it n e s s e s  a n d  s u s p e c t s  c o n s id e r e d  w h e n  m a k in g  a  d e c is io n  ?  D o  

y o u  n o t  a g r e e  th a t a ll o f  t h e s e  c a t e g o r ie s  o f  in d iv id u a ls  h a v e  A rt ic le  8  r ig h t s  to p r iv a c y  a n d  

th e  p o l ic e  a s  a  p u b l ic  a u t h o rity  n e e d  to r e s p e c t  t h e s e  r ig h t s ?  S u s p e c t s  a ls o  h a v e  A rt ic le  6  

rig h ts. If  th is  h a s  b e e n  c o n s id e r e d  w h e r e  is  th e  g u id a n c e ?

T he A C P O  G u idan ce on M edia Handling and Com m unication Activity at Major Incidents w as 

implemented in Septem ber 2008, when the A C P O  M edia Advisory G roup G u idan ce Notes of 

2003 w ere current. T he question ignores the contents of this earlier general guidance which 

sets out the relevant legal fram ework and refers specifically to the rights to a fair trial and 

respect for privacy enshrined in Articles 6 and 8 of the Hum an Rights Act 1998. T he general 

notes contain sections devoted to su sp ects and also the victim s or w itn esses of crim e 

respectively.

For exam ple at paragraph 1.1 at page 32, the following explanation is given in relation to 

victim s and w itnesses: T h e  m a in  p u r p o s e  o f  th is  n o t e  is  to c la r ify  th e  p r o c e d u r e  c o n c e r n in g  

th e  f re e  flo w  o f  in fo rm a tio n  b e t w e e n  th e  P o l ic e  S e r v ic e  a n d  th e  m e d ia . A ll f o r c e s  try  to 

a c h ie v e  a  b a la n c e  b e t w e e n  th e ir  p o l ic ie s  o f  o p e n n e s s  in  g iv in g  full a n d  a c c u r a t e  in fo rm a tio n  

to th e  m e d ia ,  a n d  th e ir  r e s p o n s ib il it ie s  f o r  v ictim  c a r e  t o g e t h e r  w ith le g it im a te  r ig h t s  to
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p e r s o n a l  p r iv a c y  u n d e r p in n e d  b y  th e  D a ta  P r o t e c t io n  a n d  H u m a n  R ig h t s  A c ts . T h e s e ,  

t o g e t h e r  w ith th e  c o m m o n  law , h a v e  b e e n  t a k e n  fu lly  in to  a c c o u n t  in  p r e p a r in g  th is  n o te .

T he guidance on m edia handling at major incidents is limited to m ajor incidents as the nam e 

describes. A  m a jo r  in c id e n t  is  a n y  e m e r g e n c y  ( in c lu d in g  k n o w n  o r  s u s p e c t e d  a c t s  o f  

t e r ro r is m ) th a t r e q u ir e s  th e  im p le m e n t a t io n  o f  s p e c ia l  a r r a n g e m e n t s  b y  o n e  o r  a ll o f  th e  

e m e r g e n c y  s e r v ic e s ,  a n d  w ill g e n e r a l ly  in c lu d e  th e  in v o lv e m e n t,  e it h e r  d ir e c t ly  o r  in d ire ctly , o f  

la r g e  n u m b e r s  o f  p e o p le .  (S e e  definition at top of page 4 of the guidance.) They are 

generally on going em ergencies on a large sca le  w here the prim ary police focus is saving 

life. T he intensity of m edia interest usually requires special arrangem ents to be put in place 

in order to maintain public confidence. T his guidance is directed primarily to this end. There 

is no need to reiterate what has already been set out in the G eneral G u idan ce in relation to 

su sp ects, victim s and w itnesses.

Question 2

T h e  g u id a n c e  a ls o  s u g g e s t s  th a t th e  P o l ic e  s h o u l d  n o t  in t e r v e n e  if  s o m e o n e  w h o  is  

d is t r e s s e d  o r  b e r e a v e d  a s k s  th e m  to in t e r v e n e  to p r e v e n t  m e m b e r s  o f  th e  m e d ia  f ilm in g  o r  

p h o t o g r a p h in g  th e m . (p. 1 9 0 2 ). T h is  is  r e it e r a t e d  in  th e  C A G  a d v ic e .

W h a t is  th e  ju s t if ic a t io n  fo r  n o t  in t e r v e n in g  in  t h o s e  c ir c u m s t a n c e s ?

T his question relates to paragraph 4 of Appendix (vi) which are guidelines for Metropolitan 

Police staff. T h e se  guidelines need to be viewed in the context of the main guidance to which 

they are appended. At page 3 3  there is the following paragraph devoted to Victim /W itness 

Fam ily Support: T h e r e  a r e  s o m e  k e y  g r o u p s  o f  p e o p l e  w h o  c a n  h a v e  a n  im p a c t  o n  th e  m e d ia  

m a n a g e m e n t .  T h e s e  in c lu d e  v ictim s, th e ir  fa m ilie s, w it n e s s e s ,  t h o s e  a r r e s t e d  a n d  th e ir  

fa m ilie s. M e a s u r e s  n e e d  to b e  p u t  in  p l a c e  o p e r a t io n a lly  to s u p p o r t  in d iv id u a ls  a f f e c t e d  b y  

w a rra n ts  o r  a c tiv ity  w h ic h  c a n  b e  th r o u g h  th e  c o n s e q u e n c e  m a n a g e m e n t  g r o u p .  T h is  c a n  b e  

s o m e t h in g  to p o s it iv e ly  e x p la in  to th e  m e d ia  to a v o id  s o m e  c r it ic is m . A d v ic e  s h o u l d  a ls o  b e  

p r o v id e d  to in d iv id u a ls ,  w h e r e  a p p r o p r ia te ,  o n  h o w  to h a n d le  th e  m e d ia ,  p a r t ic u la r ly  in  th e  

re tu rn  to n o rm a lity . In other w ords, the police should be alive to difficulties experienced by 

victims, w itn esses and others as a result of m edia interest and pressure. Jo  Bird, the British 

Transport Police’s M edia and Marketing Director, gave an exam ple in evidence of police 

assistan ce. S h e described how sh e had helped a d e c e a se d ’s family to deal with m edia 

intrusion by suggesting that they refer all enquiries to her.
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The police are alive to ways in which they may assist others in dealing with the media but 

they cannot exceed their powers. Police officers have no power to restrict filming or 

photographing save where a criminal offence is committed or threatened.

Would you welcome the opportunity to make a complaint about members of the media to a 

regulator on behalf of victims or witnesses, or to protect operational Integrity?

Generally it is for those whose rights have been infringed to make a complaint to any 

regulator. However, there are examples where referrals have been made to the Press 

Complaints Commission with successful outcomes. Referral to a media regulator in order to 

protect operational integrity may assist when dealing with the behaviour of the media. When 

dealing with an individual organisation, it is often effective to speak directly to them. There 

would not necessarily be a need to refer a matter to a media regulator.

Question 3

The guidance leaves the responsibility for gaining permission to access private property to 

the media. The media will have a strong commercial reason to obtain exclusive photographs 

and the owner of the property may assume that anyone accompanying the police has 

permission to enter.

Do you confirm with the media that they have gained this permission when they accompany 

you on raids? If not, why not and do you now think that you should? In these circumstances, 

can It ever be appropriate to bring media on operations?

The guidance is clear that the media need to obtain permission from the owner to enter 

private property. Your question suggests it is the responsibility of the police to police whether 

this has been given. To date, we have not assumed this responsibility and have relied on the 

media to comply with their own ethics and standards and ensure this is done. This approach 

will be reviewed when the media guidance is updated following Lord Justice Leveson’s 

recommendations. Clearly, where permission is not given by the owner, the media may still 

attend an operation if appropriate, but not enter any private premises.

Question 4

The Inquiry has heard evidence that leaks and media coverage can significantly hamper 

Investigations (e.g. Jerry KIrkby, Clive Driscoll, Dave Harrison). The guidance envisages the
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n e e d  to “a llo c a t e  p o l ic e  r e s o u r c e s  to m a n a g e  th e  m e d ia  a t th e  s c e n e  o f  a n  In c id e n t ” ( p a g e  

1 8 6 3 )  a n d  s a y s  th a t th e  m e d ia  m a y  b e c o m e  fru s tra te d  If t h e y  a r e  k e p t  w a it in g  fo r  

p h o t o g r a p h s  a n d  If t h e y  a re , “th e  m o r e  r is k  t h e r e  c o u ld  p o t e n t ia lly  b e  to th e  o p e r a t io n a l a n d  

In v e s t ig a t iv e  m a n a g e m e n t  o f  th e  In c id e n t. T o  h e lp  th e m , a ll p o s s ib l e  w a y s  o f  fa cilita tin g  o r  

p r o v id in g  v is u a l m a t e r ia l s h o u l d  b e  p o s it iv e ly  c o n s id e r e d ” ( p i 8 7 7 ) .

G iv e n  th is  r is k  to o p e r a t io n s ,  a n d  th e  c o m m e r c ia l  Im p e r a t iv e  o f  th e  m e d ia  to s e n s a t io n a l is e  

a n d  o b ta in  e x c lu s iv e s ,  w h y  d o e s  th e  G u id a n c e  e n c o u r a g e  m e d ia  a t t e n d a n c e  a t  In c id e n t s ?  

D o  y o u  c o n s id e r  th at o t h e r  w a y s  o f  In f o r m in g  th e  p u b l ic  a n d  k e e p in g  th e ir  c o n f id e n c e  ( s u c h  

a s  th e  In te rn e t, s o c ia l  m e d ia  e tc )  m a y  p r o v id e  b e t t e r  p r o t e c t io n  fo r  th e  p r iv a c y  r ig h t s  o f  

In d iv id u a ls ?

P le ase se e  the answ er given to question 1. T he guidance does not encourage m edia 

attendance at incidents and relates specifically to major incidents w here the m edia will attend 

frequently and in great num bers. T he resulting im perative is to re assu re the public and 

maintain confidence by keeping the m edia updated. T h e se  considerations may outweigh 

individual rights. T he extract relates purely to photographs and I do not se e  how the need for 

p re ss photographs can be avoided, whether they are subsequently published on the internet 

or in the new spapers.

Question 5

T h e  g u id a n c e  d o e s  n o t  m e n t io n  th e  p r iv a c y  r ig h t s  o f  s u s p e c t s  o r  w it n e s s e s .  It r e f e r s  to 

v ic t im s  a n d  s u s p e c t s  a s  fo llo w s : ‘t h e r e  a r e  s o m e  k e y  g r o u p s  o f  p e o p l e  w h o  c a n  h a v e  a n  

Im p a c t  o n  th e  m e d ia  m a n a g e m e n t  T h e s e  In c lu d e  v ictim s, th e ir  fa m ilie s, w it n e s s e s ,  t h o s e  

a r r e s t e d  a n d  th e ir  fa m ilie s. M e a s u r e s  c a n  b e  p u t  In  p l a c e  o p e r a t io n a lly  to s u p p o r t  In d iv id u a ls  

a f f e c t e d  b y  w a rra n ts  o r  a ctivity, w h ic h  c a n  b e  th r o u g h  th e  c o n s e q u e n c e  m a n a g e m e n t  g ro u p .  

T h is  c a n  b e  s o m e t h in g  to p o s it iv e ly  e x p la in  to th e  m e d ia  to a v o id  c r it ic is m ” ( p a g e  1 8 8 8 ).

W a s  a n y  le g a l  a d v ic e  ta k e n  a b o u t  th e  p r iv a c y  r ig h t s  o f  s u s p e c t s  o r  w it n e s s e s  o r  v ic t im s ?

In  th e  lig h t o f  e v id e n c e  to th e  In q u ir y  a b o u t  th e  a ffe c t  o f  le a k s  o r  In a c c u r a t e  r e p o r t in g  o f  

c r im e , d o  y o u  a c c e p t  th at th is  G u id a n c e  Is  s la n t e d  t o w a rd s  a c c o m m o d a t in g  th e  m e d ia  a n d  

p a y s  In s u f f ic ie n t  a tte n tio n  to th e  p r iv a c y  a n d  fa ir  trial r ig h t s  o f  v ic t im s  a n d  s u s p e c t s  a n d  th e ir  

f a m il ie s ?

P le ase se e  the answ er to question 1.
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Guidance on the release of images of suspects and defendants

Question 6

The objective of the guidance is firstiy to “encourage the reiease of images to the media 

where appropriate and at the eariiest opportunity” (p. 1929)

Why shouid this be encouraged?

The encouragement of the release of images is adopting the general principle of openness 

and accessibility advocated in the Media Advisory Group Guidance of 2003 which states the 

Poiice Service is committed to openness and accessibiiity. it beiieves in the greatest possibie 

fiow of information to the media. The police frequently receive requests from the media for 

images of suspects and defendants. There are also situations when they wish to instigate the 

publication of images. Detailed guidance is provided on the considerations to be applied in a 

variety of situations when considering the release of images.

Was any iegai advice taken about the risks to privacy rights of reieasing images to the 

media?

Appendix A to the guidance sets out the legal framework and refers specifically to Article 8 . 

It notes that it is necessary in each case to baiance the rights of the individuai, inciuding his 

or her immediate famiiy, to privacy with the right of the community to be protected.

Question 7

The tetter at p 2153 refers to the retease of video footage of suspects in the interview room 

and at poiice stations to the media.

How ecu id this be justified according to the guidance? Were any further steps taken as a 

resuit of the judiciary’s concern?

The release of video footage of suspects in the interview room can only be justified in 

exceptional circumstances. Any release should be done in accordance with the guidance 

which I have provided and with the agreement of the Crown Prosecution Service.
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Communication Advisory Group Guidance 2010 

Individuals and companies under police investigation.

Question 8

T h e  g u id a n c e  lis t s  p r a c t ic e  in c lu d in g  th a t o f  g iv in g  g e n e r a l  d e t a ils  o f  a r r e s t s  w h ic h  a r e  

d e s ig n e d  to b e  in fo rm a t iv e  b u t  n o t  id e ntify, a n d  th e  u s u a l  p r a c t ic e  o f  c o n f ir m in g  th e  id e n t ity  o r  

a d d r e s s e s  o f  p e o p l e  u n d e r  in v e s t ig a t io n  o r  s u s p ic io n .  T h e  g u id a n c e  s im p ly  s a y s  t h e r e  is  n o  

la w  a g a in s t  this, ( p a g e  2 7 9 3 - 4 ) .  D id  y o u  t a k e  le g a l a d v ic e  a s  to th is  a n d  c o n s id e r  th e  la w  

p r o t e c t in g  p r iv a c y  r ig h t s ?

At paragraph 4.14 of the G u idan ce it is noted that forces refer to general rather than specific 

locations in practice and so full details of the ad d re ss are usually not given.

T his question ignores the contents of A nnex 1 to the G uidance, headed “T he law”. Specific 

reference is m ade to the Data Protection and Human Rights Acts and the considerations that 

need to be w eighed before information is released. T he reference at paragraph 4.3 to n o  

s p e c if ic  la w  to p r e v e n t  f o r c e s  id e n t ify in g  t h o s e  t h e y  h a v e  a r r e s t e d  and at paragraph 4.14 to 

t h e r e  is  n o  la w  to s a y  a d d r e s s e s  s h o u l d  n o t  b e  g iv e n  refers to the a b se n ce of any mandatory 

prohibition. T his phraseology will be reviewed post Leveson.

D o  y o u  a g r e e  that, a s  a  p u b l ic  a u th o rity , th e  P o l ic e  S e r v ic e  its e lf  h a s  a  r e s p o n s ib il it y  u n d e r  

th e  H R A  to p r o t e c t  A rt ic le  8  a n d  A rt ic le  6  r ig h t s  a n d  th a t th e  p r a c t ic e  d e s c r ib e d  r e p r e s e n t s  a  

s ig n if ic a n t  r is k  to t h e s e  r ig h t s ?

T he Police S ervice has a duty to com ply with the Data Protection and Human Rights Acts 

when considering the release of information it holds. Annex 1 sets out a sum m ary of the 

relevant principles.

Question 9

Taking the media on operations

T h e  A C P O  g u id a n c e  o n  “r id e - a lo n g s ” s a y s  t h e r e  is  n o  la w  to p r e v e n t  th e  p o l ic e  ta k in g  th e  

m e d ia  o n  o p e r a t io n s .  T h e  G u id a n c e  a ls o  l e a v e s  to th e  m e d ia  th e  q u e s t io n  o f  o b t a in in g  

c o n s e n t  to e n t e r  p r o p e r t y  o r  to film  s u s p e c t s .
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D o  y o u  a g r e e  th a t a  s u s p e c t  w h o  is  th e  ta rg e t  o f  a n  in v e s t ig a t io n  is  i ik e iy  to a s s u m e  th at th e  

m e d ia  a c c o m p a n y in g  th e  p o i i c e  h a s  a  r ig h t  to e n t e r  th e  p r o p e r t y ?

I accept this is a possibility. P le ase se e  the answ er to question 3 above.

D o  y o u  a g r e e  that, a s  a  p u b i ic  a u th o rity , th e  P o i ic e  S e r v ic e  it s e if  h a s  a  r e s p o n s ib ii it y  u n d e r  

th e  H R A  to p r o t e c t  A rt ic ie  8  a n d  A r t ic ie  6  r ig h t s  a n d  th a t in v it in g  jo u r n a iis t s  o n  o p e r a t io n s  to 

fiim  o r  p h o t o g r a p h  w ith o u t th e  p e r m is s io n  o f  th e  s u s p e c t  w o u id  in e v it a b iy  b e  a n  in t e r f e r e n c e  

w ith th e  r ig h t s  p r o t e c t e d  u n d e r  t h o s e  A r t ic ie s  u n ie s s  it c a n  b e  p r o p e r t y  ju s t if ie d ?

P le ase se e  the answ er to question 3 above.

T h e  P o i ic e  h a v e  p o s it iv e  o b iig a t io n s  to p r o t e c t  A r t ic ie  8  a n d  A rt ic ie  6  rig h ts. W e r e  t h e s e  

c o n s id e r e d  in  th e  d ra ft in g  o f  th e  g u id a n c e ?

P le ase se e  Annex A to the G uidance.

Q u e stio n  10

Police under investigation

T h e  g u id a n c e  s u g g e s t s  th a t it is  b e s t  p r a c t ic e  to r e ie a s e  a  s t a t e m e n t  w h ic h  c o n f ir m s  d e t a iis  

o f  th e  d e c e a s e d  a n d  c a u s e  o f  d e a th .

in  v ie w  o f  e v id e n c e  fro m  in q u e s t  a b o u t  th e  r e p o r t in g  o f  d e a t h s  in  c u s t o d y  a n d  th e  r e ie a s e  o f  

in a c c u r a t e  in fo rm a tio n  b y  th e  P o iic e ,  d o  y o u  a g r e e  th a t t h e r e  s h o u id  b e  c o n s u it a t io n  w ith th e  

fa m iiy  b e f o r e  r e ie a s in g  a n y  s u c h  s t a t e m e n t ?

I agree that there should be consultation with the family before releasing any such statement. 

Q u e stio n  11

P a r a g r a p h s  5  a n d  6  o f  y o u r  s t a t e m e n t  -  y o u  r e f e r  to o c c a s io n a i  c o m p ia in t s  a b o u t  th e  

b e h a v io u r  o f  th e  m e d ia  a n d  to th e  s tra in  m e d ia  a tte n tio n  c a n  c a u s e .  W o u id  it a s s is t  y o u  to 

b e  a b ie  to c o m p ia in  to a  m e d ia  r e g u ia t o r  a b o u t  th e  b e h a v io u r  o f  th e  m e d ia  a n d  its  im p a c t  o n  

o p e r a t io n a i m a t t e r s  o r  o n  v ic t im s  o r  w it n e s s e s ?
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The referral to a media regulator may assist when dealing with the behaviour of the media. 

There are examples where referrals have been made to the Press Complaints Commission, 

with successful outcomes. When dealing with individual organisations it is often effective to 

speak directly to them and in such circumstances would not necessarily require the need for 

referral to a media regulator.
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APPENDIX 2

CPV QUESTIONS FOR ROGER BAKER

Question 1

Para 38.4 -  In your role as HMIC you are aware of the audits of PNC security which 
are also available on the HMIC website? In this paragraph you refer to transaction 
validation under your command in Essex and you say that 3-9 PNC/intelligence 
transactions were being validated by supervisors on a daily basis. Is that your 
recommendation for the right level of transaction validation?

Question 2

The HMIC website carries reports of inspections between 2004-7 which refer to PNC 
security. These reveal numerous security shortcomings (see attached document for 
examples extracted directly from the reports). Some of these are serious -  for 
example

-  In Lancashire 61 people were in a position to grant access to the PNC. (Some 
other forces limited this power to a single person.)

-  In Kent there were 4,050 PNC user ID numbers, equivalent to 80 per cent of the 
workforce.

-  The Metropolitan Police Service was told that the checks it carried out on actual 
requests for data were “totally unacceptable”.

-  In Sussex, Gloucestershire and Lincolnshire staff shared PNC passwords and 
access codes.

-  In Northumbria PNC access cards were left in unattended computers, “allowing 
anonymous access by others”.

Twenty-four forces were told that their procedures for granting or removing access to 
the PNC were unsatisfactory. Some forces were conducting no audits of the access 
lists, meaning that retired and even suspended staff might continue to have 
passwords etc..

Fourteen forces are criticised for inadequate transaction monitoring, ranging from 
relatively minor flaws in their monitoring systems up to to habitual failures to check. 
(In Northamptonshire, for example, “if a reason for a transaction looked legitimate, 
the reason was automatically accepted” and transaction monitoring at Lancashire 
Constabulary had not taken place for approximately 2 years at the time of the inspection..)

• G iven these recurrent problem s, do you co nsid er that the current system  of ch e ck s is 
w orking? W hat are your recom m endations for ch an g es to the P N C  system  to ensure 
that it is not m isused?
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Given the sentences imposed following Operation Glade, and the collapse of the trial 
in Operation Reproof, do you take the view that there should be a different approach 
to the prosecution and sentencing of those within the police who misuse PNC 
information?
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A P P E N D IX  3

The IPCC procedures are governed by the Police Reform Act 2002 and associated 

regulations. It has general powers to investigate complaints brought by members of the 

public, and a wider power to issue guidance on various matters.

Section 10 Provides:

General functions of the Commission

(1)The functions of the Commission shall be—

(a) to secure the maintenance by the Commission itself, and by police authorities 

and chief officers, of suitable arrangements with respect to the matters mentioned in 

subsection (2 );

(b) to keep under review all arrangements maintained with respect to those matters;

(c) to secure that arrangements maintained with respect to those matters comply 

with the requirements of the following provisions of this Part, are efficient and 

effective and contain and manifest an appropriate degree of independence;

(d) to secure that public confidence is established and maintained in the existence of 

suitable arrangements with respect to those matters and with the operation of the 

arrangements that are in fact maintained with respect to those matters;

(e) to make such recommendations, and to give such advice, for the 

modification of the arrangements maintained with respect to those matters, 
and aiso of poiice practice in reiation to other matters, as appear, from the 
carrying out by the Commission of its other functions, to be necessary or 
desirabie;

(f) to such extent as it may be required to do so by regulations made by the 

Secretary of State, to carry out functions in relation to., bodies of constables 

maintained otherwise than by police authorities which broadly correspond to those 

conferred on the Commission in relation to police forces by the preceding 

paragraphs of this subsection;

(g) to carry out functions in relation to the Serious Organised Crime Agency which 

correspond to those conferred on the Commission in relation to police forces by
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paragraph (e) of this subsection; and

(h) to carry out functions in relation to the National Policing Improvement Agency 

which correspond to those conferred on the Commission in relation to police forces 

by paragraph (e) of this subsection.

(2)Those matters are—

(a) the handling of complaints made about the conduct of persons serving with the 

police;

(b) the recording of matters from which it appears that there may have been conduct 

by such persons which constitutes or involves the commission of a criminal offence 

or behaviour justifying disciplinary proceedings;

(ba) the recording of matters from which it appears that a person has died or 

suffered serious injury during, or following, contact with a person serving with the 

police;

(c) the manner in which any such complaints or any such matters as are mentioned 

in paragraph (b) or (ba) are investigated or otherwise handled and dealt with.

S.22 gives the IPCC the power to give generai guidance 22 Power of the Commission 

to issue guidance

(1)The Commission may issue guidance—

(a) to police authorities,

(b) to chief officers, and

(c) to persons who are serving with the police otherwise than as chief officers, 

concerning the exercise or performance, by the persons to whom the guidance is 

issued, of any of the powers or duties specified in subsection (2).

(2) Those powers and duties are—
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(a) those that are conferred or imposed by or under this Part; and

(b) those that are otherwise conferred or imposed but relate to—

(i) the handling of complaints;

(ii) the means by which recordable conduct matters or DSI matters are dealt 

with; or

(iii) the detection or deterrence of misconduct by persons serving with the 

police.

(3) Before issuing any guidance under this section, the Commission shall consult with—

(a) the Association of Police Authorities;

(b) the Association of Chief Police Officers; and

(c) such other persons as it thinks fit.

(4) The approval of the Secretary of State shall be required for the issue by the Commission 

of any guidance under this section.

(5) Without prejudice to the generality of the preceding provisions of this section, the 

guidance that may be issued under this section includes—

(a) guidance about the handling of complaints which have not yet been recorded and 

about dealing with recordable conduct matters or DSI matters that have not been 

recorded;

(b) guidance about the procedure to be followed by the appropriate authority when 

recording a complaint or any recordable conduct matter or DSI matter;

(c) guidance about—

(i) how to decide whether a complaint is suitable for being subjected to local 

resolution; and

(ii) about the information to be provided to a person before his consent to 

such resolution is given;

(d) guidance about how to protect the scene of an incident or alleged incident 

which—
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(i) is or may become the subject-matter of a complaint; or

(ii) is or may involve a recordable conduct matter or DSI matter;

(e) guidance about the circumstances in which it is appropriate (where it is lawful to 

do so)—

(i) to disclose to any person, or to publish, any information about an 

investigation of a complaint, conduct matter or DSI matter; or

(ii) to provide any person with, or to publish, any report or other document 

relating to such an investigation;

(f) guidance about the matters to be included in a memorandum under paragraph 23 

or 25 of Schedule 3 and about the manner in which, and the place at which, such a 

memorandum is to be delivered to the Commission.

(6 ) Nothing in this section shall authorise the issuing of any guidance about a particular 

case.

(7) It shall be the duty of every person to whom any guidance under this section is issued to 

have regard to that guidance in exercising or performing the powers and duties to which the 

guidance relates.

(8 ) A failure by a person to whom guidance under this section is issued to have regard to the 

guidance shall be admissible in evidence in any disciplinary proceedings or on any appeal 

from a decision taken in any such proceedings.
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